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TO BEGIN WITH: FRANK WORDS

SOLARWORLD 2013
2013 was the year of restructuring. The global solar industry crisis  

affected SolarWorld, too, necessitating a restructuring of the  

company’s finances and processes.

We rose to the challenge and today we stand stronger, on a secure foundation.

IN SHORT: WE ARE READY FOR THE FUTURE.

OUR VISION
Our vision continues to drive everything we do. We are growing  

as an international group, becoming ever more integrated and efficient.

Together we keep pushing solar power generation forward.

IN SHORT: WE BUILD THE SOLAR WORLD.

OUR STRATEGY
Our customers all over the world can rely on our commitment to quality.  

High-class workmanship is the best guarantee of long-term investment security  

and consistent yields with a solar power system. 

That is what distinguishes SolarWorld from the competition.

IN SHORT: REAL VALUE PAYS OFF.



SUSTAINABILIT Y REPORTING

SolarWorld has a clear focus on sustainability. Our strategy is aimed at making solar energy available 

worldwide on the best terms and offering excellent service to our customers. 

The Management Board of SolarWorld AG supported the group’s commitment to international standard 

such as the United Nations Global Compact. With the present report, the Management Board, above all 

the CEO of SolarWorld AG, declares its willingness to continue this engagement in the future.

The Annual Group Report 2013 describes both our financial and our non-financial performance. Espe-

cially relevant economic, ecological and social topics are explained extensively in the group management 

report. Due to eco-efficiency, the section “Sustainability in Detail 2013” is only available as a pdf docu-

ment at  www.solarworld.de/sustainability //

Sustainability reporting follows the international guidelines (G4) of the (G4) der Global Reporting Initia-

tive. In doing so, we also meet requirements of the German Sustainability Code. Furthermore, this 

reporting serves as a progress report for the implementation of the ten principles of the United Nations 

Global Compact (Advanced Level). The audit of the performance indicators has been conducted in line 

with the generally accepted assurance principles for the audit or review of reports on sustainability 

issues that have been established by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (IDW). These principles 

include the requirements of the “International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000” and 

in some areas go even beyond them. 

– SOLARWORLD 2013 –

Rounding differences may occur in the Annual Group Report.
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LETTER BY THE CHAIRMAN

Dear shareholders, noteholders, employees and customers of SolarWorld AG,

Self-assured and strong – this is how SolarWorld AG presents itself to you today in its Annual Group 

Report. One month ago, our company completed its financial restructuring. Two weeks ago, we 

acquired a new manufacturing site in Arnstadt, Germany. Today, SolarWorld has every prospect of 

powering its way to a successful future.

As you all know, the world looked very different this time last year. The 2013 fiscal year will go down 

in SolarWorld’s history as the year of financial restructuring. We had to make some painful cuts, but 

under the circumstances, we found the best possible overall solution that took the different interests of 

all sides into account. 

Despite the difficult situation, we succeeded in persuading existing and new investors that our busi-

ness has a viable future. Noteholders and creditors of assignable loans accepted our restructuring pro-

posal. Qatar Solar S.P.C. brought in fresh capital, acquiring a 29 percent stake in SolarWorld AG. 

This commitment was important for the success of the restructuring, and will continue to have posi-

tive impacts in the years ahead. 

I am more confident than ever in the future of SolarWorld AG. Through a new investment, I have 

acquired a stake of around 20 percent in SolarWorld AG and furthermore, as CEO, I am responsible 

for the company until 2019.

Yet, the fact remains that the financial restructuring program harmed our operating business in 2013. 

Group-wide shipments fell three percent compared with 2012. SolarWorld’s situation unsettled cus-

tomers, particularly in Germany, our home market. Consolidated revenue fell much more sharply than 

shipments by about 25 percent to € 456 million. Above all, this trend was due to the declining German 

market. 

Our consolidated result before interest and taxes (EBIT) was negative once again in 2013, at € – 189 

million. The substantial improvement compared with the previous year (€ – 620 million) is primarily 

due to the serious impairments we were required to recognize in 2012, whereas we did not identify 

any need for impairments in 2013. The improvement in EBIT is also the result of massive efforts on the 

part of employees throughout the group. Our operational restructuring program achieved appreciable 

cost reductions in many areas in 2013. 

We reversed the trend for the operating result in 2013. Although it is likely that our EBIT (adjusted for 

special items) will be negative again in 2014, we expect our operating business to return to profitabil-

ity in 2015. We will keep doing everything necessary to make sure this happens.

Our path back to profitability requires us to be successful with customers. Therefore, we are placing 

greater emphasis than ever before on the reasons why customers should choose SolarWorld. These 

arguments are not new – they are in our DNA, as it were, and part of the company’s 15-year history. At 
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core, the SolarWorld brand represents one thing: real value. Under the banner of a new international 

logo, from now on we will target customers around the world with the message “SolarWorld – REAL 

VALUE.”

Global solar markets are set for renewed growth – and with clear positioning, we can share in this 

growth. We have set ourselves some ambitious targets. This year, we aim to increase shipments by at 

least 40 percent. Revenue should exceed € 680 million. In 2016, we want to break the billion-euro 

mark.

I am aware that the solar industry and our company are still facing a high level of risk. Once again, 

government policy in Germany is causing uncertainty in 2014. We are actively monitoring develop-

ments and will take counter-measures wherever necessary and possible. But there are great opportu-

nities too, so let’s boldly and energetically seize them. Thank you for your support.

Bonn, March 26, 2014

Yours

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

CEO of SolarWorld AG

The Management Board of SolarWorld AG (from left to right):
Philipp Koecke (CFO): controlling, finance, accounting and investor relations
Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck (CEO): strategic group development, production, supply chain management and public relations
Colette Rückert-Hennen (CIBPO): personnel, brand, marketing, sustainability and IT
Frank Henn (CSO): sales, quality management and product engineering



IN SHORT: FIRST-CLASS QUALITY –  
THE BEST BUY IN THE LONG-RUN.

At SolarWorld AG, we guarantee maximum 

quality from raw material to complete solar sys-

tem. That’s because we produce all key compo-

nents ourselves. SolarWorld quality means that 

everything at SolarWorld comes from a single 

source – from wafers and solar cells to the fin-

ished solar module and tailor-made solar power 

kits. 

This comprehensive expertise – along with our 

uncompromising use of the best materials from 

selected suppliers – provides the key to our high 

quality standards. 

At SolarWorld, we always go that extra step.  

In our panel testing laboratories, products and 

materials undergo meticulous and detailed 

inspections that exceed international standards. 

A thorough quality test is conducted after every 

single manufacturing stage and at all levels of 

production. As a result, our module defect rate is 

well below one percent. And even after more than 

35 years of manufacturing solar in the Americas 

and Europe, we’ve never had a product recall. 

Our products are subject to regular evaluation 

and certification in independent tests. Time and 

again, we achieve the best scores in tests such as 

the PV+Test. More information is provided on our 

website: www.solarworld.de/en

Our proven quality guarantees our customers 

decades of high performance and the security 

that comes with investing in a reliable product. 

PROVEN QUALITY

QUALITY
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IN SHORT: ALL INCLUSIVE – ESTHETIC, LONG- 
LASTING AND DESIGNED FOR THE FUTURE.

High-quality components perfectly engineered 

and esthetically finished – SolarWorld provides 

sophisticated, long-lasting system solutions. 

Based on our many years of experience and our 

established quality processes, we set the highest 

standards in complete solar solutions for homes, 

businesses, governments and utilities. 

Solar World’s customers and partners benefit 

from our progressive system innovations. Around 

the world, we meet our customers’ desire for the 

greatest possible reliability, long-term perfor-

mance and esthetic integration into architectural 

environments. Because they blend into the roof 

so unobtrusively, our solar systems have even 

been used to increase the energy performance of 

protected historical buildings. 

SolarWorld customers save time and money 

because our turnkey system solutions mean less 

planning and assembly work and low installation 

costs. Our system offering includes free system 

documentation and insurance (in Germany). 

Always looking ahead, SolarWorld offers stor-

age solutions and interfaces that allow for future 

system expansion. At the same time, our control 

units and apps make monitoring the system easy 

and fun today. 

FULFILLING CUSTOMERS’ NEEDS  
WITH LEADING SOLUTIONS 

SOLUTIONS
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IN SHORT: BASIC TRUST – IN THE LONG  
TERM AND IN PARTNERSHIP.

Over many years, we have worked to earn a high 

level of trust from our partners and customers. 

This strong foundation – based on our reputation 

for quality and efficiency – has never faltered, 

even during the international solar market crisis. 

Time and again, our customers confirm their 

basic faith in our products and services.

SolarWorld nurtures trusting customer rela-

tionships and is one of the best-known solar 

brands in Germany. This trust is founded on 

long-term partnerships with wholesalers and – 

thanks to our extensive authorized installer net-

work – close relationships with local installers. 

In fact, in the Americas, where we’ve been pro-

ducing solar systems since 1975, some of our 

core installers and distributors have stood by 

SolarWorld for more than three decades.

Our yearly customer satisfaction surveys are an 

active gauge of trust, and at the same time they 

are an incentive for us to ensure that we are per-

ceived as a reliable partner. In Germany, we 

received the “Germany’s Customer Champion” 

award in 2013. 

We are dependable, transparent and respectful in 

dealings with our customers, partners and 

employees.  

A RESPONSIBLE PARTNER  
YOU CAN TRUST WORLDWIDE

PARTNER



IN SHORT: WE MAKE A DIFFERENCE – 
 SOCIALLY AND ECOLOGICALLY.

Sustainability and SolarWorld have been inex-

tricably linked since the company’s founding.

Sustainability is at the core of our forward-look-

ing corporate vision. 

For us, sustainability means that the company 

and all employees take a clear stance on environ-

mental and social issues. We manufacture sus-

tainably at all levels, and we practice sustainabil-

ity as an authentic part of our corporate culture. 

SolarWorld measures its quality against the 

highest sustainability standards. Our products 

are ecological, safe and socially correct. Every 

year, we publish reliable figures and clear guid-

ance in our sustainability reporting, which is 

transparent and accessible online at any time. 

SolarWorld AG is committed to environmen-

tally friendly electricity production around the 

world. With Solar2World, we make a valuable 

contribution to regional development in poorer 

regions of the globe.

A host of awards – including the German Sus-

tainability Award, Sector Leader in the Carbon 

Disclosure Project plus the Green Brand and 

Change Maker Awards – repeatedly affirm that 

we are following the right path.  

AUTHENTIC FOCUS ON SUSTAINABILITY

SUSTAINABILITY



The year 2013 was challenging for SolarWorld 

AG at all levels, in all areas.

Especially during the months of financial crisis 

and painful restructuring, we kept working in 

a solution-oriented way, analyzing the market 

down to the tiniest detail, thoroughly re-examin-

ing our own foundations, scrutinizing all internal 

structures and processes, and making things 

more efficient wherever necessary. Throughout, 

we asked: 

  How can we continue to thrive in the mar-

ketplace? 

  What do our products represent, compared 

to others around the world? 

  What lies at the core of our work? 

  How can we make the SolarWorld brand 

even stronger internationally?

The answer is clear: 

We need to remember our core competencies, 

stand firmly by our own values, and boldly, inde-

pendently pursue our shared vision. This is what 

has always defined us:

SOLARWORLD IS REAL.

This is what the SOLARWORLD brand stands for.

REAL VALUE 

SolarWorld’s newly formulated strategic brand 

essence is not some one-dimensional advertising 

concept that was drawn up on a flip board. 

Our brand is much more: It is an attitude, a self-

imposed quality standard by which we measure 

our work, our processes and all products that 

come to market. We must live up to the continu-

ing high level of trust placed in SolarWorld, its 

products and services, and its values. Every day, 

every time. 

HIGH-CLASS WORKMANSHIP IS THE BEST 
 GUARANTEE OF LONG-TERM SECURITY

REAL VALUE



REAL VALUE places the emphasis on our strong foun-

dations, which have carried us through the period of 

international crisis in the solar industry. 

Free to focus on what we stand for, we are now 

building SolarWorld on the distinct, authentic and 

lasting values that have emerged from independent 

tests, surveys, internal assessments and analyses. 

  PROVEN QUALITY

  FULFILLING CUSTOMERS’ NEEDS WITH LEADING 

SOLUTIONS

  A RESPONSIBLE PARTNER YOU CAN TRUST 

WORLDWIDE

  AUTHENTIC FOCUS ON SUSTAINABILITY

These four REAL VALUES are demonstrably embodied 

in our structures and processes, reflected in our 

production standards and firmly rooted in our cor-

porate ethos. This unique group of values clearly 

and powerfully sets us apart from our competitors. 

Only SolarWorld can claim this unique combina-

tion of REAL VALUES as its own. 

High-class workmanship is the best guarantee for 

creating real value. Hence, REAL VALUE has become 

SolarWorld’s international claim, inseparably 

linked to our company’s name and new logo.

How does this benefit customers who choose 

 SolarWorld products? It’s as simple as it sounds: 

QUALITY MADE BY SOLARWORLD –  

THE BEST BUY IN THE LONG RUN. 

REAL VALUE
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01 // IN K€

Financial indicators 2013 2012 Change 

Revenue 455,821 606,394 – 150,573

Foreign quota in % of revenue 70.6 % 50.4 % 20.1 %-points

EBITDA – 146,787 – 202,760 55,973

EBIT – 188,664 – 620,324 431,660

EBIT in % of revenue – 41.4 % – 102.3 % 60.9 %-points

Capital employed (key date)* 403,922 511,458 – 107,536

Consolidated net result – 228,307 – 606,291 377,984

Consolidated net result in % of revenue – 50.1 % – 100.0 % 49.9 %-points

Total assets 931,835 1,192,230 – 260,395

Equity – 243,084 – 11,409 – 231,675

Equity ratio (in %) – 26.1 % – 1.0 % – 25.1 %-points

Cash flow from operating activities 17,324 – 47,241 64,565

Net indebtedness** 858,475 780,672 77,803

Investments in intangible assets  

and property, plant and equipment 22,757 46,452 – 23,695

Employee indicators 2013 2012 Change

Employee (key date) 2,073 2,355 – 282

 of which trainees (key date) 50 73 – 23

Personnel costs ratio (in %) 30.8 % 23.9 % 6.9 %-points

Revenue per employee (in k€) 220 257 – 38

EBIT per employee (in k€) – 91 – 263 172

* Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment less deferred investments subsidies plus net current assets except for current net liquidity

** Financial liabilities less liquid funds and other financial assets

3
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02 // IN K€

Q1 2013 Q2 2013 Q3 2013 Q4 2013 Q4 2012 Change 

Revenue 112,202 88,967 144,455 110,197 137,494 – 27,297

Inventory change in products – 47,707 2,240 – 43,132 – 3,326 – 55,659 52,333

Own work capitalized 55 17 436 34 10 24

Other operating income 16,257 14,117 9,017 19,896 45,772 – 25,876

Cost of materials – 51,169 – 64,099 – 78,925 – 78,473 – 128,373 49,900

Personnel expenses – 30,279 – 27,767 – 27,588 – 26,732 – 28,871 2,139

Amortization and depreciation – 10,306 – 11,422 – 10,186 – 9,963 – 351,175 341,212

Other operating charges – 21,376 – 28,759 – 30,028 – 105,317 – 49,943 – 55,374

Result of operations – 32,323 – 26,706 – 35,951 – 93,684 – 430,745 337,061

Financial result – 16,598 – 18,673 – 19,614 – 21,855 – 20,018 – 1,837

Pre-income tax result – 48,921 – 45,379 – 55,565 – 115,539 – 450,763 335,224

Taxes on income 4,806 18,132 – 8,069 22,228 74,465 – 52,237

Consolidated net result – 44,115 – 27,247 – 63,634 – 93,311 – 376,298 282,987

2012

114.1 

Rest of  

Europe

139.8 

U.S.

20.0  

Asia

300.3 

Germany 

31.8 

ROW

2013

118.9 

Rest of  

Europe

155.0 

U.S.

26.1 

Asia

134.2 

Germany 

21.6 

ROW

03 // IN M€
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EBITDA (in m€)Revenues (in m€)

606.42012

1,065.8

1,321.7

1,012.6

2011

2010

2009

455.82013

2012 –202.8

2011

2010

2009 216.5

281.3

219.3

2013 –146.8

EBIT (in m€)Group profit / loss (in m€)

2010

2009

87.3

–299.3

59.0

2012 –606.3

2013 –228.3

2011

2010

2009 152.8

192.8

–233.2

2012 –620.3

2013 –188.7

Equity (in m€)Investments excl. financial investments (in m€)

865.5

922.9

630.82011

2010

2009

–11.42012

–243.12013

174.5

216.1

293.2

2011

2010

2009

46.52012

22.82013

Employees Balance sheet total (in m€)

2,217.1

2,277.82011

2010

2009

1,192.22012

931.82013

2,635.3

2,700

2,376

2,000

2011

2010

2009

2,3552012

2,0732013
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NAME AND DESCRIPTION 2012 2013 2014

Energy: Total energy consumption (in primary GJ, calculated, preliminary) 3,944,161 2,595,288

Water: Total water take-out (in m3, estimated, preliminary) 1,260,735 1,168,417

Water: Waste water discharge (in m3, estimated, preliminary) 997,022 1,012,111

Emissions: Total GHG emissions (in tCO2eq, calculated, preliminary) 139.372 95.700

Emissions: NOx, SOx and other air emissions (in t, estimated, preliminary) 38 42

Waste: total production waste (in t, estimated, preliminary) 14,811 10,013

Environmental compatibility: Share of ISO 14001 certified locations 

(weighted by average capacity)

Since 2014 without sales sites in Rest of the World (ROW)

100 % 100 %

Packaging: Material (in t, calculated, preliminary) 2,673.8 2,536.5

Environmental violations: sanctions due to environmental violations 0 0 0
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NAME AND DESCRIPTION 2012 2013 2014

Customer satisfaction with SolarWorld: Share of satisfied customers 

among all respondents (measured, final)

Aggregate number (trade: wholesalers, authorized installers)

93.8 % 93.1 %

Earnings from new products with life cycles of less than 12 months 

( estimated, final)

55 % 60 %

Health and safety aspects of the products: Share of product recalls for 

safety or health reasons in total number of products sold

0 0 0

Customer loyalty: Share of new customers (2012: estimated, final; 2013: 

calculated, final)

The groupwide indicator relates to module and system customers. As of 2013,  

we differentiate between direct customers and authorized installers.

64 % 39 %

(direct 

 customers)

35 %

(authorized 

installers)

Customer loyalty: Market share (total, calculated, final) 2 % 2 %

Sanctions due to product and service conditions 0 0 0
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NAME AND DESCRIPTION 2012 2013 2014

Employment type: share of temporary employees 8 % 14 %

Attrition rate: share of employees leaving the company per year 16 % 15 %

Collective bargaining agreements: share of employees covered by 

 collective bargaining agreements

50 % 54 %

Training and professional development/qualification: average training 

expenditure per employee (in €)

310.90 200.17

Age structure of the workforce (persons) ≤ 30:  23 %

30 – 40:  33 %

40 – 50:  28 %

> 50:  17 %

< 30:  19 %

30 – 40:  32 %

40 – 50:  29 %

> 50:  21 %

Absenteeism: total missed worktime due to sick leave/total planned working 

time in the calendar year

3.9 % 4.4 %

Accident rate (per 1000 employees, incl. temporary workers) 12.1 12.4

Relocation of work places due to restructuring: total costs of relocation  

(in k€) including compensation payments, severance pay, outplacement, 

recruitments, training, consulting

125 112

Diversity: share of women in total workforce 24 % 23 %

Diversity: share of women in management positions (without Management 

Board and managing directors)

17 % 19 %

Compensation: total amount of all bonus payments (in m€)

We do not grant stock options.

19 12

Discrimination: number of documented incidents 0 0 0
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NAME AND DESCRIPTION 2012 2013 2014

Certification: ISO 9001 certification of suppliers (measured at 84 % (2012: 

85 %) of the direct material suppliers, final)

87.0 % 95.5 %

Certification: ISO 14001 certification of suppliers (measured at 84 % (2012: 

85 %) of the direct material suppliers, final)

42.4 % 78.8 %

Production loss: difference between planned and actual production due to 

material bottlenecks (in %)

0 0

Production loss: monetary effects of production loss due to material 

 bottlenecks (in €)

0 0
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NAME AND DESCRIPTION 2012 2013 2014

Effects of subsidies: Share of business activity in markets with feed-in tariffs 

or regulated pricing

The sales share in markets without feed-in tariff or regulated pricing is still below 1 %. // 

Benchmarks: heavily subsidised markets such as nuclear energy, German coal, EU agri-

cultural market

100 % 100 %  

Governmental financial assistance: Investment grants and research grants 

(in k€)

32,769 7,215

Donations to political parties (in k€) 0 0 0

Other donations (in k€) 375 101

Regional development: Solar2World project scope (in kWp) 78 27

Litigation risks: Expenditures and fines for lawsuits and court cases 

 regarding anti-competitive behavior, Anti-Trust, monopoly behavior

SolarWorld was involved in the trade litigation of the Coalition of American Solar 

 Manufacturers in the U.S. as well as in the trade complaints of EU ProSun in the 

 European Union and invested the indicated sum for that.

3 0.4

Corruption: Share of business activity in regions with a corruption index 

(Transparency International) of less than 60

26 % 45 %

Ascertained corruption incidents 0 0 0

Sanctions for non-compliance with laws and regulations

In early 2014, we received two fines from the German Federal Financial Supervisory 

Authority (BaFin) due to alleged infringement of capital market law disclosure obliga-

tions, both in the amount of 25,000 euros.

0 0 0
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NAME AND DESCRIPTION 2012 2013 2014

Innovation: Total R&D expenditures (in m€) 49.1 26.5

Innovation: Total investment in research on ESG relevant aspects

Our entire business (solar energy) is ESG relevant.

100 % 100 % 100 %

Number of inventions filed in the last 12 months 71 59

These and further sustainability performance indicators can be found at  Sustainability in Detail
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SOL A R WORLD 2013 GENER A L INFORM ATION 

SolarWorld supplies customers around the world with solar power solutions of all sizes. Together 

with our subsidiary Solarparc AG, we also offer investors development and operation services for 

large-scale solar power plants. In addition, SolarWorld supplies wafers and cells to customers in the 

international solar industry.

The group has an international distribution network that incorporates the specialist and wholesale 

trade, together with installers, as intermediaries between us and our private and commercial end cus-

tomers.

SolarWorld concentrates exclusively on crystalline solar power technology as this has held its 

ground in the renewable energies market, proving to be a particularly efficient and environmentally 

friendly way of generating power.

SolarWorld emphasizes high standards of corporate responsibility at its sites and is committed to 

resource-efficient, energy-saving processes in all areas of the company. We count on the high quality 

and tangible value proposition of the SolarWorld brand to set us apart from the competition. An 

integrated quality and innovation process across all stages of production provides the basis for this. 

Our complete solutions for solar energy generation are our company’s market-differentiating benefit.

MOVING FURTHER UP THE SOL AR VALUE CHAIN. SolarWorld’s core business is the production of solar modules 

and international sales of modules and complete solar power solutions. Via its subsidiary Solarparc 

AG, the company develops, sells and operates large-scale solar projects. Its production facilities cover 

the entire solar manufacturing chain from wafers to cells and modules. SolarWorld also conducts its 

own research and development activities. 
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SOLARWORLD AG OPERATES AS A HOLDING COMPANY. SolarWorld AG is the parent company of the SolarWorld 

group. It emerged from the sole proprietorship, Frank H. Asbeck, Ingenieurbüro für Industrieanlagen 

(Engineering Office for Industrial Plants), which was established in 1988. On March 26, 1999, Solar-

World AG was registered in the commercial register of the local court of Bonn with the registration 

number HRB 8319, as a German Stock Corporation organized under German laws. As the holding com-

pany, SolarWorld AG performs central group functions such as group controlling, group accounting, 

finance, investor relations and communication. The Management Board of SolarWorld AG is respon-

sible for group management. The corporate audit and sustainability management report directly to the 

board as staff departments.

GLOBAL ORIENTATION OF KEY STRATEGIC AREAS STRENGTHENED. In addition to its role as a holding company, 

SolarWorld AG is home to the group’s international distribution center. As the parent company, 

SolarWorld AG also develops and directs global strategies and activities in key areas such as the 

global supply chain, human resources, product management, logistics, production planning and IT, 

which are then implemented together with the subsidiaries at local level.

SEGMENT STRUCTURE RETAINED. As in past years, SolarWorld’s operational business was divided into four 

segments in 2013: “Production Germany”, “Production U.S.”, “Trade”, and “Other”. These provide the 

structure for our internal organization, reporting and management. The “Production Germany” and 

“Production U.S.” segments each comprise the regionally coherent and fully integrated production 

activities. The “Trade” segment covers international sales of modules, complete kits and large-scale 

plants. It also includes proceeds generated by our subsidiary Solarparc AG from electricity sales, 

project planning, and the sale and operation of wind farms and solar power stations. Business activi-

ties where the financial impact is not or is no longer crucial to the assets, financial position and earn-

ings of the group are included in the “Other” segment.
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11

SOLARWORLD AG (HOLDING)

TRADE

Module System

INNOVATION

R & D

PRODUCTION GERMANY

Deutsche Solar GmbH 

Deutsche Cell GmbH

Solar Factory GmbH 

PRODUCTION U.S.

SolarWorld Industries America Inc.

OTHER

SolarWorld  
Innovations GmbH,  

Germany

SolarWorld  
Czech s.r.o.,  

Czech Republic

TRADE

SolarWorld AG,  
Germany

SolarWorld Americas LLC, 
U.S.

SolarWorld Ibérica S.L., 
Spain

SolarWorld Asia Pacific  
PTE Ltd., Singapore

SolarWorld Africa (Pty.) 
Ltd., South Africa

SolarWorld France SAS, 
France

Solarparc AG,  
Germany

JOINT VENTURES 

JSSi GmbH, Germany* 

Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C., Qatar

Silicon Wafer Cell Module

PRODUCTION

R E C Y C L I N G

* sold on July 2, 2013

REDUCTION IN NUMBER OF COMPANIES. On the cut-off date, December 31, 2013, the SolarWorld group 

comprised a total of 52 (December 31, 2012: 55) companies. These included 28 subsidiaries and asso-

ciated companies of Solarparc AG.

In 2013, SolarWorld sold two solar projects and the project companies SEPV8 LLC and SEPV9 LLC 

in charge of these projects to an external investor. Furthermore, SolarWorld sold Solarparc Dia-

mant GmbH & Co. KG as well as its stake of 49 percent in the joint venture JSSi GmbH.
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In November 2013, SolarWorld AG formed the wholly owned subsidiary SolarWorld Industries-

Thüringen GmbH, which took over cell and module production facilities along with other assets from 

Bosch Solar Energy AG on March 12, 2014. 74  SolarWorld group structure as of December 31, 2013 

 p. 156 //

For SolarWorld, 2013 was a year of restructuring. The solar industry crisis made financial restruc-

turing measures necessary for our company. SolarWorld successfully completed this complex pro-

cess on schedule, one year later, on February 24, 2014.  Financial restructuring successfully com-

pleted

Parallel to the financial restructuring, the SolarWorld group pressed ahead with an operational re-

structuring program in 2013. The aim of this program is to cut costs in all key fixed and variable cost 

items and to boost efficiency in production and shipments. In addition, we identified non-operating 

 assets that we subsequently sold or will sell with an effect on liquidity. Specifically, the program in-

cluded the following measures:

Silicon purchasing: Existing long-term silicon supply contracts, which were concluded owing to sup-

ply bottleneck across the industry in the past, put pressure on the earnings of SolarWorld AG since 

their terms are no longer in line with market conditions and the current business volume. So in 2013, 

the company reduced its large silicon inventories. From 2014, it plans only to purchase silicon ac-

cording to its requirements and at market prices.

Global material group management/global sourcing: We reduced purchase prices for materials and 

components through price renegotiation, a global second source strategy, and by changing suppli-

ers. We implemented these measures for production materials such as films, glass and pastes, as 

well as for components such as system, racking technology and inverters, and for indirect materials. 

 Global supply chain – procurement
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We can further reduce manufacturing costs by continuously improving processes, increasing through-

put, reducing specific consumption of raw materials and supplies, recycling consumables, and increas-

ing production yields.

Staffing level adjustment: Owing to low production capacity utilization, excess personnel capacities 

at our production sites were reduced. In Germany, at the beginning of 2013, we implemented reduced 

working hours in the production and logistics departments. We trimmed our sales and administra-

tive expenses by making staff cutbacks in administration, marketing, internal sales, purchasing and 

logistics. At the time of producing this Annual Group Report, all of these measures had been largely 

implemented and are now helping to reduce costs accordingly.  Employees

Merging and integrating group companies: Company mergers will eliminate redundant administra-

tive structures and support process optimization to mobilize additional cost-cutting potential.

Optimize TV and media presence.

Focus activities on selected customer target groups.

Less print media and increased use of online marketing.  Brand and marketing

Boost staff productivity: Human resource allocation in group logistics was reduced through man-

power planning optimization, new IT-based logistics solutions and continuous process improvement.

Consolidation of external warehouses: Warehouse consolidation and direct transportation enabled 

the closure of external shippers’ warehouses.

Cargo optimization: Optimized use of cargo space achieved a reduction in transportation costs.

Sell an unused office building.

Sell machinery and equipment.
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In addition to the restructuring measures to safeguard the viability of the group, SolarWorld AG 

pursued its long-term corporate strategy in 2013. The goal is to make SolarWorld permanently prof-

itable again. Providing customer-oriented solar power solutions we want to offer a real added value 

and take a technologically leading position in the international solar markets. 

Consistent customer orientation has become a crucial success factor in recent years, as solar markets 

have transformed from production-driven seller’s markets into fiercely competitive buyer’s markets. 

We see ourselves as a leading supplier of solutions which enable both private and commercial users to 

generate and use clean, cost-efficient energy. We want to serve customers with a tangible quality prom-

ise. Quality workmanship is the best guarantee of long-term reliability and consistent yields from a 

solar power installation, and therefore makes the most cost-effective purchase in the long run. This 

claim clearly differentiates SolarWorld from its competitors.

In the future, particularly in our core markets, we aim to continue to position ourselves as a provider 

of complete solar power solutions that precisely meet our customers’ expectations.

Based on customer-oriented system solutions and services of undoubtedly outstanding quality, we 

intend to continue developing SolarWorld as a global brand.

Our employees are essential for the successful implementation of our strategy at all levels in the 

group. We have identified five key programs which are the focus of a group-wide change program in 

2013.  Change workshops started

Customer needs should run through all elements of our business and processes.

SolarWorld meets customers’ expectations and needs by proven quality, leading solutions, trust-

worthy partnership and its authentic focus on sustainability. Product differentiation and comprehen-

sive customer service create added value for the customer  Real value
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SolarWorld secures its market leadership in module performance. The acquisition of cell and mod-

ule production facilities from Bosch Solar Energy AG strengthens this position. SolarWorld aims to 

be a trend-setter in solar power solutions.  Innovation report

SolarWorld intends to increase shipments both in its core markets such as Germany and the United 

States, and in new international markets. In addition, the project business of SolarWorld’s subsidiary 

Solarparc AG is set to be expanded and internationalized.  Trade

SolarWorld is cutting fixed costs in all organizational units, at all stages of the value chain and at all 

locations. In doing so, we optimize cash flow and contribute to turn EBITDA positive again so that prof-

its can be generated sustainably.  Forecast report

SolarWorld’s international organizational units will grow closer together and the group as a whole 

will merge to form one global entity. The organizational structure of SolarWorld will be made leaner.

Group financing is handled centrally by SolarWorld AG, which also acts as a holding company. Con-

trolled directly by the Management Board, SolarWorld AG is responsible for group liquidity plan-

ning and controlling, and for raising capital. 41  Five-year comparison of financial position  // 

43  Five-year comparison of assets position

As the wave of consolidation has advanced within the solar industry, a large number of lenders have 

pulled out of financing the solar industry and other related sectors. The high risk situation among solar 

companies and significantly tighter lending rules for banks making risk investments have made banks 

more cautious. As a result, there are currently difficulties in raising capital. The same applies to bor-

rowing on the capital market by issuing corporate bonds and similar instruments.
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Given this difficult financing situation as well as the impaired operative business in the last years, 

SolarWorld AG started the restructuring of existing financial liabilities in January 2013 to adjust 

these liabilities in line with the company’s earning power. In the context of negotiations with creditors 

of assignable loans (Schuldscheine) and noteholders of two bonds, a restructuring concept was passed 

in early August 2013. This concept has made a reduction of our financial liabilities by 57 percent possi-

ble through a debt-to-equity swap. The following financing measures were completed by February 24, 

2014:

 Simplified capital reduction at the ratio 150:1. On January 20, 2014, the capital stock of the group 

was reduced from € 111,720,000.00 to € 744,800.00.

 Subsequent capital increase with existing shareholders’ subscription rights ruled out. Capital stock 

was increased from € 744,800.00 to € 14,896,000.00 on February 24, 2014.

 New shares were issued against contributions in kind exclusively to creditors of SolarWorld AG. As 

a result of the contributions in kind, the financial liabilities of SolarWorld AG were reduced by 

57 percent or € 570 million to € 427 million.

 In exchange for transferring their notes, noteholders received purchasing rights for new shares and 

new bonds. In situations where noteholders did not exercise their purchasing rights, the Settlement 

Agent in charge monetized the respective shares and notes from the new bonds at the best.

 The existing assignable loans (Schuldscheine) and a loan originally provided by the European 

Investment Bank will be continued under new conditions; the new loan period is 5 years.

bonds as well as the new loan are secured comprehensively; all creditors are entitled to these securi-

ties pro rata and pari passu, i. e. ranking equally.

Moreover, SolarWorld has found a strategic investor, Qatar Solar Technologies, who has provided a 

loan of € 50 million to the group.
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STRATEGIC GROUP MANAGEMENT. The Management Board determines corporate objectives from Solar-

World’s strategy and re-assesses these objectives annually. They are broken down into divisional tar-

gets so that they can be implemented by employees at all levels. The Management Board members 

maintain constant dialog with each other. In addition, every month they convene for a regular meeting 

at which they talk about the business situation, discuss opportunities and risks, review target achieve-

ment and adjust targets if necessary. The Management Board introduces necessary measures in close 

consultation with the management bodies of group companies. In addition, members of the Board and 

managing directors of the subsidiaries get together several times a year. At these meetings, the re-

spective regional and market-specific circumstances are taken into account, and further short to me-

dium-term goals and measures are decided on.

Revenue, EBITDA and EBIT are the primary financial control indicators used by the SolarWorld 

group. Group controlling continuously monitors these and other department-specific indicators in a 

target/actual comparison, and produces a monthly report for the Management Board. This report ana-

lyzes the business development in the different sales regions of the group. It also points out the rea-

sons for gaps in a target/actual comparison.

Owing to the consolidation phase in the solar industry and the necessary financial restructuring pro-

cess within the SolarWorld group, strict control of our liquidity situation has assumed even greater 

importance. In 2013, we stepped up our cash flow planning and monitoring activities. Both now enter 

into the monthly reports for the Management Board.

The Management Board receives a weekly summary of shipments, revenue and stock levels in the 

“Trade” segment. In addition, on a monthly basis, more detailed analyses and target/actual compari-

sons of shipments and revenue by product groups, regions and customers as well as of sales costs are 

produced in standardized form and reported to the Management Board. As a result, we identify trends 

in the price and quantity structure at an early stage, and rapidly introduce necessary measures.

It is also important, however, to analyze the development of production costs per unit and watt, as well 

as the production volume including an account of individual cost drivers such as material usage and 

labor intensity. In addition, group controlling monitors the implementation of operative restructuring 

measures and reports gaps in the target/actual comparison to the Management Board.

Non-financial indicators such as productivity figures, customer satisfaction, employee recruitment and 

retention, and resource consumption supplement the financial control indicators.
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To be able to assess customer satisfaction and forecast market trends, we rely in part on information 

obtained from dialog with our customers. 

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEM. The internal control system (ICS) in the SolarWorld group includes various 

mechanisms and has a decentralized structure. At the same time, group controlling, group accounting 

and the corporate audit perform oversight control functions. Group controlling is responsible for month-

ly reporting of the segment-based financial indicators and for the risk management system. Financial 

circumstances are also taken into account here. Group accounting ensures that accounting is uniform 

and complies with legal requirements and standards as well as the group’s internal guidelines and 

generally accepted accounting principles.  Internal control and risk management system in relation to 

the group accounting process  Corporate audit pursues an integrated, risk-oriented and system-

atic approach in its audits. One of its aims is to assess the reliability of the risk management system 

and internal control system. Corporate audit examines operational processes in respect of regularity, 

security, safety and efficiency criteria and compliance with legal requirements and company policies. 

As an instrument of the Management Board, the corporate audit is organizationally and functionally 

independent of the bodies it audits, thus enabling the proper performance of its duties. Corporate au-

dit can autonomously determine the scope of the audit and reporting. Within operative restructuring 

measures begun in 2012 and 2013, corporate audit supports the implementation of measures that had 

resulted from previous audits. For example, corporate audit has advised the company on the improve-

ment of logistics.

COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM. We enhanced the group’s compliance management system in 2013. We 

appointed a Local Compliance Officer for each SolarWorld site, and a Global Compliance Officer for 

the group as a whole. SolarWorld’s Compliance Committee acts as an interdepartmental supervisory 

body that advises on development of the compliance management system and on specific incidents in 

the company, and approves necessary measures. It meets on a quarterly basis with additional meet-

ings if necessary. Operated by a European service provider, the SpeakUP system enables anonymized 

notification of potential compliance-relevant incidents to the compliance committee by telephone or 

via an Internet portal. Furthermore, this system enables dialog – while safeguarding anonymity – be-

tween the person providing the information and the Global Compliance Officer. This allows compliance 

notifications to be dealt with more effectively.

We seek to prevent non-compliance by developing a heightened awareness of potential compliance 

risks and taking suitable precautions. Furthermore, we aim to rapidly identify specific incidents, deal 

with them professionally, and in turn introduce improvement measures to prevent further incidents.



035

SOL A R WORLD 2013 GENER A L INFORM ATION 

In 2012, the compliance committee conducted a risk assessment for the group, which was used to iden-

tify the main risk areas. In the departments concerned, awareness-raising training was implemented 

to address these issues. Over the course of 2013, the trained executives passed on their knowledge to 

their teams. Another risk analysis was performed during the same year and completed at the beginning 

of 2014. Priorities for 2014 are defined on this basis. 

In February 2013, the new version of the Code of Conduct was communicated to all employees. It aims 

to provide guidance to employees and help them ensure their conduct is in line with key values such as 

integrity, sustainability and social responsibility. In 2013, we released supplements to the Code of 

Conduct that concern conduct with contractual partners as well as the comparatively complex issues 

of gifts and invitations. Moreover, we amended and standardized commission contracts for our group.

The information pursuant to § 315 (4) No. 1 and No. 3 HGB (the composition of subscribed capital and 

participation in capital) can be obtained from the following paragraphs. 

The provisions concerning the appointment and dismissal of Management Board members as well as 

amendments to the Articles of Association (§ 315 (4) No. 6 HGB) result from the German Stock Corpo-

ration Act. Regarding Management Board powers (§ 315 (4) No. 7 HGB), reference is made to the Stock 

Corporation Act. In addition, the following applies:

At the Annual General Meeting (AGM) on May 20, 2010, the authorizations to increase the capital 

stock approved during previous AGMs were canceled. At the same time, the Management Board was 

authorized with the approval of the Supervisory Board to increase capital stock once or several times 

to a total of up to € 55,860,000.00 for a period of five years, i. e. until May 20, 2015, by issuing new, 

 no-par bearer shares or registered shares in exchange for cash contributions or contributions in kind.

On August 7, 2013, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of SolarWorld AG passed the cancella-

tion of the authorized capital without replacement. The resolution of the extraordinary shareholders’ 

meeting was entered in the commercial register on January 20, 2014. On the same day, the company’s 

capital stock was reduced from € 111,720,000.00 to € 744,800.00. Subsequently, the capital stock was 

increased to € 14,896,000.00 by issuing 14,151,200 new shares.  Financial restructuring successfully 

completed
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As of December 31, 2013, financial liabilities amounting to converted € 931 (2012: 931) million existed 

for which creditors can demand early repayment in the event of a change of control (§ 315 (4) No. 8 

HGB). A change of control shall be deemed to occur if and when one party (with the exception of Dr.-

Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck, members of his family or companies controlled by any of the aforementioned 

parties) directly or indirectly holds more than 50 percent of the voting rights concerning the shares 

issued or acquires the possibility to nominate or elect the majority of Supervisory Board members, or 

to cause such a nomination or election to take place.

In February 2014, these financial liabilities were significantly reduced and restructured as part of the 

financial restructuring program. Following the restructuring of former liabilities and taking up new 

liabilities of € 50 million, financial liabilities amounting to € 417 million still exist, for which creditors 

can demand early repayment in the event of a change of control (§ 315 (4) No. 8 HGB). Under the new 

conditions, a change of control shall be deemed to occur if Qatar Solar S.P.C. and the current or future 

members of the Management Board together directly or indirectly hold a total of more than 49.9 per-

cent of the issued shares, another person or a group of persons acting in concert other than those 

aforementioned directly or indirectly holds more than 30 percent of issued shares or all material as-

sets of SolarWorld AG are sold to one person or a group of persons acting in concert.  Financial 

 restructuring successfully completed

With regard to § 315 (4) Nos. 2, 4, 5 and 9 HGB, no information is required.

The remuneration system for the Management Board and the Supervisory Board is outlined in the 

 Remuneration report . This report is part of the group management report.
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STRONG GROW TH IN STOCK MARKETS. Global equity markets experienced strong growth in 2013, driven 

mainly by expansionary international monetary policy. This held out the prospect of longer-lasting low 

interest rates. The gradual stabilization of economic growth in the eurozone and increasingly solid 

economic data from the U.S. reinforced the positive trend. Against this macroeconomic background, 

the major indices saw substantial gains and reached new all-time highs. Geopolitical factors such as 

the escalating conflicts in Syria and Egypt, the government impasse in Italy, the Cypriot sovereign 

debt crisis and particularly the U.S. budget dispute brought only temporary declines in the markets.

The German stock index – the DAX – gained a total of around 24 percent in the 2013 financial year to 

close the year at 9,522 points. At the end of December 2013, it reached its high for the year – and a 

new all-time high – of 9,594 points. The TecDAX turned in an even stronger performance, gaining 

around 40 percent and advancing to a new all-time high of 1,169 points shortly before the end of the 

year. It closed at 1,166 points on December 30, 2013.

SOL AR STOCKS GAIN – SOL ARWORLD STOCK UNDER PRESSURE. Despite the persistent industry crisis, solar stocks 

recorded gains on international markets. The Photovoltaik Global 30 Index advanced around 133 per-

cent from the beginning of January to the end of the year. It came in at 30.28 points on December 31, 

2013. The SolarWorld stock moved contrary to this trend. Negative reactions to the company’s finan-

cial restructuring process had a substantial negative impact on its price performance in 2013. Conse-

quently, the stock price fell around 58 percent between January 2, 2013 and December 31, 2013. The 

title reached its lowest point on June 27, 2013, at around € 0.37. The highest price during the year was 

€ 1.88 on January 8, 2013. 

SOL ARWORLD STOCK LEAVES TECDA X. As at March 18, 2013, the share of SolarWorld AG was excluded 

from the selective index TecDAX. The working group for indices of Deutsche Börse (German Stock 

Exchange) explained its decision by the comparatively low market capitalization of the SolarWorld 

stock. It had been listed in the TecDAX since 2004. However, the SolarWorld stock still appears in 

numerous indices. 



038

SOL A R WORLD 2013 BUSINE S S REP ORT

12

131.7 % 
DAX

122.8 % 
TecDAX

38 days  

moving average

222.8 %
Photovoltaik 
Global 30 Index

42.3 % 
 SolarWorld

200 %

150 %

250 %

50 %

100 %

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

CAPITAL STOCK OF SOL ARWORLD AG UNCHANGED. In 2013, SolarWorld AG’s capital stock remained un-

changed at € 111,720,000.00 and was divided into 111,720,000 no-par bearer shares with an imputed 

nominal value of € 1.00. In January and February 2014, the restructuring measures approved in Au-

gust 2013 were implemented, as a result of which the capital stock changed as planned.  Financial 

restructuring successfully completed

CEO’S STOCK HOLDING REDUCED. The shareholder structure of SolarWorld AG changed in the fourth quar-

ter of 2013. In 2013, CEO Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck and his two related companies Eifelstrom GmbH 

and Solar Holding Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH sold a total of 6,215,064 shares in SolarWorld AG 

via the stock exchange.

The company published notifications of these transactions as directors’ dealings pursuant to § 15a of 

the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG). The corresponding information is available on the com-

pany’s website at  www.solarworld.de/en/directors-dealings //. As a result of these transactions, on 

November 27, 2013, the CEO’s share of voting rights fell below the reporting threshold of 25 percent. 

Therefore, on December 2, 2013, in accordance with § 26 WpHG, SolarWorld AG published a voting 

rights announcement at  www.solarworld.de/notification-of-voting-rights //. Since December 3, 2013, 

Dr. Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck has held all voting rights in SolarWorld AG directly; there are no longer 

any attributions pursuant to § 22 WpHG.
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In January 2014, the CEO of SolarWorld AG, Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck, sold more of his shares via 

the stock exchange and came below further voting rights thresholds required to be reported. More-

over, the shareholder structure of SolarWorld AG changed fundamentally once again in February 

2014 as a result of the restructuring measures.  Shareholders´ structure substantially revised

NO TREASURY SHARES ACQUIRED. In 2013, SolarWorld AG did not make use of the authorization issued by 

the Annual General Meeting on May 20, 2010, to acquire treasury shares pursuant to § 71 (1) No. 8 of 

the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). On the cut-off date of December 31, 2012, SolarWorld held 

924,607 no-par value shares. 

On the cut-off date, pursuant to § 71b AktG, 110,795,393 no-par value shares carried dividends and 

voting rights. This is equivalent to a stake of 99.17 percent. The number of no-par value shares held by 

SolarWorld changed fundamentally due to the capital measures that were implemented in the first 

quarter of 2014. 46  Shareholders´ structure after financial restructuring

EXTRAORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS OF SOL ARWORLD AG. In connection with the financial restructuring 

process at SolarWorld AG, two extraordinary shareholders’ meetings took place in the 2013 financial 

year, on July 11 and August 7. Pursuant to § 92 (1) of the German Stock Corporation Act, on July 11, 

2013, the Management Board of SolarWorld AG informed shareholders at an extraordinary share-

holders’ meeting called specifically for the purpose that half of the company’s capital stock was used 

up by losses.

At the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of SolarWorld AG on August 7, 2013, the resolutions 

necessary to implement the restructuring of the group’s financial liabilities and balance sheet were 

passed.  Noteholders and shareholders give their approval

Also on the agenda at the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting on August 7 was the election of the new 

Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG. The shareholders decided to re-elect the Chairman of the Su-

pervisory Board, Dr. Claus Recktenwald, and the member of the Supervisory Board Dr. Georg Gansen. 
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Mr. Marc M. Bamberger was newly elected to the Supervisory Board. The previous Supervisory Board 

member Dr. Alexander von Bossel did not stand for re-election and resigned his position at the end of 

the extraordinary meeting. The term of appointment for Dr. Claus Recktenwald and Mr. Marc M. Bam-

berger in each case ends with the conclusion of the next ordinary Annual General Meeting of Solar-

World AG. The shareholders appointed Dr. Georg Gansen, for his part, until the conclusion of the gen-

eral meeting which decides on the approval of the Supervisory Board’s actions and the Management 

Board’s actions for the financial year ending December 31, 2017. 

Furthermore, shareholders approved an amendment to the Articles of Association according to which 

the Supervisory Board shall be expanded from three members to six members.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Dr. Claus Recktenwald, also informed shareholders that the 

appointment of CEO Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck would be extended until January 9, 2019.

FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING HAS MAJOR IMPACT ON 2013 FINANCIAL YEAR. On January 24, 2013, the company 

issued an ad-hoc notification announcing the need for financial restructuring. Subsequently, the Man-

agement Board conducted negotiations on a restructuring concept with all main creditors. On June 18, 

2013, SolarWorld AG announced that an agreement had been reached on the implementation of the 

restructuring of its liabilities with all creditors of assignable loans (Schuldscheine) as well as a creditor 

of a secured loan. It also presented the restructuring concept. This concept contained a series of mea-

sures on which the creditors of the two corporate bonds and the shareholders of SolarWorld AG had 

to pass resolutions. At noteholders’ meetings on August 5 and 6, 2013, the noteholders of the two bonds 

approved the measures respectively. At an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting on August 7, 2013, the 

shareholders of SolarWorld AG also approved the necessary capital measures. By registration of the 

implementation of the capital increase, the financial restructuring was completed on February 24, 

2014.  Financial restructuring successfully completed  The restructuring process as well as 

the measures that were decided upon and have now been implemented are described in detail in 

 Financial restructuring . In 2013, the financial restructuring process affected SolarWorld’s 

operating business, for example with regard to shipments in Germany and the realization of new large-

scale projects.  Trade  Parallel to the financial restructuring, SolarWorld also implemented 

numerous operational restructuring measures in the 2013 financial year.  Necessary steps to restruc-

ture the group
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SHIPMENTS AND REVENUE DECREASING IN 2013 – OPERATING LOSSES REDUCED. The persistent consolidation pro-

cess in the solar industry as well as the ongoing financial restructuring of SolarWorld AG affected 

the business development of SolarWorld AG in 2013 more strongly than expected. Differently than 

planned, shipments and the revenue did not exceed previous year’s level. Group-wide shipments of 

wafers, modules and kits went down by 3.3 percent to 588 (2012: 608) MW. The consolidated revenue 

decreased more significantly by about 25 percent to € 455.8 (2012: 606.0) million. In the 2013 fiscal 

year, SolarWorld was able, however, to reduce its operating losses. Totaling € – 188.7 (2012: – 620.3) 

million, EBIT was over previous year’s level. These improvements can be attributed to the comprehen-

sive operative restructuring measures to lower costs, e. g. the reduction of material expenses. How-

ever, the main reason was the significantly lower impairments on fixed assets.  Economic Position 

2013

REORGANIZATION OF MANAGEMENT BOARD DEPARTMENTS. On February 7, 2013, SolarWorld AG and Boris Kle-

bensberger amicably came to a mutual agreement on the termination of Mr. Klebensberger’s position 

in the Management Board. The COO position was not filled again. Instead, the departments of the Man-

agement Board were restructured to achieve rapid implementation of planned measures and projects. 

The production units in Freiberg/Germany and Hillsboro/U.S. are now placed directly under the lead-

ership of CEO Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck. IT became part of Colette Rückert-Hennen’s responsibility, 

who now holds the new position of Chief Information, Brand & Personnel Officer (CIBPO).  Manage-

ment and control chaged in 2013

SOL ARWORLD IMPLEMENTS ORGANIZATIONAL RESTRUCTURING IN THE UNITED STATES. In our key market U.S., Solar-

World implemented a fundamental organizational change in October 2013. By mid– 2014, sales and 

production will be grouped together at the Hillsboro, Oregon site to exploit market opportunities more 

effectively. In addition, the production company SolarWorld Industries America Inc. in Hillsboro 

and the sales subsidiary SolarWorld Americas LLC in Camarillo, California will be merged into one 

management unit.  Production

SOL ARWORLD ACQUIRES SUBSTANTIAL PARTS OF BOSCH’S SOL AR ACTIVITIES. On November 26, 2013, SolarWorld 

signed an agreement to acquire parts of assets of Bosch Solar Energy AG at the location Arnstadt/

Thuringia. This comprises a cell production capacity of 700 MW as well as module production capac-

ity of 200 MW.  Production lines acquiered from Bosch Solar Energy AG   Future development 

in production
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EU PROCEEDINGS AGAINST ILLEGAL TRADE PRACTICES COMPLETED. At the beginning of December 2013, as 

planned, the European Commission concluded its anti-dumping and anti-subsidy proceedings against 

Chinese solar manufacturers. Both sets of proceedings stemmed from trade complaints brought in 2012 

by the EU ProSun industry initiative, in which SolarWorld AG is a member.  www.prosun.org // 

 International trade conflicts

Owing to the international solar industry crisis, SolarWorld AG needed to restructure its financial 

liabilities in 2013. After just over a year, this complex and difficult process was successfully completed 

on February 24, 2014. The main restructuring steps in 2013 were as follows:

SOL ARWORLD ANNOUNCES NEED FOR RESTRUCTURING. On January 24, 2013, the company issued an ad-hoc 

 notification announcing the need for financial restructuring. Prior to this, in consultation with the Su-

pervisory Board of SolarWorld AG, the Management Board had had the company’s business plan-

ning for the years ahead – in particular its projected earnings and financial planning – reviewed by an 

external expert. As a result of this review, the company’s management had resolved that serious re-

ductions in the company’s liabilities were necessary. At the same time, they were of the opinion that it 

was more likely than not that the required financial restructuring concept and necessary operational 

measures could be achieved and that a positive going concern prognosis was thus given. After this an-

nouncement, the Management Board conducted negotiations on a concept with its main creditors.

RESTRUCTURING MEASURES ARE PRESENTED. On June 18, 2013, SolarWorld AG announced that an agree-

ment had been reached on the implementation of the restructuring of liabilities with all creditors of 

assignable loans (Schuldscheine) as well as a creditor of a secured loan. It also presented the restruc-

turing concept. The key measure in the concept was a debt-to-equity swap of a part of the existing lia-

bilities. The group would also bring in a new investor (Qatar Solar S.P.C., Doha/Qatar) with a stake of 

29 percent, and the founder and CEO Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck would acquire a stake of 19.5 percent 

in the new capital stock of SolarWorld AG. To make this happen, the creditors would assign a por-

tion of their shares to the two investors. The proceeds from this transaction have now been paid out to 

the creditors as a cash component. Creditors’ remaining claims are retained and were converted into 

new bonds in early 2014.  Financial restructuring successfully completed
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New capital stock as of Feb 24, 

2014

Reduction of capital stock  

on Jan 20, 2014

Capital stock  

as at Dec 31, 2013

111,720,000

744,800

14,896,000

744,800

14,151,200

 creditors

 existing shareholders

NOTEHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS GIVE THEIR APPROVAL. The measures presented in June 2013 also required 

the approval of holders of the two bonds issued by SolarWorld AG. These creditors were brought into 

the restructuring process at various noteholders’ meetings held in May, July and August 2013 in Bonn. 

At the last noteholders’ meeting on August 5 and 6, 2013, the noteholders approved the company’s 

proposals with a majority of more than 99 percent in each case. At an extraordinary shareholders’ 

meeting on August 7, 2013, the shareholders of SolarWorld AG approved the necessary capital mea-

sures for the financial restructuring – again with a majority of more than 99 percent in each case. Spe-

cifically, the resolutions of the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting included a capital reduction from 

€ 111,720,000.00 to € 744,800.00, a capital increase by contribution in kind with exclusion of share-

holders’ pre-emptive rights to € 14,896,000.00 and the cancellation of authorized capital. As part of 

the capital increase by contribution in kind, a part of financial liabilities were transferred to the com-

pany and in this way the planned debt-to-equity swap was carried out in early 2014.

A number of legal challenges against the resolutions of the noteholders‘ meeting on August 6, 2013 and 

extraordinary shareholders’ meeting on August 7, 2013 were filed within the statutory appeal period. 

In October 2013, the company filed applications for summary judgments (Freigabeverfahren) with the 

Cologne Higher Regional Court (Oberlandesgericht), which granted approval to implement the mea-

sures on January 13, 2014. Parallel to the summary judgments, SolarWorld AG held talks with the 

complainants. The company was able to reach an out-of-court settlement with the majority of them. 

Accordingly, shareholders who held at least 1,000 no par value shares in SolarWorld AG on August 7, 

2013 could submit unlimited offers to buy shares which creditors do not subscribe to during the capi-

tal increase. They had to subscribe to at least 50 shares or full multiples thereof. The specified price 
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range for the subscription was between € 6.50 and € 12.50. A similar arrangement applied to the new 

unsubscribed notes. The price range for purchasing the series 1017 bond (DE000A1YCN14) was be-

tween € 207.98 and € 415.96. The price range for purchasing the series 1116 bond (DE000A1YDDX6) 

was between € 186.44 and € 372.87. At least three notes or a full multiple thereof had to be subscribed 

to. These capital measures were completed on February 24, 2014. You can find the final results of the 

exercising of acquisition rights and the allocation prices in the  Exercise of acquisition rights

GLOBAL ECONOMY STILL WEAK. There was no appreciable upturn in the global economy in 2013, according 

to the Kiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW). The European debt crisis and restrictive fiscal policy 

in most industrialized countries continued to dampen the economy during the year under review, even 

though business activity picked up over the course of the year.

According to IfW, the recession in the euro area continued in 2013. The main reasons were the high 

debt burden and consolidation pressures on government budgets. Because of the crisis, investment 

and private consumption could only recover slowly.

In Germany, domestic consumption was not sufficient to compensate for weak foreign trade. Corporate 

investment continued to be weak. Production capacities were not fully utilized. Consequently, the Ger-

man economy lost momentum in 2013.

In the United States, the economic recovery remained moderate in 2013. Structural problems such as 

excess capacities in the real estate market and high private household indebtedness continued to retard 

economic growth. Conflicting majorities in the House of Representatives and the Senate made it diffi-

cult to implement fiscal measures to stimulate the economy.
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15 // IN PERCENT 

2012 2013 e 2014 e

Germany 0.7 0.4 1.7

U.S. 2.8 1.6 2.3

Euro area – 0.6 – 0.4 0.9

World 3.2 2.9 3.7

* measured according to gross domestic product

EXCESS CAPACITIES DESPITE GROWING GLOBAL DEMAND. According to estimates by Greentech Media Inc., total 

demand for solar power systems increased by around 11 percent in 2013 to 38.2 (2012: 34.5) GW. How-

ever, this growth was insufficient to utilize existing global production capacities of around 63 GW. Thus, 

enormous oversupply was one of the main reasons for continuing solar industry consolidation in 2013.

Nevertheless, the first signs of stabilization in the solar market emerged in the second half of 2013. 

The massive drop in prices began to slow from around June 2013. With the introduction of prelimi-

nary anti-dumping and anti-subsidy duties in Europe, there was a slight rise in prices for Chinese 

solar products.  International trade conflicts  Despite this, average prices persisted at a low 

level, and manufacturers’ margins remained under pressure in 2013.

EUROPEAN SOL AR MARKETS IN SHARP DECLINE. The European market as a whole contracted in 2013. The dra-

matic scaling back in 2012 of regulatory incentives to install solar power had a negative impact on de-

mand. According to estimates by Greentech Media Inc., newly installed capacity fell around 38 percent 

to 10.6 (2012: 17.0) GW in 2013. Analysts expect European demand to fall again in 2014. According to 

a study by Deutsche Bank, new installations of solar power systems in Europe are likely to decline to 

8.3 GW in 2014.

Germany in particular – until 2012 the growth engine of the European solar market – saw a substan-

tial drop in demand in 2013, which contributed to the slow down of the European market. As market 

commentators anticipated, Germany was no longer the world’s largest solar market in 2013. For the 

first time, the level of new installations was much higher in China, Japan and the United States. A 

Deutsche Bank study showed that Germany was only the world’s fourth largest solar market in 2013.
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According to the German Federal Network Agency, total demand in the German solar market more 

than halved in 2013 to around 3.3 (2012: 7.6) GW – new installations had totaled well over seven giga-

watts in 2011 and 2010 as well. Stricter controls on the construction of large solar farms slowed new 

installations in Germany in the year under review. In contrast to the market as a whole, the market for 

smaller roof-mounted systems with less than 10 kW did not collapse, though new installations were 

down 15 percent to 0.6 GW (2012: 0.7) GW.

Italy’s solar market also contracted significantly in 2013, in line with expectations. According to the 

Italian electricity authority GSE, here new installations fell 2013 by almost 70 percent to 1.1 (2012: 

3.6) GW. Nevertheless, the Italian market has remained attractive particularly for non-subsidized solar 

power plants due to rising electricity prices and strong solar radiation.

U.S. SOL AR MARKET CONTINUES GROW TH. A large proportion of growth in the 2013 global solar market took 

place in the United States. According to the U.S. Solar Energy Industry Association (SEIA), the newly 

installed capacity rose by 41 percent to 4.8 (2012: 3.4) GW. The residential market segment (residen-

tial market) recorded very strong growth of around 60 percent to 0.8 GW in 2013, whereas the non-

residential segment stagnated with a newly installed capacity of 1.1 GW: As previously, however, utili-

ties were the main growth driver in the U.S. market. Around 60 percent of newly installed capacity in 

2013 was in this segment.
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STRONG GROW TH IN CHINA AND JAPAN. The Chinese market grew massively in 2013. Analysts believe that 

newly installed capacity is likely to have more than doubled to 8.0 (2012: 3.5) GW. The Chinese gov-

ernment has set a target of reaching a total solar power capacity of about 34 GW by 2015 in order to 

support sales by Chinese solar companies. However, the Chinese market is walled off against non- 

Chinese companies such as SolarWorld. It is a different story in Japan, where foreign companies like 

SolarWorld are able to participate in the market growth. According to estimates by Deutsche Bank, 

the Japanese solar market experienced extremely strong growth in 2013 to 7.0 (2012: 2.1) GW.

INTERNATIONAL TRADE CONFLICTS. At the beginning of December 2013, as planned, the European Commis-

sion concluded its anti-dumping and anti-subsidy proceedings against Chinese solar manufacturers. 

Both sets of proceedings stemmed from trade complaints brought in 2012 by the EU ProSun industry 

initiative, in which SolarWorld AG is a member.  www.prosun.org //

Furthermore, on December 2, 2013, the European Commission announced that the EU Member States 

had approved its proposal to impose anti-dumping and anti-subsidy duties on imports of solar cells 

and solar power modules from China. The measures came into force on December 6, 2013, for a period 

of two years. Depending on the manufacturer, these duties are set at between 33 and 65 percent, or at 

around 48 percent on average. At the same time, on December 2, 2013, the European Commission con-

firmed its decision to accept the bilateral minimum pricing undertaking with Chinese manufacturers, 

which had been in force since August 6, 2013. By this undertaking, duties are suspended for companies 

which agree to comply with an agreement on minimum prices. The agreed minimum price is € 0.56  

per watt.
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European solar manufacturers are critical of the undertaking. Given this situation, SolarWorld and 

other European manufacturers filed two complaints with the General Court of the European Union. 

The EU General Court is currently examining the complaints.

Based on a complaint filed by our U.S. subsidiary SolarWorld Industries America Inc. on Decem-

ber 31, 2013, in January 2014 the U.S. authorities launched a further anti-dumping investigation 

against Chinese solar companies. The reason for this complaint is that the duties imposed in 2012 do 

not apply to solar imports from China which incorporate solar cells made in other countries. A number 

of Chinese manufacturers are exploiting this loophole to avoid punitive duties, thereby continuing 

their aggressive and injurious behavior on the American market. The newly launched investigations 

could result in an extension of the duties.  Trade vote against unfair competition in the United States 

SolarWorld AG was affected by the ongoing crisis in the solar industry in 2013. Global oversupply 

and aggressive trade practices had a negative impact on the group’s business development. However, 

the first signs of a significant deceleration in the downward price spiral appeared mid-year. As ex-

pected, the German market contracted sharply in 2013. SolarWorld’s sales figures reflect develop-

ments in this key market. Apart from the general market trend, SolarWorld’s business in Germany 

was affected by the company’s financial restructuring, which became necessary due to the persistent 

solar industry crisis. The European solar market as a whole also declined in 2013 compared with the 

previous year; yet SolarWorld successfully resisted this negative trend, and exceeded its own expec-

tations. Our company also benefited from dynamic growth in Japan.
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GROUP-WIDE SHIPMENTS SLIGHTLY BELOW PREVIOUS YEAR’S LEVEL. In the 2013 financial year, SolarWorld 

shipped a group-wide volume of modules and kits of 548 MW – only a slight fall of 3 percent compared 

with the previous year (2012: 567 MW). Yet this stable overall trend masks some extreme shifts within 

individual markets. While our European export market – i. e. outside Germany – developed very dyna-

mically (+ 44 percent), and we achieved growth in the United States, Japan and Africa, our shipments 

in Germany dropped sharply (– 41 percent) compared with the previous year. In addition, contrary to 

plans, SolarWorld AG could not implement any new large-scale projects in 2013. Because of the re-

structuring, we were unable to obtain interim financing for the construction phase of large-scale proj-

ects. Despite this, our subsidiary Solarparc AG was highly active in 2013, establishing a global struc-

ture for large-scale projects within the group, as planned. We also developed a pipeline for the inter-

national project business in markets such as Japan, Kazakhstan, Turkey, Canada and the United States. 

 Future sales markets

The sharp decline in business in Germany and the absence of new large-scale projects were the main 

reasons why we were unable to reach our own target of increasing shipments in 2013 compared with 

the previous year.

INTERNATIONALIZATION STRATEGY PAYS OFF. In 2013, our shipments outside Germany grew significantly to 

reach 76 (2012: 60) percent of all shipments. The European export markets and the U.S. achieved a 

higher share of shipments than Germany. These markets largely compensated for the volume decline 

in Germany. Since dynamic growth in solar markets particularly outside of Germany is anticipated in 

the future as well, further internationalization remains a strategic goal for SolarWorld.  Sales 

growth  The future market 

SALES OF SOL AR KITS BELOW TARGET. The module business dominated the year under review. We did not 

realize our strategic goal of increasing sales of complete systems as a percentage of our shipments in 

2013. This was partly due to comparatively weak business in Germany, since this market had a partic-

ularly high proportion of solar kits in the past.

REVENUE DOWN. Because of the decline in the systems business, revenue in the “Trade” segment fell 

 significantly more sharply than shipments in 2013. Revenue fell 25 percent compared with the previ-

ous year to € 436 (2012: 583) million. The continuing very low price level was another reason for the 

decline in revenue.
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RELUCTANCE TO BUY IN GERMANY. We believe there are two reasons for the sharp fall in sales figures in Ger-

many. Firstly, amendments to the German Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) caused a huge contrac-

tion in the German market in 2013, especially in the large-scale systems segment.  Market  

Secondly, our German customers responded with uncertainty to the financial restructuring process 

within SolarWorld AG. Buying resistance was stronger and more persistent than we had anticipated 

in our plans. It also affected the end customer market for smaller and medium-sized kits – an area in 

which we are traditionally strong. We expect sales to increase again in 2014 as we have now success-

fully completed the restructuring. Measures implemented in 2013 further optimized our sales pro-

cesses in the German market. For example, we have facilitated business for our customers – electrical 

wholesalers and installers. For the first time, we offer them a package – the SolarWorld Kit easy – 

that contains all the components of a pitched roof system assembled on one pallet for particularly fast 

and straightforward installation. In November 2013, we started an advertising campaign in Germany 

offering a complete package to our end customers that consists of a SolarWorld Kit easy and high-

quality glass-glass module Sunmodule Protect and the full installation service.

STRONG GROW TH IN EUROPEAN EXPORT MARKETS. Outside Germany, Italy was once again our largest European 

market in 2013. Although our shipments decreased compared with the previous year – following the 

general market trend – they were well above target. We achieved robust growth in the United Kingdom 

and France, while smaller markets such as Austria, Scandinavia and the Baltic also performed well. In 

addition, the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region became more important to us.

SLIGHT GROW TH IN THE UNITED STATES. In the United States, we slightly increased our shipments in the year 

under review compared with 2012. While our American customers also responded to the financial re-

structuring process with reluctance to buy our products, the effect was only temporary. Our U.S. sales 

figures rose considerably again in the third and fourth quarters. Our new glass-glass module Sunmod-

ule Protect met with an initial positive response from customers. However, the market is still fiercely 

competitive and the price level extremely low. Despite this, in 2013 we observed a decline in the price 

gap between ourselves as a quality provider, and competitors. The legal measures against dumping 

and unfair trading practices by Chinese providers probably contributed to this stabilization.  Trade 

vote against unfair competition in the United States
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JAPAN MOST IMPORTANT MARKET IN ASIA-PACIFIC REGION. As expected, Japan became our largest market by far 

in Asia in 2013. Together with our local distribution partner, we achieved continuous sales here. In the 

Asia-Pacific region, SolarWorld also focused on Australia and Thailand.

SUCCESS WITH HOMEMADE POWER IN AFRICA. In 2013, our shipments increased in Southern Africa, where 

businesses increasingly install solar roof-mounted systems that allow them to use self-generated power 

directly.

MARKETING ACTIVITIES ADAPTED TO NEW CHALLENGES. SolarWorld’s financial restructuring and the gener-

ally difficult market environment impeded product and brand activities to a certain extent in 2013. 

Nevertheless, the SolarWorld brand was and is built on a firm foundation. As a result of our invest-

ments in marketing over the years, we have achieved strong brand recognition and attractiveness.

SolarWorld’s difficult economic position required particularly efficient use of our marketing budget 

in 2013. As part of the necessary operational restructuring measures, we reduced our marketing 

expenditure by around 30 percent, for example by optimizing our TV and media presence. We focused 

our activities more intently on selected target groups and produced less print media than in the past.
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Despite a severely limited budget, it was important to support the company’s strategic goals via brand 

and marketing communication. In the context of the further internationalization of our business, we 

therefore invested a greater proportion of our marketing budget in activities in the growing export 

markets.

BRAND PROMISE: QUALIT Y AND SYSTEM EXPERTISE. Quality is and remains the best guarantee of investment 

security with a solar power system. So, during the reporting year, we again emphasized this selling 

point to installers and end customers in our international communications. Independent tests sup-

ported our arguments by confirming the reliability and durability of our products. In 2013, Solar-

World’s Sunmodule Plus SW 245 poly was the only product to receive the top rating “very good” 

under new test conditions in the PV+Test conducted by the trade journal PV Magazine and TÜV Rhein-

land. This strong performance is another credible demonstration of our commitment to quality.

During the year under review, system innovations such as our battery system SunPac 2.0 and the 

robust glass-glass module Sunmodule Protect were introduced onto the market as components of 

our solar power solutions. We communicated and emphasized their respective selling points to our 

resellers and end customers.

Despite the difficult market situation, we not only retained the trust of our authorized installers and 

wholesalers but also gained new specialist partners both nationally and internationally. At the end of 

2013, in European core markets including the United Kingdom, Italy, France and Belgium, a total of 

273 (December 31, 2012: 172) installers were members of our partner programs. To support the pro-

gram, in 2013 we organized tours of our Freiberg plant for partners from Italy and the United King-

dom.

Close contact with customers earned SolarWorld a place among Germany’s “Kundenchampions” 

(“Customer Champions”) in 2013. SolarWorld joined such major German brands as Audi, Miele and 

Esprit as an award winner in the nationwide “Deutschlands Kundenchampions” competition. The 

competition was based on an “all-round customer relations check”, which the competition initiators 

carried out based on a representative sample of customers.
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CUSTOMERS EXPRESS HIGH SATISFACTION WITH QUALIT Y AND SERVICE. To gauge our customers’ satisfaction with 

the quality and customer service they receive from SolarWorld, this year we conducted another of 

our own annual surveys of our trade customers. At 21 (2012: 33) percent, the response rate was lower 

than in the previous year. 94 (2012: 93.6) percent of customers said they were “satisfied” to “very sat-

isfied” in terms of their overall satisfaction with SolarWorld. This shows that our customers continue 

to trust and value SolarWorld’s products and services. Regarding customer service, the customers 

we surveyed showed high levels of satisfaction once again. Overall, 97 (2012: 96.5) percent of custom-

ers rated our services as “very good” or “good”. And they reaffirmed their high satisfaction with our 

product quality; 100 (2012: 99.6) percent of respondents said our product quality was “very good” or 

“good”.
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CONTINUED HIGH WILLINGNESS TO RECOMMEND. Like the German “Customer Champions” survey, our own poll 

of customers showed that SolarWorld’s customers have a high willingness to recommend. On a scale 

of 0 to 10, when asked whether they would recommend SolarWorld to people they know, the average 

score in customer responses was 9.13 (2012: 9). This is a particular indicator that our customers place a 

high level of trust in our products and services, and are willing to personally recommend SolarWorld.

ADDITIONAL INCENTIVES CREATED FOR SPECIALIST PARTNERS. With the aim of intensifying our long-standing 

customer relationships with installers – even and especially in challenging market conditions – we de-

cided to use a targeted mix of direct communication plus print and digital media in Germany in 2013. 

To reduce costs, we scaled back on printed materials and instead opted for more online communica-

tion. For example, we set up a new web portal for installers. In our communications, we made a point 

of describing the benefits of SolarWorld products to installers and wholesalers in a transparent way, 

and offering incentives to actively promote these benefits to their customers. In 2013, we created an 

extra sales incentive for our resellers in the form of a special bonus program accompanied by product 

and sales training. Around 50 percent of all SolarWorld partners in Germany participated in this 

program.

With the rising number of system products, the system concept – a specific SolarWorld benefit – is 

becoming increasingly important in brand communication. Our innovative solutions for intelligent 

home automation – such as SunPac 2.0, which launched in 2013, and the Suntrol eManager – ex-

panded our potential customer base. 

QUALIT Y ASPECTS COMMUNICATED TO END CUSTOMERS. All communications relating to marketing activities 

 directed at end customers in 2013 aimed to highlight the quality advantages of our products. In terms 

of content, we emphasized the high durability and stability of the new “Protect” module generation – 

with 30-year performance guarantee – as well as homemade power system offerings with storage op-

tions, an integrated system insurance policy and extensive system documentation. We launched a TV 

campaign in the German market in the second half of 2013 that was focused on end customers. It too 

highlighted the quality and durability of our products, generating the demand effect we sought. This 

new commercial was translated and made available for international use in all major target languages 

including English, Italian and French. We ran TV commercials to accompany campaigns in a highly 

targeted way and boost demand through our increased media presence.

PRODUCTS PRESENTED TO THE TRADE. SolarWorld was present at the most important international trade 

fairs in 2013, in Europe, the United States, Abu Dhabi, Japan and Thailand. To use our resources even 

more efficiently, we concentrated on the important trade shows much more exclusively than in previ-

ous years, and implemented a modified exhibition concept. Additional roadshows in Italy and the UK 

allowed us to strengthen contacts with installers and wholesalers, who were able to make their first 

personal contact with products and services of the SolarWorld brand. This was an important trust-

building and sales-promotion activity with resellers in these target markets.
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SOL AR MOBILIT Y UNDER THE SOLARWORLD BRAND. Ever since the company was founded, SolarWorld – as an 

internationally operating group of companies – has sought to promote the development of solar power 

generation. Enshrining this aim in our vision is one way in which we assume social and environmental 

responsibility. In this context, we have a long-standing involvement in the development of the light-

weight solar airplane e-One, in partnership with PC-Aero GmbH. The solar aircraft features specially 

produced cell technology on its wings and was presented in 2013 – complementing the SolarWorld 

GT solar vehicle – as a new ambassador for solar mobility.

OPERATIONAL RESTRUCTURING MEASURES IMPLEMENTED AND INNOVATIONS TRANSFERRED INTO PRODUCTION. In 2013, 

the group did not expand its existing capacities in Freiberg, Germany and Hillsboro, United States. 

Since the beginning of 2013, we have geared group-wide production to a basic capacity utilization of 

around 600 MW. Over the course of the year under review, at both production sites, we continued 

operational restructuring and integrated innovations into regular production to enhance efficiency 

and reduce costs. One key measure here was the realignment of international wafer production. As 

part of this, our monocrystalline wafer plant in the U.S. with a nominal capacity of 250 MW was shut 

down at the end of August 2013. We continue to use just part of the facility there for research pur-

poses. SolarWorld successfully transferred its new glass-glass module Sunmodule Protect into 

production in the summer of 2013. We have converted part of the Freiberg module plant to manufac-

ture this product.

22 // IN MW

Germany (Freiberg) 750 300 500

U.S. (Hillsboro) 250 500 350

Group 1,000 800 850

Wafer Cell Module

In addition, we introduced organizational changes at Freiberg and Hillsboro in 2013 that are aimed at 

further enhancing efficiency in our production units. Wafer, cell and module production stages at Frei-

berg are set to be integrated into one subsidiary by mid-2014. At our site in Hillsboro, Oregon, by the 

middle of the year we will likewise merge our production facilities with the sales unit previously based 

in Camarillo, California. On November 26, 2013, SolarWorld announced it had signed an agreement 
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regarding the purchase of parts of the Bosch Solar Energy AG at Arnstadt, Thuringia. With the acqui-

sition, which was completed on March 12, 2014, the SolarWorld group increases its production 

capacities for cells by 700 MW and for modules by 200 MW as of 2014.  Future development in pro-

duction

ESTABLISHING A GLOBAL SUPPLY CHAIN. Accounting for a substantial share of our total costs, material usage 

is existentially important to us as a manufacturing company. In 2013, we integrated logistics, produc-

tion planning and purchasing into a global organizational structure to establish a continuous supply 

chain that is customer and sales driven. With this global supply chain, we aim to align material usage 

in the group as a whole as closely as possible with changing conditions in the solar market.

CUT COSTS – SAFEGUARD SUPPLY. Particularly during the crisis year of 2013, the group faced the challenge 

of achieving further strong reductions in material costs while guaranteeing supplies in line with de-

mand. Furthermore, owing to SolarWorld’s difficult financial and economic position in 2013, some 

suppliers were unable to insure receivables from companies in the SolarWorld group. Despite this, 

we were able to negotiate cost reductions with suppliers as well as payment terms in our favor.

Our global second source strategy made a significant contribution to cost-cutting and our security of 

supply. We consider procurement opportunities, both in procurement market offering the lowest prices, 

and in the markets where we manufacture, i. e. in Europe and the United States. Local suppliers are 

usually able to deliver faster, and with greater flexibility. During this difficult period, quality and sus-

tainability remained important supplier selection criteria. 23  Supplier selection criteria

To cut costs and be more flexible, we reviewed the qualification of materials and significantly sped up 

the process.
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SEEKING SILICON SUPPLY IN LINE WITH DEMAND AND MARKET CONDITIONS. In the past, owing to supply pressure 

in the industry, SolarWorld entered into long-term silicon supply contracts. Their terms are no lon-

ger in line with market conditions. Legal opinions differ regarding fulfillment of existing contracts. 

53  Procurement risks  62  Legal risks SolarWorld did not buy any silicon in 2013. 

Instead, it reduced its large silicon inventories or met requirements through its own recycling. From 

2014, we plan only to purchase silicon according to our requirements and at market prices.

SHARPER FOCUS ON INDIRECT MATERIALS. Having achieved significant reductions in direct material costs, in 

2013 we turned our attention to indirect costs, e. g. expenses for marketing, trade shows, travel, IT 

and services, but also for energy and replacement parts. In these areas, we exploit all opportunities to 

buy at better prices or avoid costs in the first place. We succeeded in reducing indirect material ex-

penses by more than 30 percent compared with 2012.

CONTINUE LONG-TERM PARTNERSHIPS. SolarWorld considers long-term and reliable partnerships as an 

important factor for durable success in the solar industry – not only concerning customer relations but 

also concerning supplier relations. Particularly during the industry crisis, therefore, we maintained 

close contact with our suppliers, e. g. at the second “Supplier Day” at Intersolar Europe 2013 in Munich.

23
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Innovations are essential for SolarWorld to survive in the fiercely competitive solar market. So even 

though 2013 was a difficult year, we pressed ahead with research and development, and brought new 

products onto the market – such as the glass-glass module Sunmodule Protect.

INTEGRATED INNOVATION APPROACH CONTINUED. SolarWorld aims to continuously enhance the performance 

and quality of its products. We aim to gain and retain a competitive edge here. This requires an inte-

grated concept and process across all stages of module production. Accordingly, in 2013, we worked 

on innovations from crystallization, to wafers and cells, through to module production.

24

TECHNOLOGIESCUSTOMERS‘ NEEDS

SALES AND 
MARKETING

PRODUCT 
MANAGEMENT

TECHNOLOGY  
MANAGEMENT

PRODUCTS

In-house research and development is the basis for the credible and independent value proposition of the SolarWorld 

brand. Our innovation approach focuses on the customer (“Science2Customer” principle). Based on their observations, 

SolarWorld’s product management and marketing teams forecast scenarios for the expected development of the solar 

market and customer needs. A product roadmap is derived from this. In turn, SolarWorld Innovations GmbH at the 

Freiberg site uses the product roadmap to draw up a technology roadmap. This guides them in developing and provid-

ing the technologies that fulfill the product requirements so that the products can ultimately be manufactured. 

At the beginning of 2013, SolarWorld created the new Global Product Management department, establishing a key 

interface between sales, research and development, and production.
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PERC TECHNOLOGY ACHIEVES SUBSTANTIAL ADDITIONAL MODULE OUTPUT GAINS. We enhanced the performance of 

our monocrystalline modules once again in 2013. In contrast to conventional modules providing 240 

to 260 Wp, we already offer our customers modules with an output of 265 to 275 Wp. We achieved this 

increase mainly due to PERC cell technology.  Glossary  SolarWorld implemented this 

technology in monocrystalline production in the U.S. at the end of 2012. We are the first manufacturer 

in the world using this technology to produce a large volume of solar cells.

In 2013, SolarWorld Innovations GmbH was already working on the second generation of PERC 

modules. In pilot production, we were able to increase output to more than 300 Wp. TÜV Rheinland 

has certified these modules with an output of 306 Wp. This equals the world record for standard- 

format PERC modules with 60 cells.

CUSTOMER-ORIENTED SYSTEM SOLUTIONS ENHANCED. Self-consumption of self-generated solar power is an 

important trend. Therefore, in 2013, our product management team continued to focus on intelligent 

solutions that enable customers to generate solar power for their own self-consumption requirements. 

This included developing the Suntrol eManager – an integrated hardware and software solution that 

helps our customers increase the proportion of self-generated solar power that they consume them-

selves.

HIGHER PROPORTION OF R&D EMPLOYEES IN THE WORKFORCE. The number of full-time employees at our research 

subsidiary SolarWorld Innovations GmbH remained constant in 2013, while there was a significant 

drop in the number of employees in production and throughout the group as a whole.  Number of 

employees reduced again  Accordingly, the proportion of R&D employees as a percentage of the 

total workforce increased to 5.7 percent.

To further facilitate transfers from research and development into production, SolarWorld Innova-

tions GmbH formed a dedicated new “Integration” department in 2013.
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as at December 31

5.5 % of

1,998 

employees

2009 2012

5.0 % of

2,355 

employees

2013

5.7 % of

2,073 

employees

66
74

98

118 118

3.1 % of

2,376 

employees

2010

3.6 % of

2,701 

employees

2011

* excluding temporary workers and students

FOCUS ON OWN DEVELOPMENTS. In 2013, we continued to develop our essential expertise within our com-

pany. The high priority that SolarWorld gives to proprietary developments is reflected in our exten-

sive and diversified patent portfolio.

26

as at December 31 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Number of registered inventions 28 51 58 71 59

Number of active patent applications n. a. 106 230 226 234

Number of granted active patents n. a. 97 99 113 123

Number of active patent families 87 107 152 173 175

CLOSE LINKS WITH PARTNERS. At our Freiberg production site, our subsidiary SolarWorld Innovations 

GmbH is the hub of a network of machine and system manufacturers, producers of consumables, and 

partners in the research and scientific communities. All in all, SolarWorld Innovations GmbH col-

laborated with 27 scientific institutes, universities and higher education institutions in 2013.
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ACTIVE IN FUNDED PROJECTS. In 2013, SolarWorld Innovations GmbH was involved in nine publicly 

funded projects and three cluster projects. The German federal government’s Photovoltaic Innovation 

Alliance research program played an important role here. Within this framework, SolarWorld Inno-

vations GmbH participated in the “Sonne” research group, which successfully completed three years 

of development activities in December 2013. The project allowed necessary foundations to be put in 

place for enhancing the output and quality of solar modules.

27

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Total R&D expenses (in m€) 12.0 19.2 27.2 49.1 26.5

Sponsored portion (in %) 15.0 11.5 14.5 10.7 27.2

* disclosure excluding the R&D activities of our joint ventures

28 // IN PERCENT

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Research ratio 1.2 1.5 2.6 8.2 5.8

Research intensity 1.2 1.6 1.6 3.4 3.4

[Research ratio = R&D expenses/revenue x 100]; disclosure excluding the R&D activities of our joint ventures 

[Research intensity = R&D expenses/total expenses x 100]; disclosure excluding the R&D activities of our joint ventures
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SolarWorld stands for sustainability. The “green idea” is the basis of our actions. Despite the diffi-

cult state of business, we continued our commitment to the environment and society in 2013; doing so 

is part of our identity and clearly sets SolarWorld apart from its competitors in solar manufacturing 

for all stakeholders.

SolarWorld’s activities center on production, which is why we must address four central topics: en-

ergy, emissions, water, and waste. We have set out to make cuts in these areas and intend to achieve 

these specific goals by 2020 by continuously improving the efficiency of our processes and replacing 

materials that harm the environment. We measure our progress compared to the production unit watt 

peak, in other words, how much energy, emissions, water, and waste we can save per watt peak. Fur-

thermore, we set an absolute emission target for new cars in our vehicle fleet.

29

Unit Base year 2012

Target 2020/ 

percentage 

change

Status 2013/ 

percentage 

change

Energy & climate protection

Groupwide energy consumption kWh/Wp 0.63 0.47

– 25 %

0.59

– 6 %

Cumulated energy demand (life cycle) MJeq /Wp 21.6 18.4

– 15 %

17.8

– 18 %

Groupwide CO2 emissions kg CO2eq /Wp 0.45 0.38

– 15 %

0.31

– 31 %

Global Warming Potential (life cycle) kg CO2eq /Wp 1.3 1.1

– 15 %

1.1

– 15 %

Average CO2 emissions from passenger cars in the 

SolarWorld vehicle fleet (new passenger cars)

g CO2eq /km 152 

(all passenger 

cars)

95

– 38 %

130

– 14 %

Water

Specific volume of water consumption m3/MWp 2,253 2,028

– 10 %

2,958

+ 31 %

Specific volume of waste water m3/MWp 1,738 1,564

– 10 %

2,550

+ 47 %

Waste

Specific volume of waste t/MWp 26.9 24.2

– 10 %

25.5

– 5 %
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Solar power generation replaces other sources in the energy mix, thus helping reduce harmful green-

house gas emissions and preserve fossil resources. Nevertheless, the process for manufacturing our 

products also uses energy. But our products generate far more energy over their life cycle than is 

needed to manufacture them. Likewise, far more greenhouse gas emissions are avoided than are cre-

ated in the entire manufacturing process.

CO2 EMISSIONS. Since the Carbon Disclosure Project Germany was founded in 2005, we have been in-

volved in capturing greenhouse gas emissions. Our group-wide greenhouse gas emissions reduced in 

2013 to 96 (2012: 139) thousand tCO2eq.

30 2 // IN THOUSAND tCO

2009

139

2010

179

2012

139

2011

189

2013

96

Goal 2020: – 15 %,  

in reference to the groupwide emissions in kg CO2eq /Wp

 

We use the life cycle analysis to calculate the global warming potential (GWP) of our products (green-

house gas emissions per production unit, CO2eq/Wp). We take into account emissions from the entire 

production process, including preliminary stages and input factors in the analysis. Our 2013 GWP for 

polycrystalline modules in Freiberg came to 0.64 (2012: 0.75) kg CO2eq/Wp. The balance of system then 

generates an additional 0.17 kg CO2eq/Wp. 

Products from the U.S. have a higher GWP owing to different production processes. Hence our overall  

GWP for 2013 was 1.1 (2012: 1.3) kg CO2eq/Wp.

SolarWorld does not use or emit any nitrogen trifluoride (NF3).
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31 // IN KG CO  / WP

2009 

Freiberg

2010 

Freiberg

0.9*

2011 

Freiberg

0.8

2013 

Freiberg

0.6

2012 

Freiberg

0.8

Goal 2020: – 15 %,  

in reference to Global Warming Potential in kg CO2eq /Wp

2012 

Freiberg 

and U.S.

1.3

2013 

Freiberg 

and U.S.

1.1

PAYBACK TIMES. The energy payback time is the amount of time it takes the solar power plant to produce 

as much energy as was used to manufacture it. Accordingly, the CO2 payback time refers to the time it 

takes to compensate for the greenhouse gases that were emitted during manufacturing. Our calcula-

tions are cradle-to-gate calculations. SolarWorld’s performance progress can be determined from 

the energy and CO2 payback times. 

While it takes one year to compensate for the energy consumption of the entire production process of 

a system in Bonn, Germany (power yield: 940 kWh/kWp), it only takes half a year in San Francisco, 

U.S. (power yield: 1,670 kWh/kWp). By way of comparison, in 2008 the energy payback time was still 

3.5 years according to a study by ESU-services. CO2 emissions are compensated for in a little more 

than one year in San Francisco, while it takes six years in Grenoble, France (power yield: 1,250 kWh/

kWp) due to the high percentage of nuclear power in the French energy mix. These calculations come 

from our life cycle analysis for our solar modules from Freiberg, Germany (not including system com-

ponents), installed on a roof with a southerly orientation and an optimum inclination with an average 

module lifespan of 30 years. An overview of many sites around the world and additional information 

on the calculations is available on our website:  ww.solarworld.de/sustainability //

POSITINVE ENERGY AND CO2 BAL ANCE. Thanks to the volume of solar power modules sold in 2013, an energy 

surplus of 20,116 (2012: 20,625) GWh can be achieved during a lifetime of 30 years. Thereby, some 

8.41 (2012: 8.59) million tCO2eq can be saved. The costs for environmental damage avoided as a result 

total around € 589 (2012: 601) million. The CO2 emissions avoided exceed the CO2 emissions caused 

along the entire production chain by a factor of 14 (2012: factor of 11). Since we have no exact infor-

mation about how and where our modules are installed, our calculations are based on a standardized 

installation in Germany (1,275 kWh/m2).
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32 // IN GWH

2010

2009

586

380

2012* 1,063 20,625

2013* 845 20,116

2011 636 20,592

18,004

11,133

Energy consumed by 

module production

Energy generated by 

 modules sold

Energy consumption compensated Excess energy * Including U.S.

Excess energy

33 // IN M tCO

2012* 0.8 8.6

2013* 0.6 8.4

2011 0.5 8.7

2010 0.4 7.6

2009 0.3 4.7

CO2 emissions by 

module production

Total CO2 emissions avoided by 

 modules sold

CO2 emissions compensated CO2 emissions additionally avoided * Including U.S.

CO2 emissions  

additionally avoided

You can find more information about the respective model assumptions and the calculations under 

 Sustainability in Detail .
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In 2013, the first priority for the HR department was to support the implementation of the operational 

restructuring program. During the year under review, the global SolarWorld Change Program was 

launched. Its purpose is to increase employees’ understanding of the necessary restructuring measures 

in the group. By preparing executive staff and employees for changes in processes and structures, the 

program helps them become actively involved shaping change in their area of work.

Despite all the changes, SolarWorld’s guiding idea is still the same. Because our vision is steadfast, 

it remains the guiding idea for our successful restructuring. 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES REDUCED AGAIN. In 2013, it was again necessary to look for cost savings in all areas 

of the group. This need, combined with additional restructuring measures, resulted in further job cuts 

at our production and sales locations. In other areas, however, we again appointed new people to key 

positions. 

As of December 31, 2013, SolarWorld employed 2,073 (December 31, 2012: 2,355) permanent staff. 

There were also 316 temporary workers, whom we continue to employ on a flexible basis – mainly at 

our production sites – to ensure that our capacities are utilized in line with market conditions. How-

ever, we reduced the number of temporary workers to a minimum back in 2012. When hiring tempo-

rary workers, we rely on our long-standing collaboration with established temporary staffing compa-

nies. In principle, these employees are paid according to collective labor agreements.

As a result of the restructuring measures, in 2013 the group-wide number of employees including 

temporary workers fell around 6.6 percent to 2,389 (2012: 2,558). The attrition rate decreased to 14.6 

(2012: 16.4) percent in 2013.

34 // NUMBER OF PEOPLE 
as at Dezember 31

2013 2012 +/– absolute

Germany 1,447* 1,559** – 112

United States 607 769 – 162

Rest of the world 19 27 – 8

Group 2,073 2,355 – 282

* incl. 50 trainees

** incl. 73 trainees
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LEANER STRUCTURES IN PRODUCTION AND SALES. Far-reaching structural changes aimed at making necessary 

cost savings and increasing efficiency are currently taking place, particularly at our two production 

sites in Freiberg and Hillsboro. At the Freiberg site, the subsidiaries will be merged into one unit by 

mid-2014. Our American sites at Camarillo and Hillsboro will also be merged into one U.S. company. 

In future, sales and production will be jointly managed at the Hillsboro site. Sales activities in Camar-

illo, in greatly reduced form, will then concentrate exclusively on the Californian market. 

In addition, we have shut down crystallization and wafer production at Hillsboro.  Production  

The production closure affected 120 jobs; 61 employees were transferred to other positions.

DEVELOPMENT OF GLOBAL ORGANIZATIONAL UNITS CONTINUED. In 2013, we continued merging local into group-

wide organizational units. This enables us as a group to adapt more flexibly and more efficiently to 

global market movements, and strengthens our competitiveness. Back in 2012, purchasing merged 

into a global unit. Its processes are now more efficient and more cost-effective due to the resulting 

synergies. Subsequently, the purchasing, logistics and planning functions were combined to form the 

organizational unit global supply chain management in 2013.  Global Supply Chain – Procurement 

 p. 056 // The year 2013 also brought integration in the large-scale projects business, which is now 

managed by the Utility Scale Project Business organizational unit. The primary objective in all these 

developments is to further strengthen our international competitive position.

In addition, we strengthened links between our sales subsidiaries SolarWorld Africa and Solar-

World Asia Pacific with our export sales unit.

CHANGE WORKSHOPS L AUNCHED. Following its initiation in 2012, we launched the global Change Program 

at all group locations in 2013 for the successful future management of the extensive restructuring and 

associated changes affecting all departments. Thirty-one specially trained internal change agents, who 

are available to employees as trained advisors, are now supporting structural and process changes in 

all areas of the company. The change agents held a total of 31 change workshops group-wide in 2013 

for top management and executive staff. The workshops helped executive staff develop methods to 

 promote and shape the change process in their teams. With the group vision and strategy setting the 

overall direction, each department formulated its own internal vision and strategy, now to be followed 

by specific action plans. In this way, employees help to shape the change process. Step by step, they 

embrace and implement the necessary new structures.
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STRONG CORPORATE CULTURE SUPPORTS CHANGE PROCESS. Our vision, accompanied by our “green idea”, pro-

vides an important foundation for the implementation of our change program. For many employees, 

our strong corporate culture – built on this vision – is a key motivator when it comes to putting their 

experience and efforts into shaping the global realignment throughout the company. Nevertheless, in 

times of transformation, a strong corporate culture thrives on its willingness to adapt. One of the tasks 

of the change program, therefore, is to foster, reinforce and develop the corporate culture.

SOL ARWORLD VOTED ONE OF THE MOST ATTRACTIVE EMPLOYERS. As before, we can attract new employees when 

we need to fill key positions. In addition, the 2013 employer ranking published by consulting firm Uni-

versum Communications shows that German students still see SolarWorld as an attractive employer. 

Future engineers and natural scientists again voted SolarWorld among the top 100 German employ-

ers.

TALENT MANAGEMENT PROGRAM ENHANCED FOR NEW CAREER GOALS. In 2013, employee support and development 

focused on preparing employees for the changed processes and new requirements. Therefore, we en-

hanced our global talent management program, adapting it for specific career needs. We introduced 

new elements into the talent development program to prepare employees who show distinct technical 

or managerial talent for task areas which were only recently created with the new organizational struc-

tures. In addition to assisting traditional managerial careers, another focus is a support program for 

specialist and project careers, via which we aim to develop new key competences in the company. Here 

experienced executives supervise high-potential employees in an internal mentoring program. As well 

as the training program, we created a platform which allows junior staff to regularly share their expe-

riences with each other.

EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT. In addition to the change program, employees were offered a wide range of 

training opportunities such as language courses and project management seminars. By reducing lan-

guage barriers, we aim to promote intercultural cooperation between our locations. Individual devel-

opment support was provided in the form of 360° feedback. Expenses for training and professional 

development totaled € 0.4 (2012: 0.7) million in 2013.

EMPLOYEE PROFIT-SHARING. So that employees can share in the company’s profits, SolarWorld has estab-

lished a profit-oriented employee participation scheme. However, in 2013, as in the previous year, em-

ployees did not receive any payouts since the targets for shipments, operating result and production 

costs were not met. The long-term plan is to modify the variable salary components and rules. But there 

will still be profit-sharing in the future.
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LOWER NUMBER OF TRAINEES. In view of the market situation, we had to significantly cut back our trainee 

programs during the year under review. We want our training opportunities to offer long-term pros-

pects. Therefore, in connection with the restructuring measures, we decided to concentrate our train-

ing places in 2013 on those areas where there is a foreseeable possibility of subsequently being offered 

a permanent job. This is the case in IT or mechanical careers, for example. In 2013, 25 (2012: 23) 

young people completed their training at our two German sites. Of these, we hired 18 (2012: 21) as 

permanent employees. During the year under review, one of our trainees in Freiberg finished as one 

of the best trainees in process mechanics in Germany. However, a relatively low number of 5 young 

people started training at our Bonn and Freiberg sites in 2013. The trainee ratio in Germany was 3.5 

(2012: 4.7) percent.

SOL ARWORLD APPEALS TO EMPLOYEES IN ALL AGE GROUPS. Young and older employees are well represented at 

SolarWorld. The average age is 41. The sharing of ideas and experience between employees in dif-

ferent age groups helps to optimize our business performance and innovative power. 

The proportion of women in the company remained nearly constant at 23.3 (2012: 23.5) percent. 49 

(2012: 41) women currently work in management positions, a proportion of 19.4 (2012: 17.0) percent. 

CONTACT WITH UNIVERSIT Y RESEARCH AND TEACHING. For a number of years, we have maintained consistent 

contact with students working on theoretical problems in photovoltaics research and development. At 

Freiberg in particular, we engage in extensive dialog with teaching staff and students. We conduct 

joint research projects in the fields of crystallization, wafers and systems, give various lectures for the 

photovoltaics master’s degree program, and are involved in the postgraduate photovoltaics school, 

which we helped set up. Under various research projects, SolarWorld collaborates with many univer-

sities and research institutes in Germany and around the world. In this way, we give students and re-

searchers an insight into industrial processes, and establish a close link between theory and practice. 

In 2013, joint workshops were organized with the University of Konstanz, Fraunhofer ISE in Freiburg, 

Fraunhofer CSP in Halle and the Palo Alto Research Center. SolarWorld has collaborated on a re-

search project with Aalto University in Finland since 2013. SolarWorld is also represented on many 

advisory councils of non-university research institutions. These include Fraunhofer IISB in Erlangen, 

Fraunhofer IKTS in Dresden, and Fraunhofer ISE in Freiburg. 
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HEALTH AND SAFET Y OF EMPLOYEES. Safety is as important to us as the health of our employees. We promote 

improvements in both areas to help avoid accidents and reduce time lost to sickness. The accident rate 

in 2013 was 12.5 (2012: 12.1) per thousand employees. In Freiberg, the corporate health management 

team organizes three health days each year. To maintain our employees’ performance – including with 

regard to demographic change – health courses such as back training, pilates and yoga are offered at 

all sites. We also offer fitness classes, various health check-ups and nutrition courses.

EMPLOYEES INVOLVED IN PROCESS OPTIMIZATION. Constant improvement of our production processes was 

a focus of change measures in 2013. Particularly given the need for cost savings, and following the 

guiding idea of the “green idea”, our employees tracked down incidences of potential waste and loss 

in production. In 2013, 28 teams from production, logistics, the technical service and administration 

were actively involved in the practical implementation of the Total Productive Management (TPM) pro-

cess. Their main focus for the year was the fast, effective and quality-assured roll-out of our newly 

developed products into series production. In this way, they made an active contribution to strength-

ening SolarWorld’s market position. During the year under review, at the Freiberg site in Germany 

alone, our employees identified further potential savings worth around € 2 million. Their commitment 

was acknowledged when external auditors presented SolarWorld with the Silver Award for Opera-

tional Excellence. In addition, at the Freiberg site alone, the company suggestions scheme yielded 

more than 65 proposals in 2013 for minimizing costs as well as improving processes and working con-

ditions.
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In the 2013 financial year, group-wide shipments of solar modules and kits fell by 3 percent to 548 

(2012: 567) MW. Hence, SolarWorld did not achieve its target of increasing shipments in the “Trade” 

segment compared with the previous year. Developments in Germany were the main reason behind 

this. The German solar market shrank by more than half compared with 2012. 16   New solar power 

 installations in Germany  Apart from this general trend, the financial restructuring process 

at SolarWorld AG had a negative impact on the company’s business in Germany. Private customers 

in particular were reluctant to make a purchase because of the uncertain financial position of the 

SolarWorld group. Above all, this particularly affected the market for small and medium-sized roof-

mounted systems and kits. Another reason why SolarWorld AG did not reach its shipment targets 

was because, contrary to plans, it was not able to implement any new large-scale projects owing to the 

restructuring.  Trade

Total group-wide shipments of wafers, solar modules and kits in the 2013 financial year reached 588 

(2012: 608) MW. Our group-wide foreign sales quota rose 14 percentage points to 77 (2012: 63) per-

cent as a result of weak demand in Germany and stable to very dynamic business in our other markets. 

The sharp decline in shipments, especially kits, and the low price level in general caused consolidated 

revenue to fall considerably by 25 percent or € 150.2 million to € 455.8 (2012: 606.0) million. The pro-

portion of foreign revenue in 2013 totaled 70.6 (2012: 50.4) percent.
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36 // IN M€
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Revenue in the “Trade” segment fell much more sharply than shipments. It fell € 146 million to € 436  

(2012: 582) million. Here too, SolarWorld had targeted an increase in 2013 compared with the previ-

ous year. The main reasons for the drop in revenue were the continuing low price level on international 

markets and a lower proportion of kits as opposed to solar modules, compared with the previous year. 

This in turn was due to the substantial decline in shipments in Germany, where in previous years 

SolarWorld always sold a higher than average proportion of kits. Shipments of solar wafers in 2013 

totaled 40.5 (2012: 40.9) MW. Revenue in the “Production Germany” segment, which is primarily 

influenced by our wafer business, fell by € 5 million to € 18 (2012: 23) million. In the “Production 

U.S.” segment, revenue in 2013 amounted to € 1.2 (2012: 1) million.

Group-wide consolidated earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) im-

proved in 2013 by € 56.0 to € – 146.8 (2012: – 202.8) million. EBITDA in the “Trade” segment increased 

by € 96.8 million to € – 57.1 (2012: – 153.9) million. EBITDA in our “Production Germany” and “Produc-

tion U.S.” segments in the past financial year amounted to € – 74.9 (2012: 9.1) million and € – 28.9 

(2012: – 47.1) million respectively. 

The substantial measurement assumptions and premises were reviewed and adapted in the course of 

the updates made to the impairment tests as part of the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal 

year 2012, which was prepared as at January 23, 2014. During the preparation of the consolidated 
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 financial statements for the fiscal year 2013 the substantial measurement assumptions and premises 

were reviewed and adapted again. They did not lead to further impairment losses or reversal of im-

pairments on fixed assets.

Group-wide consolidated earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) improved in 2013 by € 431.6 to 

€ – 188.7 (2012: – 620.3) million. The improvements can partly be attributed to comprehensive restruc-

turing measures to reduce costs. The main reason, however, is that no impairments on fixed assets-

were necessary (2012: – 330) million. In the “Trade” segment, EBIT was € – 59.3 (2012: – 164.7) mil-

lion. This is mainly due to cost reductions in procurement and high write-down on inventories in the 

previous year. We also improved our operating result compared with the previous year in the “Produc-

tion Germany” and “Production U.S.” segments. EBIT increased to € – 97.2 (2012: € – 241.2) million 

and € – 39.9 (2012: – 194.3) million respectively.

The group-wide financial result in 2013 came to € – 76.7 (2012: – 67.5) million.

The consolidated result for the 2013 financial year amounted to € – 228.3 (2012: – 606.3) million. 

In the 2013 financial year, the cost of materials fell 49 percent to € 272.7 (2012: 534.5) million. This 

was primarily due to decreased production, cost cuts through optimization of the group-wide pur-

chasing processes and improvements in the use of materials. The cost of materials ratio amounted to 

74.8 (2012: 98.7) percent.

At the start of the first quarter of 2013, at both SolarWorld production sites in Freiberg and Hills-

boro, we adjusted our production volumes in line with weak demand. At the Freiberg site, reduced 

working hours were implemented in the first quarter of 2013 to safeguard jobs while retaining the 

well-trained core workforce. Mainly as a result of staff cutbacks in the previous year, personnel ex-

penses fell 13 percent or € 17.0 million to € 112.4 (2012: 129.4) million. However, the personnel cost 

ratio increased to 30.8 (2012: 23.9) percent due to decreased overall output.

Depreciation and amortization declined 90 percent or € 375.8 million to € 41.9 (2012: 417.7) million 

due to the recognition of impairment losses at the end of 2012.

Other operating expenses fell by € 61.6 million to € 185.5 (2012: 247.1) million. This reduction results 

in particular from group-wide cost reduction measures in the course of restructuring, especially re-

garding external personnel, maintenance and repair, and marketing. Impairment losses on prepay-

ments amounted to € 76.0 (2012: 88.7) million in the 2013 fiscal year. The need to recognize impair-

ment losses was mainly due to a revaluation of prepayments and repayment claims resulting from 
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 long-term raw materials supply contracts, which became necessary particularly because of an agree-

ment with one of our long-term raw materials suppliers. In 2013, the expense ratio was 50.9 (2012: 

45.8) percent.

Compared with the previous year, other operating income fell by € 107.2 million to € 59.3 (2012: 166.5) 

million. This decrease is primarily due to the previous year’s higher earnings effects from the non- 

fulfillment and termination of long-term supply contracts with wafer customers. Furthermore, revenue 

from the reversal of accrued investment grants was reduced on account of the unscheduled reversal 

at the end of 2012 relating to the impairment tests on fixed assets which were performed as of Decem-

ber 31, 2012.

37 // IN K€

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue 1,012,575 1,304,674 1,044,935 606,394 455,821

Changes in inventories 48,830 8,434 72,054 – 64,666 – 91,925

Own work capitalized 3,117 1,025 14,349 65 542

Other operating income 69,934 100,791 260,499 166,459 59,287

Operating performance 1,134,456 1,414,924 1,391,837 708,252 423,725

Cost of materials – 691,062 – 834,780 – 819,152 – 534,568 – 272,666

Personnel expenses – 99,783 – 126,282 – 138,224 – 129,378 – 112,366

Amortization and depreciation – 63,659 – 88,503 – 452,514 – 417,564 – 41,877

Other operating expenses – 127,127 – 172,607 – 225,805 – 247,066 – 185,480

Operating result 152,825 192,752 – 243,858 – 620,324 – 188,664

Financial result – 21,073 – 44,131 – 59,492 – 67,489 – 76,739

Taxes of income – 72,779 – 61,309 – 5,592 81,522 37,096

Result from discontinued operations  

(after tax) 0 0 1,808 0 0

Consolidated net result 58,973 87,312 – 307,134 – 606,291 – 228,307

38 // IN PERCENT

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Return on sales 

(Consolidated net result/revenue) 5.8 6.7 n. a. n. a. n. a.

Cost of materials ratio 

(Cost of materials/revenue plus changes in inventory 

and own work capitalized) 64.9 63.5 72.4 98.7 74.8

Personnel expenses ratio 

(Personnel expenses/revenue plus changes in inventory 

and own work capitalized) 9.4 9.6 12.2 23.9 30.8
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We align our financial management with the requirements of our operational business in the short and 

medium term, and with our corporate strategy in the long term. Thanks to close contacts with our 

creditors, and following extensive negotiations, we successfully restructured our financial liabilities in 

2013, adjusting them in line with changes in market trends and the company’s development.  Group 

strategic financing

Our main financial instruments consist of bonds and structured loans. Central cash management in-

vests liquidity positions almost exclusively in fixed deposits (day-to-day, weekly and monthly deposits) 

in the public and private German banking sector on a daily basis. Derivative financial instruments are 

used only as hedging instruments.   management 

 p. 202 //

Most of SolarWorld’s international financing instruments mature in 2019. Follow-up financing will 

not be necessary until 2019 at the earliest. An overview of long-term loans and repayment arrange-

ments is provided in the notes, see   .

As compared to December 31, 2012, equity decreased by € 231.7 million to € – 243.1 (December 31, 

2012: – 11.4) million by the end of 2013, which can be attributed in particular to the high consolidated 

loss. As at the balance sheet date, our financial liabilities increased to € 1,022.1 (December 31, 2012: 

1,004.8) million, mainly due to accrued interest. On the cut-off date, 52.2 (December 31, 2012: 53.5) 

percent of our financial liabilities were classified as non-current. 

Investment grants and subsidies recognized in non-current liabilities decreased to € 31.1 (December 

31, 2012: 38.2) million per end of the period. These public funds accrued on the liabilities side of the 

balance sheet are reversed over the period of utilization of subsidized investments through profit or 

loss. 

Other non-current liabilities decreased by € 26.7 million to € 0.3 (December 31, 2012: 27.0) million. 

This was due in particular to the reclassification to other current liabilities of non-current portion of 

customer advances for supply contracts (December 31, 2012: € 26.3 million), which in the previous 

year was shown under the position other non-curent liabilities.
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In the 2013 financial year, we invested a total of € 22.8 (2012: 46.5) million in intangible assets and 

property, plant and equipment. Of this total amount, € 6.0 million concerned wafer production, € 4.8 

million cell production and a further € 0.9 million module production at our German Freiberg site, with 

the result that total investment in the “Production Germany” segment in 2013 amounted to € 11.7 mil-

lion.

Another € 6.5 million were invested in cell and module production at our Hillsboro/U.S. site in the 

“Production U.S.” segment. Investment in the “Trade” segment amounted to € 1.8 million. We in-

vested € 1.7 million in our research and development entity SolarWorld Innovations GmbH, which 

is part of the “Other” segment.

39 // IN M€

20102009 20122011 2013

23

293

174

216

46

At the cut-off date, liquid funds amounted to € 163.7 (December 31, 2012: 224.1) million and included 

cash and cash equivalents that mainly consisted of day-to-day money and fixed deposits.

Cash flow from operating activities in 2013 amounted to € 17.3 (2012: – 47.2) million.

Cash flow from investment activities amounted to € – 23.9 (2012: 13.0) million. This is attributable 

almost completely to investments in fixed assets. 
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Cash flow from financing activities amounted to € – 52.2 (2012: – 294.7) million on the cut-off date and 

consists almost entirely of interest payments made at the start of the year, in particular for the two 

outstanding bonds.

SolarWorld group failed to meet agreed covenants at December 31, 2012, with the result that certain 

creditors of borrowed funds in a nominal amount of € 404.5 million (mostly from issued assignable 

note loans) in principle had an extraordinary right to demand early redemption. At this point, we en-

tered into negotiations with the creditors of the financing agreements in question. In a restructuring 

agreement, these creditors refrained from exercising their rights to demand early redemption and de-

ferred their principal and interest claims.  

40 // IN M€

Cash and cash 

equivalents at 

end of period

Changes in currency 

exchange rates

Cash flow from  

financing activities

Cash flow from  

investment activities

Cash flow from  

operating activities

Cash and cash 

equivalents at 

beginning of 

period

224

17 – 24

– 52

– 2 164

41 // IN K€

Capital 31/12/09 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12 31/12/13

Equity 865,462 914,372 614,391 – 11,409 – 243,084

Non-current liabilities 1,119,411 1,340,349 1,339,273 634,669 600,023

Current liabilities 232,177 341,637 282,108 568,970 574,896

Total 2,217,050 2,596,358 2,235,772 1,192,230 931,835
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42 // IN PERCENT

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Return on equity

(Consolidated net income/equity) 6.8 % 9.5 % n. a. n. a. n. a.

ROCE (key date)

(EBIT/Capital Employed*) 13.7 % 14.4 % n. a. n. a. n. a.

First degree liquidity 

(Liquid funds + other financial assets/current liabilities) 2.2 2.1 2.1 0.7 0.4 

Second degree liquidity

(Liquid funds + means available on short notice/ 

current liabilities) 3.2 2.6 2.8 0.8 0.5

Third degree liquidity 

(Current assets/current liabilities) 4.3 3.6 4.1 1.2 0.8

*  Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment less investment subsidies plus net current assets excluding financial means  

and financial liabilities

As compared to December 31, 2012, SolarWorld group’s total assets decreased by € 260.4 million to 

€ 931.8 (December 31, 2012: 1,192.2) million.

Non-current assets decreased by € 18.0 million to € 483.0 (December 31, 2012: 501.0) million. Partic-

ularly as a result of the sale of two projects in the United States, our inventories (excluding short-term 

advance payments made) decreased by € 109.6 million to € 102.2 (December 31, 2012: 211.8) million. 

This was also the main reason for the reduction in working capital by € 101.2 million to € 133.6 (De-

cember 31, 2012: 234.8) million. Receivables fell by € 6.7 million to € 48.9 (December 31, 2012: 55.6) 

million and trade payables decreased by € 15.1 million to € 17.5 (December 31, 2012: 32.6) million. 

Advance payments made on short notice rose to € 17.0 million (December 31, 2012: 10.7) million and 

income tax credits increased € 0.3 million to € 1.4 (December 31, 2012: 1.1) million.
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43 // IN K€

Assets 31/12/09 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12 31/12/13

Non-current assets 1,211,471 1,364,377 1,068,447 501,001 483,003

Current assets 1,004,743 1,231,981 1,167,326 689,917 441,800

Assets held for sale 836 0 0 1,312 7,032

Total assets 2,217,050 2,596,358 2,235,773 1,192,230 931,835

Non-current assets Current assets

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009
55 % 45 %

53 % 47 %

48 % 52 %

48 % 52 %

42 % 58 %

44 // IN PERCENT

31/12/09 31/12/10 31/12/11 31/12/12 31/12/13

Equity ratio

(Equity/total assets) 39.0 % 35.2 % 27.5 % n. a. n. a.

Investment intensity

(Non-current assets/total assets) 54.6 % 52.5 % 47.8 % 42.0 % 51.8 %

First degree equity-to-fixed assets ratio

(Equity/non-current assets) 0.7 0.7 0.6 n. a. n. a.

Second degree equity-to-fixed assets ratio

(Equity + non-current liabilities/ 

non-current assets) 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.2 0.7

Off balance sheet financial instruments have no impact on the group’s asset position.

The group had no assets not shown in the balance sheet as at December 31, 2013.
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FINANCIAL RESTRUCTURING SUCCESSFULLY COMPLETED. On January 13, 2014, the Cologne Higher Regional 

Court approved the applications for summary judgments which SolarWorld AG filed in October 2013. 

As a result, it was possible to implement the noteholders’ and shareholders’ resolutions that were ad-

opted in August 2013. Furthermore, in January 2014, all creditor groups and noteholder representa-

tives as well as the new investor Qatar Solar S.P.C. signed the final restructuring agreement. This 

agreement contains the individual financial restructuring steps and makes them legally binding on all 

parties to the agreement. On January 20, 2014, the capital reduction in the ratio of 150:1 that was ap-

proved by shareholders on August 7, 2013, was entered in the commercial register. On January 27, 

2014, the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority (BaFin) approved the prospectuses for the 

new shares and bonds that were issued as part of the financial restructuring program. On February 

24, 2014, the implementation of the capital increase by contribution in kind for SolarWorld AG was 

entered in the commercial register of the local court of Bonn. As a result, the financial liabilities of 

SolarWorld AG were reduced from around € 1 billion by € 570 million to € 427 million and the fi-

nancial restructuring which began in January 2013 was completed. Finally, Qatar Solar Technolo-

gies Q.S.C. has provided us with a loan of € 50 million.

After issuing 14,151,200 new shares from the contribution in kind amounting to a total of € 570 mil-

lion less expenses resulting from the reversal of deferred taxes on tax loss carryforwards of around 

€ 114 million, the carrying amount of equity after implementing the capital increase is € 212 million. 

This does not take account of other effects resulting from business operations since January 1, 2014.
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45

in k€
Non-current and current 

financial liabilities Equity Total assets

As at Dec. 31, 2013 1,022,137 – 243,084 931,835

Debt to equity swap (closing) – 569,877 569,877 0

Repayment immediately after closing – 33,181 0 – 33,181

Deferred taxes (projected) 0 – 114,701 – 114,701

Super Senior Facility 50,000 0 50,000

As at Feb. 24, 2013 469,078 212,092 833,953

The capital stock of SolarWorld AG was increased from € 744,800.00 by € 14,151,200.00 to 

€ 14,896,000.00. It is now divided into 14,151,200 no-par value shares to which a pro-rata amount of 

the capital stock of € 1.00 per share is attributed (new shares, ISIN: DE000A1YDED6), and 744,800 

no-par value shares to which a pro-rata amount of the capital stock of € 1.00 per share is attributed 

(old shares, ISIN DE000A1YCMM2).

The new no-par value shares have a full entitlement to participate in profits only as of January 1, 2014. 

They were listed on the stock exchange on March 5, 2014. After SolarWorld AG holds its next Annual 

General Meeting (AGM), which is expected to be on May 30, 2014, the new shares will be listed to-

gether with the old shares as ISIN DE000A1YCMM2.

EXERCISE OF ACQUISITION RIGHTS. Within the acquisition period of February 3 to 21, 2014, noteholders in 

each case made use of more than 80 percent of their rights to acquire new shares and notes of the new 

secured bonds. New shares and notes of the new secured bonds for which noteholders did not exercise 

their acquisition rights were offered to existing noteholders and entitled existing shareholders of 

SolarWorld AG for additional subscriptions. 

Applications for additional purchases of the notes of the new secured bonds were allotted the full 

amount of the respective order. The allocation price was € 265.00 for each note of the new secured 

bond SolarWorld FRN IS. 2014/2019 series 1116 (ISIN DE000A1YDDX6) and € 316.73 for each note 

of the new secured bond SolarWorld FRN IS. 2014/2019 series 1017 (ISIN DE000A1YCN14).

The remaining new shares were several times over-subscribed, which meant that each application 

could only be allocated 50 shares plus just over 10 percent of the order volume above that amount. The 

allocation price was € 12.50 per share.
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SHAREHOLDERS´ STRUCTURE SUBSTANTIALLY REVISED. Implementing the financial restructuring program 

caused fundamental changes in the shareholder structure of SolarWorld AG. The strategic investor 

Qatar Solar S.P.C. acquired a stake of 29.00 percent in the new capital stock of SolarWorld AG. Itom 

Investment S. à r.l., a company formed specifically to handle the technical implementation of the finan-

cial restructuring, reported to us that it held 22.05 percent of the voting rights in SolarWorld AG as 

of March 12, 2014. Furthermore, the share of voting rights held by CEO Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck on 

the cut-off date March 12 was 19.78 percent. 19.52 percent of voting rights are held indirectly by the 

controlled companies Solar Holding Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH and Eifelstrom GmbH and are at-

tributable to Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck pursuant to § 22 (1) Sentence 1 No. 1 WpHG. 46  Shareholders´ 

structure after financial restructuring

In the course of issuing the new SolarWorld shares, the company received numerous voting rights 

announcements pursuant to §§ 21, 25 and 25a WpHG, which SolarWorld AG immediately published 

in accordance with § 26 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG). All publications can be ac-

cessed on the website of the ad-hoc notification service dgap at  www.dgap.de //.

In addition, SolarWorld AG published several notifications of directors’ dealings pursuant to § 15a 

of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG), which took place after the cut-off date December 31, 

2013. The corresponding information is provided on the company’s website at  www.solarworld.de/

en/directors-dealings //. 47  Directors’ Dealings pursuant to § 15a WpHG

46

A // Dr.-Ing E. h. Frank Asbeck (held directly)  0.26 %

B // Dr.-Ing E. h. Frank Asbeck (held indirectly)  19.52 %

C // Qatar Solar S.P.C.   29.00 %

D //  SolarWorld AG (treasury stock)   0.04 %

E //  Itom Investment S. à r.l.   22.05 % 

F // Free Float   29.13 %

A
B

C

D

E

F

2013
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47 a p

Communicator

Date of 

trans-

action

Date of 

notifi-

cation

Kind of 

trans-

action Financial instrument Quantities Location

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 08/01/14 14/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share 

(DE0005108401) 812,886

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 09/01/14 14/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share 

(DE0005108401) 1,402,352

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 10/01/14 14/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share 

(DE0005108401) 635,396

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 13/01/14 14/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share 

(DE0005108401) 1,252,543

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 14/01/14 14/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 1,850,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 15/01/14 21/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 1,762,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 16/01/14 21/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 1,736,829

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 17/01/14 21/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 2,429,400

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 20/01/14 21/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 2,000,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 21/01/14 21/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 1,200,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 22/01/14 27/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 1,300,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 23/01/14 27/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 2,400,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 24/01/14 27/01/14 Sale

SolarWorld share  

(DE0005108401) 2,000,000

Xetra, 

Stuttgart

 

Event on Jan. 27, 2014:  Technical implementation of capital reduction at a ratio of 150:1 –  

Renaming of former SolarWorld share to ISIN DE000A1YCMM2

Event on Feb. 24. 2014:  Commercial registration of implementation of capital increase – 

Issuing of new shares of SolarWorld AG ISIN DE000A1YDED6

 

Solar Holding Beteili-

gungsgesellschaft mbH 

(controlled by CEO) 24/02/14 28/02/14 Purchase

new SolarWorld share 

(DE000A1YDED6) 2,904,720

off- 

market

Eifelstrom GmbH 

(controlled by CEO) 28/02/14 06/03/14 Purchase

new SolarWorld share 

(DE000A1YDED6) 1,499

off- 

market

Solar Holding Beteili-

gungsgesellschaft mbH 

(controlled by CEO) 28/02/14 06/03/14 Purchase

new SolarWorld share 

(DE000A1YDED6) 1,499

off- 

market

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

(CEO) 28/02/14 06/03/14 Purchase

new SolarWorld share 

(DE000A1YDED6) 11,339

off- 

market

Philipp Koecke (CFO) 28/02/14 06/03/14 Purchase

new SolarWorld share 

(DE000A1YDED6) 8,000

off- 

market
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TRADE VOTE AGAINST UNFAIR COMPETITION IN THE UNITED STATES. On February 14, 2014, the International Trade 

Commission (ITC) made unanimous affirmative preliminary determinations that the solar industry in 

the United States continues to be injured by imports from China and Taiwan as a third country. Solar-

World Industries America Inc. had filed cases against illegal trade practices on December 31, 2013. 

The determination by ITC is the first of four steps in a procedure, which could lead to an extension of 

duties imposed in 2012.  International trade conflicts

PRODUCTION LINES ACQUIRED FROM BOSCH SOL AR ENERGY AG. On March 12, 2014, as planned, SolarWorld 

Industries-Thüringen GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of SolarWorld AG, acquired cell and 

module production assets from Bosch Solar Energy AG in Arnstadt, Thuringia. SolarWorld Indus-

tries-Thüringen GmbH will employ around 800 people when production begins in mid-March 2014. 

The acquisition increases production capacities at the cell and module stages of the value chain, and 

strengthens the group’s technological foundation.  Future development in production

The management of SolarWorld AG rates the economic position of the group as difficult. This assess-

ment is based on the earnings, financial and asset position resulting from the consolidated financial 

statements for 2013 as outlined above, and ongoing business trends in 2014 at the time of drawing up 

this Group Management Report. Although the financial restructuring of SolarWorld AG was closed 

on February 24, 2014, the position of the group is to be considered challenging because the consolida-

tion of the solar industry is not over yet and it cannot be ruled out that difficulties arise in the imple-

mentation of the planned operational restructuring measures.
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An opportunity and risk management system is necessary to enable the prompt identification and 

analysis of risks and as far as possible the proactive introduction of counter-measures. It is equally 

important to identify and exploit market opportunities at an early stage. Thus a strong opportunity 

and risk management system helps to safeguard the group’s ongoing existence in the long term and 

enhance corporate value.

Based on the corporate strategy, the Management Board defines the essential features of the risk pol-

icy and manages the company accordingly. Group controlling, which is responsible for global opportu-

nity and risk reporting, together with local risk managers supports the Management Board in assess-

ing the probability of occurrence and effect on earnings of major opportunities and risks. One particu-

lar purpose of the opportunity and risk management system is to identify risks that could in principle 

threaten the continued existence of the company. Taking into account the acceptable overall risk level, 

the Management Board assesses all options available to the company to counteract the risks identified 

as being a threat to the company’s survival. The Supervisory Board is involved in an advisory capacity 

in all decisions concerning fundamental structural measures. The measures to be introduced are de-

fined, implemented and controlled with the involvement of the Management Board, group controlling 

and local business management as well as risk managers. Insurance policies are taken out for the pur-

pose of risk management where possible and economically justifiable. 

All fully consolidated companies in the SolarWorld group are included in the opportunity and risk 

management system. Responsibility for identifying and monitoring risks primarily resides locally with 

managers in the first and second management levels. They are assisted by local risk managers, who 

produce monthly opportunity and risk management reports for group controlling. This reporting is 

prepared taking materiality limits into account in respect of the impacts of opportunities and risks. In 

the case of risks and opportunities which are considered to have a highly material potential impact, 

reporting takes place immediately and directly to the Management Board.
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48
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Local reports are made available to the Management Board by group controlling in consolidated form. 

In addition, the Management Board is continuously informed about current market trends and receives 

regular competitor analyses. In Management Board meetings, this market and competitor information 

is considered, material opportunities and risks are discussed, trends and measures to be implemented 

are examined.  Strategic group management  

The objective of the internal control and risk management system with regard to the (group) account-

ing process is to make sure that accounting is uniform and in line with legal requirements, generally 

accepted accounting principles, the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as to be 
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applied in the European Union, and internal group guidelines so as to provide recipients of the consol-

idated financial statements with true and reliable information. To this end, SolarWorld AG has prin-

ciples, processes and measures in place whose essential characteristics can be described as follows:

Within the SolarWorld group, there is a clear-cut management and enterprise structure in which the 

various group companies enjoy a large measure of independence and individual responsibility. Based 

on this structure, however, the functions of finance and accounting, controlling, and investor relations 

essential to the accounting process are controlled throughout the group by corresponding departments.

The functions and responsibilities of finance and accounting, controlling, and investor relations are 

clearly separated and allocated mutual control processes that ensure a continuous exchange of infor-

mation.

The basis of the internal control system is provided by precisely defined preventive and monitoring 

control mechanisms such as systematic and manual coordination processes, predefined approval pro-

cesses, the separation of functions, and adherence to guidelines.

The financial systems used are protected against unauthorized access by appropriate installations in 

the IT system. We use standard software wherever possible.

Uniform accounting is guaranteed in particular by accounting guidelines that apply groupwide and by 

a standardized reporting format. The guidelines and the reporting format are regularly reviewed and 

updated by members of the group accounting department.

Group companies prepare their financial statements locally and communicate these in the prescribed 

format to group accounting. The companies themselves are responsible for adherence to group ac-

counting guidelines as well as the proper and timely management of all accounting-related processes 

and systems. In this context they are fully supported by group accounting throughout the entire ac-

counting process.

Adherence to the accounting guidelines as well as the time and process requirements are monitored 

by group accounting. In addition to systems technology controls, manual controls and analytical audit 

procedures are in place. Here, the appropriate control environment is taken into consideration as much 

as the relevance of certain accounting facts regarding the contents of the financial statements.

Group accounting acts as the central point of contact for special technical questions and complex 

accounting issues. If required, external experts (auditors, qualified accounting specialists, etc.) will 

be consulted.
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On the basis of data supplied by the group companies, consolidation takes place centrally in group 

accounting. In general, as a minimum, the principle of dual control applies at every level.

Independently of group accounting, a monthly analysis of target/actual and actual/actual deviations is 

carried out by group controlling, as a result of which an examination of major or implausible changes 

takes place at an early point in time.

The task and objective of risk management with regard to financial instruments is to continually moni-

tor market, liquidity and default risks and limit them if necessary by means of operational and finan-

cial measures. Rules and regulations have been established to control the use and handling of finan-

cial instruments, thus ensuring that no material financial transactions can take place without consult-

ing the Management Board of SolarWorld AG. Risk monitoring is the responsibility of the respective 

boards and managing directors of the subsidiaries, who directly report existing and newly emerging 

financial risks to the Management Board of SolarWorld AG.

Derivatives are also used alongside financial instruments as a way of controlling financial risks. Deriv-

ative financial instruments are used exclusively for hedging purposes and not for trading or specula-

tive purposes. Financial risks such as price, currency, and interest rate risks arising from our interna-

tional business operations are countered by means of framework agreements, deadlines and hedges. 

We also refer to the following information on the respective individual risks and the disclosures in the 

notes.  Note 64b Principles and objectives of financial risk management  

Legend:

Risk assessment Time horizon of effects

 Up versus previous year short-term one to three years

 Down versus previous year medium-term three to five years

 Flat versus previous year long-term more than five years
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Preliminary note: For the purposes of risk analysis and the disclosed counter-measures, we do not 

distinguish between the reportable operative segments “Production Germany” and “Production U.S.” 

in our in-house production, except in the case of risk factors which need to be assessed differently by 

region. Counter-measures may serve to reduce the risk  reduce, transfer the risk to third parties 

 transfer, e. g. by taking out insurance, or consciously assume the risk  assume.

49

Risks

1.  Sovereign debt crisis and/or recession: Tighter financing terms and instable economic conditions; lower private consump-

tion, increased inflation risk

2.  Falling domestic electricity prices: Delays in solar power becoming competitive/reaching grid parity; slowdown in tapping 

new markets

Probability

1.  High: The existing levels of national debt in the euro area may further threaten the stability of the euro. This could nega-

tively influence the economic and financial position. Restrictive fiscal policy could slow down the economy and reduce the 

private sector’s propensity to invest. Overall, we expect continued high risk with regard to tighter financing terms. In the 

short term, credit bottlenecks could occur for large-scale investment projects and especially for project financing.

2.  Low: Since falling costs of primary sources of energy were hardly passed on to customers in the past, and energy prices are 

expected to tend to rise in the future due to the further increase in energy demand, we assess the risk as low.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  Medium, short-term to long-term: A decline in demand by end customers might have a medium effect on our group reve-

nue and earnings. Large-scale projects would be worst affected by a tougher financing environment.

2.  Medium, medium-term: Over the medium term, domestic electricity prices will impact on our business since end custom-

ers may choose between self-produced solar power or power from a utility company, i. e. the electricity generation costs of a 

solar power system are compared with domestic electricity prices.

Counter-measures

 Our internationalization strategy helps us spread the risk of a decline in consumption among various regional 

 markets  reduce. By offering a diversified range of products, we appeal to various customer groups in order to spread the 

financing risk and compensate for shifts in demand  reduce.  Future sales markets

 Ongoing cost reductions and efficiency enhancements along the entire value chain have already enabled 

us to undercut domestic electricity prices in a number of markets, and we continue to get closer elsewhere  assume. 
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Risks

1.  Changes in laws promoting solar power: Slower market growth due to a reduction in or even abolition of financial incen-

tives in individual countries

2.  EEG levy exemptions: Risk of subsequent payments due to the ongoing formal investigation procedure of the German 

Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) by the EU Commission

Probability

1.  High: Economic incentives for solar power are discussed time and again by policymakers in important sales markets such 

as Germany, the United States, Italy and France. Further changes to legislation can be expected in these countries in 2014. 

For example, the new German government coalition once again intends to amend the Renewable Energy Sources Act. Over-

all, government financial incentives for solar power will be further reduced.  The future solar power market

2.  Low: The German federal government does not assume a violation of EU state aid legislation and would lodge an appeal 

against a different decision by the EU Commission.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  High, short-term to medium-term: Declines in demand due to changes in the regulatory framework in individual regions 

may temporarily have a negative impact on our revenue and earnings. As long as grid parity has not been achieved in indi-

vidual markets, SolarWorld will be exposed to this risk.

2.  Medium, long-term: If the EU Commission concluded that the exemptions for electricity-intensive enterprises violates the 

EU state aid legislation, the German subsidiary Deutsche Solar GmbH will possibly be obliged to pay back up to a two-

digit million amount.

Counter-measures

 We spread this risk across several markets by means of our international presence  reduce.  Future sales markets 

 Continuous cost reductions and efficiency enhancements facilitate faster achievement of grid parity and thus 

progressive independence from incentives with long-term competitive pricing  assume. 

 We engage in dialog with politicians and society, are active in several industrial associations and are commit-

ted at a socio-political level to increasing the percentage of photovoltaics in the energy supply  assume.
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 Risks

Technological breakthrough or sharp cost reductions in alternative solar power technologies: Risk of substitution for 

 crystalline technologies

Probability

Low: Due to current silicon price levels, few manufacturers of alternative solar power technologies have cost benefits versus 

crystalline manufacturers. This particularly applies to the roof-mounted systems market as alternative solar power technolo-

gies only have low module efficiency, making optimum use of limited roof space more difficult.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

Medium, long-term: Successful competitors might reduce our market share and increase price competition, thus placing 

stronger pressure on margins. This might adversely affect our revenue and earnings.

Counter-measures

 Ongoing investments in research and development to enhance efficiency and optimize costs  assume.

 Regular, analytical observation of the development of alternative technologies in the market  reduce. 

 Opportunity and risk management system
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Risks

Intensification of competitive pressure: Continuation of consolidation at all stages of the value chain in the solar industry; 

increased competition from state-sponsored manufacturers; unfair pricing practices; excess capacities; dumping 

Probability

Medium: The consolidation wave is slowing down, but the competitive pressure persists and could prevent a lasting stabiliza-

tion of sales prices. In spite of the legal measures in the EU and the U.S. (countervailing duties and undertaking concerning 

minimal prices) against the infringements of international trade law, the danger of unfair competition still exists. It rises as 

competitors sell below production costs on a long-term basis to drive competitors out of the market  The future solar power 

market

Effect (strength, time horizon)

High, medium-term to long-term: Loss of market share, failing profitability and increased negative margin trends due to 

unfair trade practices and stronger international price competition may weigh down revenue and earnings. The longer the 

consolidation of the solar industry continues in such a way, the more difficult it is for companies to implement successful 

 measures to restore business profitability. 

Counter-measures

 Differentiation of our products through innovation, quality, service and design  reduce; customer retention programs 

 reduce.  Brand and marketing

 Legal steps to guard against dumping and unfair competition by Chinese solar manufacturers in Europe  assume. 

 International trading disputes

 Strategic alliances and acquisitions to reach synergy effects and thus to strengthen the market position of the group 

 transfer.  Production lines acquired from Bosch Solar Energy AG

 Optimization of production along the entire value chain to improve our cost structure; research and 

development  assume 

 Measures to make capacity utilization more flexible  reduce  Future development in production
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Risks

1.  Varying opinions in regard to the fulfillment of long-term silicon contracts: Silicon manufacturers insist on fulfillment of 

unfavorable purchase terms from older long-term contracts; supplier relationships could be burdened.

2.  Costs of purchasing other raw materials (silver, copper, aluminum, etc.) on the rise: Higher procurement costs, strong 

speculative fluctuations – particularly for silver, aluminum and copper, inaccurate hedging for forward transactions

3.  Deterioration of procurement conditions: Suppliers could reduce their payment terms/credit limits for SolarWorld, or 

only deliver after advance payments.

Probability

1.  High: According to external legal opinions, these long-term silicon supply contracts violate EU anti-trust laws and are more 

likely than not null and void. Therefore, SolarWorld intends to demand the return of the prepayments and/or to achieve 

consensus-based commercial solutions. 

2.  High: A rise in the international demand for raw materials in all industries could cause raw material prices to rise.

3.  Medium: Owing to SolarWorld’s uncertain economic position in 2013, some suppliers were unable to insure receivables 

from companies in the SolarWorld group. This caused some suppliers to reduce their credit limits and payment terms for 

SolarWorld, or only make deliveries subject to advance payment. After completion of the financial restructuring, the prob-

ability that this occurs has decreased. It can be expected that SolarWorld is able to agree on usual payment terms with its 

suppliers because of its improved balance sheet structure.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  High, short-term to medium-term: As a rule, our silicon supply contracts are take-or-pay contracts. However, the company 

assumes that these contracts are null and void and that claims for restitution in regard to these prepayments exist. Never-

theless, a partial or a total loss of the prepayments or further claims for damages cannot be completely excluded if the com-

pany cannot agree with its suppliers or courts make different assessment.

2.  High, short-term: Higher prices for other raw materials could negatively impact earnings and margins.

3.  Medium, short-term: Temporary lockup of liquid funds. Deliveries subject to advance payment could mean that the Solar-

World group has to bear the corresponding supplier’s risk of default, defective performance or non-performance. 

Counter-measures

 Expansion of our supplier networks and maintenance of our good, long-term supplier relationships; 

renegotiations with suppliers; flexibilization of purchase terms  assume  Future Development in the Global Supply chain – 

Procurement

 Use of alternative products reduces dependence on individual suppliers  reduce.

 Strategic alliances and acquisitions to reach synergy effects and thus to strengthen the bargaining position with 

 suppliers  assume  transfer  Production lines acquired from Bosch Solar Energy AG
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Risks

1.  Misjudgments concerning future developments: Bad strategic decisions with regard to investments, disinvestments, 

 technology development, location decisions, acquisitions and joint ventures, financing, organizational structure, and 

 business model

2.  Industrial espionage: Loss of intellectual property, technological advantages, patents, etc. as a result of systematic 

 industrial espionage

Probability

1.  High: The solar power industry is currently experiencing rapid market changes and tough competition. In this critical 

 market environment, it is more difficult to design long-term strategies that can also withstand the consolidation phase. 

Owing to the prevailing state of cut-throat competition, market participants are acting in an increasingly irrational and 

unpredictable way. This increases the risk of making wrong strategic decisions. 

2.  High: The strong competitive pressure increases the danger of industrial espionage.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

High, short-term to long-term: Losses of market shares, image, and capital due to wrong strategic decisions might erode the 

group’s economic position further. Lack of acceptance of new products might impact on our revenue and earnings. Loss of 

intellectual property might diminish our pioneering role and mean the loss of competitive advantages. Bad decisions could 

threaten the company’s survival. 

Counter-measures

 Make use of external consultants  reduce  transfer

 Strategic alliances to diversify the investment risk  transfer  assume

 Production-related research and development activities, and cooperation schemes with universities and research 

centers  reduce 

 Identify market trends by means of market analyses in all business segments and long-term relation with 

 customers, suppliers and political decision-makers  reduce  assume 

 Stricter security precautions, particularly in IT  reduce

 More global orientation of structures and functions in the group; exchange best practices between individual 

group locations  assume 



097

SOL A RWORLD 2013 RISK REP ORT

55

Risks

Insolvency of individual customers: Loss of receivables outstanding

Probability

Low: Under the effects of the consolidation wave, the majority of our wafer customers have now pulled out of the market or 

terminated their contracts with us. Our customers in the “Trade” segment are mainly wholesalers, who are not affected by the 

solar industry crisis. Therefore, we assess the general risk of bad debt loss in this area to be low. 

Effect (strength, time horizon)

Low, short-term: Any contractual default or non-performance of payment obligations by our wafer customers now could only 

have a limited negative impact on earnings and liquidity. The loss of receivables from individual customers in the “Trade” seg-

ment would only have a small impact on our business as we have a very broad customer base and none of our customers 

accounts for more than 10 percent of our revenue.

Counter-measures

 Ongoing monitoring and analysis of receivables and selective conclusion of credit insurance policies 

 reduce  transfer

 Cash in advance and down-payment arrangements  reduce

 Spread risk across a wide customer base of more than 1,200 customers, including international system integrators, 

specialized wholesalers and installers  reduce
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Risks

1.  Continuing or further increases in price pressure and supply surplus: Lower demand for our products

2.  Large-scale projects remain unsold after completion: Cash is tied up long-term.

Probability

1.  High: Price pressure in the market may intensify as a result of competition and changes in the legal framework in core 

 markets. Less favorable funding and financing conditions for purchasing solar power systems could lead to drops in demand 

on the market. Customers could decide to buy products from competitors

2.  Medium: The profitability of large-scale projects remains at an attractive level with constantly falling production costs for 

solar power, higher quality of planning and technology in solar farms, and continuing low interest rates with a lack of 

 lucrative alternative investment options for investors. Focusing more on international markets, we expect stable demand 

for solar projects. However, investors may withdraw their investment commitment during construction. 

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  High, short-term: If less than the agreed volumes of our products are purchased or if prices fall drastically, this could mean 

that we continue to be unable to sell our products at a cost-covering price. Furthermore, impairments on inventories may 

be necessary, which would adversely affect earnings. Not only could a steep drop in demand diminish revenue, it could also 

result in a lower utilization of our production that negatively impacts unit costs as well as margins and affect the intrinsic 

value of the production facilities. It could also increase our storage costs.

2.  High, short-term to medium-term: Large-scale projects that remain unsold after construction would tie up liquid funds. In 

a worst case scenario, these parks would have to be carried as assets in our balance sheet. Owing to the current tight liquid-

ity situation in the group, any longer-term lockup of liquid funds could seriously limit the company’s ability to act. 

Counter-measures

 Identify changing customer needs at an early stage and target them specifically with new products  assume; 

enhance the value added of the SolarWorld brand; increase customers’ loyalty to the company and affirm their decision to 

buy from SolarWorld  assume

 Spread risk across a wide customer base of more than 1,200 customers, including international system integrators, 

specialized wholesalers and installers  reduce.

 Keep unsold large-scale projects as own inventory and generate revenue from electricity production; sell at a later 

point in time  assume
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 Risks

1.  Non-realization of projects: Large-scale projects are not continued beyond the planning stage. 

2.  Regional shortage of suitable land: Limited availability of land that can be profitably developed in core markets

Probability

1.  Medium: Owing to the current tight liquidity situation in the group, SolarWorld cannot pre-finance large-scale projects 

itself and relies on borrowing. However, this was not possible in 2013 because of the restructuring process. After comple-

tion of the financial restructuring in early 2014, SolarWorld has improved its creditworthiness. However, it could still 

prove difficult to find financing opportunities – in addition to the general planning risks. 

  Medium: Furthermore, the following prerequisites have to be fulfilled for successful realization of a large-scale project: 

 conclusion of a usage agreement for a suitable piece of land, obtaining the construction permit and the physical construc-

tion of the project. There is a general risk that these prerequisites cannot be fulfilled.

2.  Medium: Depending on the region, subsidy conditions and solar radiation values, the supply of suitable land for the 

 construction of profitable large-scale plants may become limited.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  High, short-term to medium-term: The further the planning process has advanced, the more heavily expenditures resulting 

from abandoning a project would weigh down earnings. Project planning ties up liquid funds in the short to medium term, 

which are therefore not available for the company to use elsewhere. If a project is not fully completed, in addition to start-up 

costs and consequential costs, opportunity costs may be incurred through the provision of funding.

2.  Medium, medium-term: Less favorable location conditions have to be taken into account in the planning and realization of 

new projects, and/or more capital has to be invested to secure suitable sites. This may reduce the profitability of the project 

and therefore lower the sale price. 

Counter-measures

 Careful project management with particular attention to project and financial planning  assume

 Spread risk by developing selected international markets  reduce

  Trade: By forming strategic partnerships, the financial burden of pre-financing projects can be shared between partners 

 transfer  reduce
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Risks

Shortage of highly-skilled technical and executive staff: Difficulties in filling key positions, high employee attrition

Probability

High: The availability of highly qualified technical and executive staff in the labor market is declining, while competition for 

talent is growing. The strong trend toward consolidation in the solar industry negatively affects the solar market’s appeal to 

young people just starting out in their careers or those entering the market from other industries. 

Effect (strength, time horizon)

Medium, medium-term: Potential erosion of our technological edge and slowdown in corporate growth due to a shortage of 

skilled technical staff might adversely affect revenue and earnings

Counter-measures

 Selective, needs-oriented skills development for our existing staff; strengthening our image as an attractive 

employer; implementation of a Change Program to support employees in the operative restructuring  reduce  assume 

 Employees

 Defining deputy roles and powers within the scope of our quality management system  reduce 
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Risks

1.  Disturbances in the operation of IT systems and networks: Endangerment of availability of IT services at international sites

2.  Hacker attacks: Risks by data loss and industrial espionage

 Delays or interruptions due to the implementation process of 

the ERP system

Probability

1.  Medium: Our IT systems undergo regular maintenance and are adapted so that they meet professional, organizational and 

safety-related demands.

2.  High: Attacks on IT infrastructure cannot be influenced by the company. Regular security updates, controls and action plans 

prevent and limit the effects on our operative business. 

3.  Medium: Because of complex IT structures in production and sales, delays and unpredictable interruptions with regard to 

the groupwide implementation to SAP cannot be ruled out.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  Medium, short to medium-term: Interruption of production and workflows might cause productivity losses. 

2.  High, long-term: Industrial espionage and theft of intellectual property could result in the loss of competitive advantages.

3.  High, short to medium-term: Interruptions of the ERP system can lead to interruptions of work and possibly to threats for 

data security and to interruptions in production processes and in the supply chain.

Counter-measures

 Regular investments in updates, software and hardware systems; up-to-date virus scanners and firewalls 

reduce the risk of virus and hacker attacks; certified systems enhance security and reliability; encryption protects our data 

 reduce

 Separation of production and administration IT systems to minimize potential failure risks  reduce

 Regular data backups several times per day  reduce

 Thorough project management for implementation of ERP system  assume
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Risks

1.  Longer-term negative earnings position: Increased outflow of funds; negative operating cash flow

2.  Longer and more extensive capital lockup: Expanding large-scale plant business locks up liquidity.

3. Breach of covenants: Notice of redemption of loan capital

Probability

1. Medium: Ongoing price deterioration and falling shipments could further worsen the earnings position and accelerate the 

outflow of liquid funds from the company.

2.  High: SolarWorld intends to increase its involvement in the large-scale project segment. However, intensification of the 

project business brings the risk of more extensive cash resources being tied up for longer periods of time.

3.  Low: SolarWorld considers the occurance of this risk as low due to the adaptation of the covenants in the context of the 

finacial  restructuring.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  Strong, short-term to medium-term: Ongoing negative operating cash flow could have a strong negative impact on the 

group’s liquidity situation, strongly limiting our ability to act and to pay. If the company is exposed to this situation in the 

longer term, refinancing with borrowed capital would become even more difficult. 

2.  Strong, short-term to medium-term: Any longer and more extensive lockup of cash resources could seriously affect the 

company’s solvency.

3.  Strong, short-term to medium-term: Creditors’ special right of termination, implying the potential need for renegotiation 

of credit agreements.

Counter-measures

 Regular meetings with all of our creditors; closer control of liquidity using active working capital management; 

measures to appraise assets  reduce  assume

  Note 64e Liquidity risks



103

SOL A RWORLD 2013 RISK REP ORT

61

Risks

Currency, interest rate and price risks

Probability

Medium: Due to the procurement of raw materials, in particular in U.S. dollars, and the sale of U.S. products in other currency 

regions, we are exposed to currency risks. As a global player, we are also exposed to interest rate and price risks.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

Medium, long-term: Impact on the financial result of our business operations; thanks to pro-active, regular, careful review of 

our financial instruments, we assess these risks as being medium.

Counter-measures

 Selective use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments  transfer  reduce  Note 64 Capital 

management and financial instruments 201
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Risks

1.  Litigation in connection with notices of redemption for the former notes: Courts could order SolarWorld AG to 

 immediately repay the nominal amounts with interest of those former notes for which noteholders have given notices of 

redemption.

2.  Litigation between silicon suppliers and our subsidiary Deutsche Solar GmbH: Claims for damages resulting from the 

failure to purchase silicon under various silicon supply contracts.

3. Litigation in connection with using brands: Damages payments because a particular brand was used.

 There is a wide range of tax, competition, patent, anti-trust, labor law, trade mark, and environmental 

regulations within the scope of our international business operations, infringement of which may cause costs

Probability

1.  Low: SolarWorld AG considers that the submitted notices of redemption for the existing notes do not take effect, since 

according to external legal opinion, no right to demand early redemption exists in accordance with the note terms and 

 conditions or for good cause. In a first hearing, the Regional Court (Landgericht) Frankfurt am Main also held the view that 

the declared redemption does not take effect because there are no grounds for redemption. However, there is a possibility, 

which cannot be ruled out, that (other) courts may have a different opinion or assume that the European 

2.  Low: According to an external legal opinion, there are anti-trust concerns under European law regarding the underlying 

 silicon contracts, which could mean that the purchasing obligations of Deutsche Solar GmbH are invalid, and possibly that 

the supply contracts are null and void. As a result, according to external legal opinion, the suppliers are not entitled to dam-

age claims. However, there is a possibility, which cannot be ruled out, that courts, especially in foreign countries, may have 

a different opinion or consider European anti-trust legislation not applicabale.

3.  Medium: Due to court decisions, SolarWorld AG is no longer allowed to use a particular brand for photovoltaic systems. 

For the time being, an actual damage has neither been quantified nor made pending in court.

4.  Low: Beyond this, SolarWorld is currently not aware of any material risks from litigation, patent infringement, or other 

legal risks that might significantly impact the business situation of the company. As a result of our global sales presence, 

however, risks could in principle arise in connection with legal disputes relating to trademark usage.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  Low, long-term: If courts should decide, contrary to our opinion, that noteholders have an extraordinary right to demand 

early redemption, SolarWorld would have to repay the redeemed notes at the full nominal amount plus accrued interest. 

This would have a negative impact on the company’s liquidity situation amounting to the nominal value of the notes for 

which notice of redemption has been given.

2.  High, long-term: If courts should decide that silicon suppliers are entitled to damages from our subsidiary Deutsche Solar 

GmbH, this would have a considerable negative impact on the company’s liquidity situation up to threatening its continued 

existence.

3.  High, short-term: Being sentenced to pay damages could have a negative impact on the assets, financial and earnings 

 position of SolarWorld.

4.  Medium, long-term: Litigation might impact on the result of our business operations since it would tie up financial 

resources, jeopardize the company’s reputation and brand, and cause losses of tangible and intangible corporate property.

Counter-measures

 Legal advice from several specialized external legal experts  assume  reduce
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Risks

1.  Guarantee risks: Granting a linear performance guarantee of up to 30 years for solar modules sold by us 

Probability

1.  Low: Based on careful examination of our process and product quality, we assess the risk of claims being made against our 

performance guarantee as low.

2.  Low: Thanks to pro-active regular controls concerning protection against hazards and health as well as safety protection at 

our sites, we assess the probability of these risks as low. 

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  Medium, long-term: Potential negative impact on our earnings, financial and asset position in the event of guarantee claims

2.  Medium, long-term: Production losses, loss of assets, potential claims for damages

Counter-measures

 Risk provisioning in the balance sheet for the company’s guarantee commitment through the formation of a 

provision  assume  

 Securing other risks via comprehensive insurance cover based on conventional concepts  transfer; regular 

review of the extent of insurance cover for risks, based on site inspection  reduce; compliance with legal provisions and 

 voluntary adherence to more far-reaching standards (e. g. ISO 9001 and ISO 14001, codes of conduct)  assume

 Analysis of complaints and improvement of product quality  reduce  assume
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Risks

1.  Environmental risks: Higher insurance premiums due to more frequent storms/fires/drought periods caused by progressive 

climate change; punishment for infringement of environmental laws

2.  Conflicts with stakeholders: For example because of inconvenience caused by noise and light emissions for residents living 

in the direct vicinity of our production sites

Probability

1.  High: Climate experts forecast an increase in extreme weather incidents.

  Low: Fines or compensation payments are less probable since we ensure compliance with standards by means of our 

 environmental management system.

2.  Low: There are many stakeholders with many different needs. By facilitating direct dialog with our stakeholders we reduce 

the probability of conflict.

Effect (strength, time horizon)

1.  Low, medium-term: Potential damage due to more frequent storms/fires or costs in the wake of drought periods and floods 

will not affect us more than other companies.

  Medium, medium-term: Fines or compensation payments might impact on the financial position of our company.

2.  Medium, long-term: Should any serious conflicts with stakeholders arise, this might impact on our company (via damage 

to our image and follow-up costs) over the very long term.

Counter-measures

 Current risks are largely covered by insurance policies  transfer

 Further development of the company’s environmental management system  reduce

 Stakeholder dialog, for instance through discussions with residents at neighborhood meetings and the joint 

preparation of measures, e. g. to reduce noise and light emissions  reduce
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The overall risk position resulting from the combination of individual risks has improved in compari-

son to the previous year, in particular because the financial restructuring was successfully closed on 

February 24, 2014. Nevertheless, the Management Board considers the group’s risk position as high 

especially because competitive pressure as well as price pressure and pressure to reduce costs are 

still strong and the regularatory environment of the solar market might change for the worse. The in-

dividual risks presented above can influence each other and thus worsen the overall risk position of 

the group. Assessing the risk position, we have not taken any opportunities into account. 

The going concern of the company is not endangered at the time of setting up the financial reporting 

at hand. However, the occurrence of the risks presented above would have substantial impacts on the 

assets, financial and earnings position of the SolarWorld group. A failure to fulfill the business plans 

on which the restructuring program is based and/or difficulties concerning the implementation of op-

erative restructuring measures could put a burden on the financial position of the SolarWorld group.
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Despite the industry crisis, 2013 was a year that showed the enormous growth potential of photovol-

taics. Experts predict that solar power will become established as an energy source in nearly every 

region on earth. In addition to mature markets such as Germany and the United States, a series of 

emerging markets will develop. Sarasin Bank expects an average annual growth rate of around 17 per-

cent to the year 2016. 

A decentralized supply using renewable energies, as enshrined in our vision, is becoming possible for 

a broad consumer base – particularly through intelligent combination with other energy sources and 

storage systems. The technology for storing solar power, and thereby optimizing self-consumption, 

will improve still further in the years ahead. This development opens up new prospects for established 

solar markets such as Germany and the United States, but also for countries which do not offer solar 

incentive schemes. Regions with high solar radiation levels are most attractive, as photovoltaics can be 

used particularly cost-effectively in these regions.

The acquisition of cell and module capacities of Bosch Solar Energy AG, which was closed on March 12, 

2014, will enable SolarWorld to add monocrystalline solar cells and 72 cell modules to its portfolio. 

SolarWorld wants to grasp the opportunity to position itself with new products as a premium pro-

vider for solutions that enable customers to use homemade solar power.

SolarWorld plans to position itself more strongly at the end of the value chain, which means that in 

sales we will focus on the market for complete solar power solutions in all size classes. Higher reve-

nues can be realized here than by selling individual components such as modules and wafers. By ac-

quiring the cell and module production of Bosch Solar Energy AG, we plan to take over their custom-

ers, too. This will open new sales channels for our group. In addition, we expect to achieve synergy 

 effects in research and development and to reach a better negotiating position with suppliers by inte-

grating the new production capacities into the group of companies.
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Since March 2011, we have been involved in mining lithium, one of the raw materials used in lithium-

ion batteries, in order to benefit in the future from the high interest in storage systems. We secured 

exploration rights in the eastern Ore Mountains (Zinnwald) on the German-Czech border. This lithium 

deposit is among the ten largest in the world. In this project, we closely work together with TU Ber-

gakademie Freiberg (TUBAF). In this context, on March 31, 2013, we completed a feasibility study, 

which assessed the costs and benefits of exploring and processing the deposit. A second round of 

exploration will be carried out to obtain a better resource estimate for the deposit. SolarWorld will 

also initiate the necessary approval procedures and carry out technological optimization to reduce 

costs. Once this work is complete, talks will be held with potential strategic partners in the second 

quarter of 2014.

We adjusted our procurement structures in fiscal year 2012. In the new delivery contracts, instead 

of negotiating the purchase of absolute quantities, we agreed on supplying a pro-rata portion of our 

material requirements. We are therefore able to extend the flexibilization of our production to our sup-

ply chains and purchasing processes, and realize further savings potential. This will enable us to react 

more quickly to changes in market conditions in a way that is more in line with our needs.  Global 

Supply Chain – Procurement  By selecting the right suppliers and pooling order quantities, we 

will continue to optimize our procurement costs and reduce our bill of materials. Our new procure-

ment structure shall also help to reduce our costs for indirect materials  Future Development in the 

Global Supply Chain – Procurement
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ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT. According to forecasts by the Kiel Institute for the World Economy (IfW), 2014 

will see a strong upturn in the global economy. Even at the start of the new year in 2014, global busi-

ness prospects were noticeably brighter. According to IfW, compared with 2013, global output growth 

should be appreciably higher at 3.7 (2013: 2.9) percent in 2014. The eurozone is likely to emerge from 

recession in 2014. Even in the crisis countries, the economy should gain momentum, although consoli-

dation processes in those countries will continue to weigh on domestic demand. IfW predicts that total 

economic output will increase 0.9 (2013: – 0.4) percent in 2014. 

IfW forecasts a particularly strong performance by Germany. Its economy is on an expansionary tra-

jectory in 2014. IfW anticipates GDP growth of 1.7 (2013: 0.4) percent in 2014. Economic activity is 

being stimulated by an upturn in the investment cycle. Consumer spending is also likely to increase 

significantly. According to IfW, the German economy is likely to experience a boom toward the end of 

2014, which could push inflation up to 1.7 percent in 2014.

Looking to the United States, IfW anticipates that monetary stimulus will have an increasingly strong 

effect. Consolidation has come a long way since the financial crisis. For example, private household 

indebtedness has now fallen considerably, the level of loan defaults in the financial sector is continu-

ously declining and the housing market situation has significantly improved. According to IfW, gross 

domestic product will grow 2.3 (2013: 1.6) percent in 2014.

THE FUTURE SOL AR POWER MARKET. The solar industry should enter the final phase of consolidation in 2014. 

However, this process could take some time if Chinese banks continue to provide their domestic man-

ufacturers with cheap loans worth billions of dollars, distorting global competition.

As previously, the overall market trend can be described as volatile and is dependent to a high degree 

on possible regulatory changes in the various markets, which makes it difficult to give a reliable fore-

cast. Market analysts agree, however, that there will be a sharp upturn in global demand in 2014. For 

example, Deutsche Bank AG and Greentech Media Inc. expect demand to grow between 27 and 29 per-

cent to 46 to 48 GW in 2014. At the same time, global production capacities are set to fall to 61 GW as 

a result of consolidation, which would create a better balance between supply and demand.
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FURTHER CONTRACTION IN GERMAN MARKET. Deutsche Bank expects demand to fall sharply in Germany in 

2014 compared with 2013, probably by as much as 15 percent to around 2.8 (2013: 3.3) GW. These 

 estimates do not take potential amendments to the German Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) into 

account, which could have a strong impact on demand for solar power systems in Germany, as hap-

pened in the past. In its coalition agreement of December 2013, the new German federal government 

announced plans for a comprehensive overhaul of the EEG by Easter 2014. The Federal Cabinet ap-

proved the key elements of the reform in January 2014. 

EUROPEAN MARKET OVERALL IN DECLINE. Analysts at Deutsche Bank anticipate a further decline for the Eu-

ropean market as a whole of around 12.6 percent in 2014 – from an expected 9.5 GW in 2013 to 8.3 GW 

in 2014. Not only the German but also the Italian market is likely to contract. New installations in these 

markets look set to halve again compared with 2013, to 0.75 GW. Deutsche Bank expects appreciable 

growth in France of 25 percent to around 1.35 GW in 2014. In the rest of Europe, new installations in 

2014 will probably remain at 2013 levels. 

U.S. MARKET VERY DYNAMIC. According to Deutsche Bank, the U.S. market is set to add 8 GW of new in-

stallations in 2014 – this would equate to 60 percent growth compared with 2013. This strong trend is 

forecast to continue in 2015, with a further 12 GW of new installations. Increasing numbers of U.S. 

states are developing into promising new sales regions, with the result that growth is not concentrated 

on just a few states such as California and New Jersey. Hence, the market as a whole is growing more 

consistently and sustainably.

STRONG GROW TH ANTICIPATED IN CHINA AND JAPAN. In 2013, China and Japan were already the world’s largest 

solar markets. According to Deutsche Bank, new installations in China are likely to increase 50 percent 

to 12 GW in 2014. Unfortunately this does not present any opportunity for non-Chinese manufactur-

ers, as the Chinese market is inaccessible to them. A continuing high level of new installations is also 

expected in Japan. Unlike China, the Japanese market does offer attractive possibilities for foreign 

companies such as SolarWorld. Newly installed capacity in the Japanese market will total 7.0 GW in 

2014, according to Mercom Capital Group. 

SOL AR MARKET IN EMERGING ECONOMIES AND OIL EXPORTING COUNTRIES GAINING IMPORTANCE. In sunny, off-grid 

regions of Africa, Latin America and Asia, solar power is already more economical than electricity 

from conventional diesel generators. In these countries, where energy scarcity is a key challenge and 

power grids are insufficiently developed, solar power is increasingly developing as a low-cost alterna-

tive for the electricity supply.
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65 // IN GW 
Source: Greentech Media, 2014
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By contrast, the solar market in the Middle East region offers new opportunities for Western compa-

nies as well. Oil-exporting countries such as Saudi Arabia and Qatar want to increase their use of solar 

in future as a power source. Analysts expect that solar power systems having a total capacity of 3.5 GW 

will be installed in Saudi Arabia alone by the year 2015. In this region, the Turkish solar market is ex-

pected to see rapid growth, too. 

Over the next two financial years, the SolarWorld group plans to continue the systematic implemen-

tation of its operational restructuring concept. In our established markets Germany and the United 

States, we will strengthen links between customers and wholesalers and installers.

We want to expand our position as a system provider in the international solar market. Therefore, in 

future, we will focus more strongly on the market for complete systems and less on sales of individual 

components such as wafers and cells. Our planned process and product innovations are intended to 

further optimize the price-performance ratio of SolarWorld products for our customers. Here, we 

utilize the advantages of close-to-production research and development to swiftly transfer newly de-

veloped processes into manufacturing.  Future research and development activities
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Our location policy will continue to be geared to customer proximity. We will flexibly adjust the capac-

ity utilization of our production facilities in line with current market demand.  Future development in 

production  In future, projects of all sizes will play a larger role in our business. To this end, we 

are systematically leveraging the experiences of our subsidiaries Solarparc AG.

EXPANSION OF PORTFOLIO AND DISTRIBUTION CHANNELS. Our acquisition of cell and module production facili-

ties in Arnstadt, which was announced in November 2013, was finalized on March 12, 2014.  Pro-

duction lines acquired from Bosch Solar Energy AG  Like our existing plants, these additional 

production facilities also incorporate top-quality German manufacturing technology. They strengthen 

our position as a quality provider. Moreover, SolarWorld will maintain existing contacts with cus-

tomers of Bosch Solar Energy AG, integrating these customers into SolarWorld’s distribution struc-

tures. At the Arnstadt site, we plan to produce also 72-cell modules in the future. By adding these to 

our product portfolio, we are able to gain additional customers in the large-scale project business, 

where these modules are in demand. We also want to appeal to Bosch’s existing customer base for 

solar cells and integrate this business area into our global supply chain.

TARGETING GROW TH WITH COMPLETE SOL AR POWER SOLUTIONS AND L ARGE-SCALE PROJECTS. Analysts predict that 

global demand for solar power products will continue to grow in 2014. Prices, however, are expected 

to persist at a low level. 65  Expected Development of solar markets by region  Market growth 

will have a positive impact on SolarWorld’s sales trend. In 2014, SolarWorld aims to significantly 

increase shipments of complete solar power solutions internationally – both in the private and com-

mercial roof-mounted systems segment, and in the large-scale project business.

Following the completion of restructuring measures in February 2014, SolarWorld will once again 

be able to implement new large-scale projects. Our subsidiary Solarparc AG prepared the way in 

2013 by working hard to develop an international project pipeline. Using the expertise of Solarparc 

AG, we want to expand this segment in the future. We see key opportunities in the U.S. and selected 

export markets, for instance Latin America, Turkey and the Arabian Peninsula – i. e. in regions where 

solar power is cost-effective today without incentive mechanisms. We will work together with local 

partners to expand the project business.
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In 2014, SolarWorld will continue to work on developing emerging solar markets. We want to in-

crease our shipments particularly in European export markets. In Asia, we have high expectations 

about the dynamic development in the Japanese market. The Middle East and North Africa (MENA) 

region is also promising. In sub-Saharan Africa, we primarily see opportunities in the market for large 

roof-mounted systems used for commercial self-consumption.

NEW CELL AND MODULE CAPACITIES ADDED. On March 12, 2014, following the successful closure of the pur-

chase agreement with Robert Bosch GmbH, our newly formed subsidiary SolarWorld Industries-

Thüringen GmbH acquired assets of the cell and module production facilities of Bosch Solar Energy 

AG at Arnstadt in Thuringia, Germany. This increases our cell capacity by 700 MW and our module 

capacity by 200 MW. Particularly the extra cell capacity fills a gap in our value chain and allows the 

group to continue growing. 

By transferring research and development outcomes into production, thereby increasing our manufac-

turing efficiency, we have successfully increased our module and cell production capacity at Freiberg 

as well as our module production capacity in the United States. These capacities will be fully available 

to us from 2014 onward.

As a result, the SolarWorld group will reach nominal capacities of more than one gigawatt at each of 

the wafer, cell and module stages of the value chain. Of those capacities, we plan to actively utilize the 

following production capacities in 2014:

66 // IN MW

Germany (Freiberg) 750 330 530

– 700 200

U.S. (Hillsboro) 330 380

SolarWorld group 750 1,360 1,110

Wafer Cell Module

 
* not actively utilized nominal production capacities
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TECHNOLOGY PORTFOLIO EXPANDED. Besides increasing capacities, acquisition of the former Bosch plant 

in Arnstadt will boost SolarWorld’s technological competitiveness. At the Freiberg production site, 

SolarWorld mainly produces multicrystalline wafers and cells. At SolarWorld’s Hillsboro site in 

the United States, we already focus on monocrystalline cells with rear passivation (PERC concept). At 

the new SolarWorld site in Arnstadt, we will be able to use a similar process to manufacture highly 

efficient mono cells. In doing so, we will reach a significant advantage over competitors.

REORGANIZATION OF PRODUCTION UNITS. The existing production subsidiaries of SolarWorld AG at the 

Freiberg site will be merged into one company by mid-2014 to increase the efficiency of production 

processes along the solar value chain. Within the same timeframe, we will combine production and 

sales in the United States at our Hillsboro, Oregon site.

Our future research and development activities will focus on further improvements to our core prod-

uct, the module, in respect of performance, quality and cost criteria. We will also continue to work 

intensively on system solutions for intelligent load management and storage.

Our research and development activities with regard to monocrystalline solar cells are being pooled 

at the new site in Arnstadt, where we have a state-of-the-art pilot line at our disposal. SolarWorld In-

novations GmbH will continue to be in charge of research and development within the SolarWorld 

group of companies. The integration of parts of the former Bosch solar division also significantly ex-

pands our intellectual property portfolio.

Marketing activities in 2014 will focus on strengthening our brand in a targeted way and supporting 

measures to boost shipments in international core markets. As before, we will concentrate on empha-

sizing the customer benefits of our products. We will continue to determine our customers’ needs at an 

early stage, so they can be integrated into new product developments and services.

At the same time as the successful completion of the financial restructuring and the acquisition of 

cell and module production facilities in Arnstadt, SolarWorld revised its branding with the message 

“Real Value”. We have updated the company logo to reflect the group’s stronger international orienta-

tion. In March 2014, we launched the logo with the international claim REAL VALUE. From now on, 

the company name will be associated with REAL VALUE in all communications and on all products. 

The launch of the new brand logo is being accompanied by a broad-based, strategic communication 

campaign in the core markets.  Real Value
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–

Expanding production capacities to more than one gigawatt at wafer, cell and module stages will 

strengthen SolarWorld’s negotiating position with suppliers. We also aim to identify and exploit 

 further potential savings. For example, further savings will result from increased design to cost mea-

sures, global sourcing, standardization, and further optimization of our specifications. In future, 

therefore, global procurement management at SolarWorld must collaborate even more closely with 

product management and with research and development to identify better performing and cost-sav-

ing alternatives for materials. We will also involve our suppliers in new developments at a particularly 

early stage. In this way, we plan to take the costs and properties of materials into account from the 

very beginning of the product life cycle.

As before, we are aiming to reach agreements with our suppliers to enable our materials to be sup-

plied in line with our requirements on a long-term basis, and reduce our default risks. Sustainability 

also remains important to us in every respect on the procurement side.

ABOUT 800 NEW EMPLOYEES AT THE ARNSTADT SITE IN THE FUTURE. Following the acquisition of cell and module 

production facilities from Bosch Solar Energy AG in March 2014, the SolarWorld group intends to 

continue to employ about 800 workers in Arnstadt. We want to integrate these future employees of our 

newly formed subsidiary SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen GmbH into the group of companies 

quickly.

CONTINUATION OF HR STRATEGY AND CHANGE PROGRAM. Developing our group into a global organizational unit 

continues to be the central objective of our human resources strategy. Our change program began in 

2013 and will continue in 2014. As part of the program, we will keep working to increase SolarWorld 

employees’ understanding of the necessary transformations in our structures and processes, so that 

they can play an active part in shaping changes in their areas of activity in the future as well. Our 

employees’ experience and motivation are key for the success of the planned reconfigurations. Look-

ing to the future, therefore, we intend to work on strengthening our corporate culture as a common 

basis for our locations to grow together, and developing additional areas for action based on our exist-

ing guiding principles. We will continue our talent management program in 2014 to prepare talented 

junior staff who represent and live our values for regional and global management positions.
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SolarWorld will conduct a global employee survey in 2014. The objective is to reassess employee 

commitment levels following the implementation of the first operational restructuring measures. The 

survey will be used to identify potential areas of improvement for SolarWorld as an employer, and 

to determine appropriate action plans and metrics. We plan to implement these during 2015. Annual 

global employee surveys allow us to monitor the success of the measures. SolarWorld wants to en-

able its employees to optimize their performance in the group and grow with SolarWorld. We aim to 

make sure that the right person is always employed in the right job, as this boosts employee motiva-

tion and productivity in the group as a whole.

The continuing crisis in the solar industry and political developments make it difficult to forecast 

future business development. As basic premise for its forecast, SolarWorld is assuming that during 

2014 the solar industry will have reached the final stage of consolidation. Whilst global demand for 

solar energy products will presumably continue to grow in 2014, prices will probably remain at the 

current level. SolarWorld expects that market growth will also have an effect on its own sales devel-

opment. 

For the current 2014 fiscal year, SolarWorld AG is expecting to increase its group-wide shipments 

of modules and kits by at least 40 percent compared with 2013 through higher shipments in all core 

markets (2013: 548 MW). SolarWorld AG also reckons on growth in consolidated revenue to more 

than € 680 million in 2014. The expected trend in sales and revenue already takes the acquisition of 

production lines from Bosch Solar Energy AG at the Arnstadt/Thuringia site into account, which took 

place on March 12, 2014.

In addition, SolarWorld AG is expecting positive earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and 

amortization (EBITDA) in 2014 of more than € 10 million. This does not take into account the special 

effects from the successfully completed financial restructuring as well as the positive special effects 

from the initial consolidation of assets that were taken over from Bosch Solar Energy AG. The operat-

ing result (EBIT) before consideration of these special effects is likely to range between € – 35 million 

and € – 20 million.
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For 2015, the SolarWorld group is expecting a positive operating result as well as further increases 

in revenues of over 20 percent. For 2016 the group expects revenues of more than € 1 billion.

In this context, the Management Board of SolarWorld AG would expressly like to point out that the 

assumptions and framework conditions used for the corporate planning might be subject to changes.

Owing to the losses incurred over the last two financial years, there are no plans to distribute a divi-

dend for financial years 2012 and 2013.

According to current plans, the priority for any future profits will be to repay liabilities and finance the 

company’s further growth. For this reason, no distribution of dividends to shareholders is anticipated 

for the foreseeable future.

On February 24, 2014, SolarWorld AG completed its financial restructuring. With the registration of 

the implementation of a capital increase by contribution in kind of € 14,151,200.00 in the commercial 

register, the financial liabilities of SolarWorld AG fell by € 570 million to € 427 million. In connection 

with this, SolarWorld issued 14,151,200 new shares and two new bonds with respective nominal val-

ues of € 52 million and € 175 million and a term of 5 years.  Financial restructuring successfully com-

pleted  

In addition, SolarWorld AG took up a new loan of € 50 million in February 2014. 

No further financing measures are currently planned for 2014.
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In the 2014 financial year, we are expecting to make investments totaling a low two-digit million euro 

amount. Our investment activities will focus on achieving further cost savings in our production facili-

ties. 

On December 31, 2013, the group’s liquid funds totaled € 163.7 (December 31, 2012: 224.1) million. 

Expected liquidity development is influenced to a large degree by scheduled financing measures and 

by the operating result. We currently anticipate positive cash flow from operating activities in the cur-

rent 2014 financial year.

In February 2014, SolarWorld AG successfully completed the restructuring of its financial liabilities, 

which had become necessary as a result of the solar industry crisis, and in doing so established a fun-

damental condition for the group’s positive future development. In parallel, SolarWorld continued an 

operational restructuring program last financial year (2013) and has already implemented extensive 

measures to cut costs and boost efficiency. In the opinion of management, the financial and operational 

measures have already considerably improved the SolarWorld group’s competitiveness and ability to 

act, and hence its business prospects. 

The Management Board expects that the solar industry will have entered its final phase of consolida-

tion in 2014. One condition for permanently overcoming the solar industry crisis is the restoration of 

fair competition. SolarWorld will continue its proactive involvement in this regard, particularly in 

the U.S. and the European Union.

While global demand for solar power products is likely to see further growth in 2014, prices are likely 

to remain at current levels. The Management Board believes that market growth will have a positive 

impact on SolarWorld’s sales trend. For 2014 to 2016, the group plans to increase shipments and 

revenue significantly and improve the operating result. SolarWorld group plans to return to a posi-

tive operating result in 2015.
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120 The acquisition of cell and module production facilities at Arnstadt in Thuringia in March 2014 will 

make the SolarWorld group one of the world’s ten largest solar manufacturers. It also strengthens 

SolarWorld’s technological foundations. Synergies and economies of scale resulting from the acqui-

sition create opportunities for the group to return to profitability sooner and win new customers.

The group’s strategy is to offer solar power solutions that provide customers real added value and to 

play a technologically leading role on the international solar market. SolarWorld intends to further 

enhance its positioning in the future and use its core brand to distinguish itself even more clearly than 

before from the broad mass of solar manufacturers.
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We are endeavoring to gear the management and control of SolarWorld towards long-term, sustain-

able value creation, especially against the background of a young and dynamic global market and its 

current distortions. We are continuously working on further developing Corporate Governance within 

the company as well as on adequately integrating all stakeholders. In the process, we are guided by 

the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC), which represents the major provisions on the man-

agement and monitoring of German listed companies and contains both nationally and internationally 

recognized standards for good and responsible corporate management. Therefore, pursuant to section 

4.1.1 GCGC, our management philosophy takes into consideration the interests of our investors, busi-

ness partners, employees and the public in order to continuously confirm the trust placed in us by our 

stakeholder groups.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG cooperate closely and confi-

dently to successfully guarantee corporate management and control.

DECL ARATION OF COMPLIANCE FROM THE MANAGEMENT BOARD AND SUPERVISORY BOARD. The Management Board 

and the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG had first issued an unlimited compliance statement on 

August 10, 2012 regarding the recommendations in the version of the German Corporate Governance 

Code (GCGC) of May 15, 2012 published on June 15, 2012, which was made permanently available on 

our website in accordance with § 161 German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). As a result of the restruc-

turing, a limitation declaration followed on this subject on March 18, 2013 with regard to the deviation 

from the publication of the group accounts 90 days after the end of the fiscal year that had become nec-

essary. In line with the new version of the GCGC of May 13, 2013, a corresponding restricted compli-

ance statement for the 2013 fiscal year was then issued on December 20, 2013.  www.solarworld.de/

declarationofcompliance //
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MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL CHANGED IN 2013. SolarWorld AG as a German stock corporation has a dual 

management and control structure with segregation between management and monitoring function. 

Compliant with the law (§§ 77, 78 AktG), the Articles of Association (§§ 5, 6) and the Rules of Proce-

dure, the Management Board manages the company under its own responsibility and develops the 

strategic direction. The Management Board is appointed by the Supervisory Board. The latter, pursu-

ant to § 95 Sec. 1, § 96 Sec. 1, § 101 Sec. 1 AktG, is made up of shareholder representatives and is 

appointed by the Annual General Meeting (AGM), which in turn, is not bound by election proposals. 

The Supervisory Board works on the legal basis of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Articles of 

Association, and the Rules of Procedure. It appoints, monitors, and controls the Management Board 

and is also involved in fundamental decisions, which require the approval of the Supervisory Board.

Insofar as section 4.1.5 GCGC states that the Management Board, when staffing management functions 

in the company, has to observe the principle of diversity and must particularly strive to give more con-

sideration to women, concrete plans to increase the proportion of women in management and key posi-

tions are pursued jointly by the Management Board and Supervisory Board. 

In 2013, the Management Board initially consisted of five members. Distribution of business had been 

adjusted groupwide in line with global requirements. In February 2013, the appointment of Boris Kle-

bensberger, Chief Operating Officer, was terminated by mutual consent. His responsibilities were dis-

tributed among the other members of the Management Board. Consequently, the Management Board 

of SolarWorld AG has consisted of four members since February 2013. Responsibilites are distrib-

uted as follows:

Frank Asbeck, Dr.-Ing. E. h. (Chief Executive Officer) 

Founder of the company, responsible for strategic group development, production and technology 

development, procurement, supply chain management as well as public relations/public affairs 

including energy and environmental policy 

Initial appointment: 1999 

End of current period of office: January 9, 2019

Frank Henn, Dipl.-Wirtschaftsing. (Chief Sales Officer) 

Responsible for international sales, global quality management and product engineering 

Initial appointment: 2004 

End of current period of office: January 31, 2016

 Philipp Koecke, Dipl.-Kfm. tech. (Chief Financial Officer) 

Responsible for the areas of controlling, finance, accounting, and investor relations 

Initial appointment: 2003 

End of current period of office: April 30, 2015

Colette Rückert-Hennen, attorney-at-law (Chief Information, Brand & Personnel Officer) 

Responsible for the areas of human resources, brand management, marketing, sustainability and IT 

Initial appointment: 2011 

End of current period of office: June 30, 2014
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Parted with SolarWorld AG as of February 7, 2013:

Boris Klebensberger, Dipl.-Ing. (Chief Operating Officer) 

Responsible for the group divisions IT, supply chain management, group procurement, quality man-

agement, investment management/technology transfer, production planning as well as research and 

development  

Initial appointment: 2001

The composition of the Supervisory Board changed in fiscal year 2013. The election of the new Super-

visory Board took place at the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of SolarWorld AG on August 7, 

2013. Shareholders re-elected Dr. Claus Recktenwald, Chairman of the Supervisory Board, and his dep-

uty, Dr. Georg Gansen. Dr. Alexander von Bossel, who did not stand for re-election, left the Supervisory 

Board and resigned his post effective the end of the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting. In his place, 

Marc M. Bamberger was newly elected to the Supervisory Board. The appointment of Dr. Recktenwald 

and Mr. Bamberger ends with the conclusion of the next ordinary Annual General Meeting. Dr. Gansen 

was elected to his position until the conclusion of the general meeting which decides on the approval of 

the Supervisory Board’s actions and Management Board’s actions for fiscal year 2017. 

At the time of producing this report, the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG had three members:

Dr. Claus Recktenwald, born 1959 (Chairman) 

Attorney-at-law and partner in the law firm of Schmitz Knoth Rechtsanwälte in Bonn 

Initial appointment: December 18, 1998 

End of current appointment: until Annual General Meeting which grants approval for fiscal year 2012 

Dr. Recktenwald additionally holds the following appointments on legally required Supervisory 

Boards and similar controlling bodies: 

– Supervisory Board of Solarparc AG, Bonn (Chairman since incorporation) 

– Supervisory Board of VEMAG Verlags- und Medien AG, Cologne (member since April 7, 2006) 

–  Advisory Board of Grünenthal GmbH and Grünenthal GmbH & Co. KG, Aachen (member since 

 January 1, 2010)

 Dr. Georg Gansen, born 1959 (Deputy chairman) 

Attorney-at-law/Corporate legal counsel at Deutsche Post AG located in Bonn  

Initial appointment: December 18, 1998 

End of current appointment: until Annual General Meeting which grants approval for fiscal year 2017 

Dr. Gansen additionally holds the following appointments on legally required Supervisory Boards or 

similar controlling bodies: 

– Supervisory Board of Solarparc AG, Bonn (Deputy chairman since incorporation)
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Marc M. Bamberger, born 1957 (member since August 7, 2013) 

Management consultant in Wiesbaden 

Initial appointment: August 7, 2013 

End of current appointment: until Annual General Meeting which grants approval for fiscal year 2012 

Currently, Mr. Bamberger does not hold any other appointment on a legally required Supervisory 

Board nor a similar controlling body. 

Parted with SolarWorld AG as of August 7, 2013:

Dr. Alexander von Bossel, born 1965 (member until August 7, 2013) 

Attorney-at-law and partner in the law firm of Sozietät CMS Hasche Sigle in Cologne 

Initial appointment: December 18, 1998 

Dr. von Bossel did not hold any further appointment on legally required Supervisory Boards and 

similar controlling bodies.

Taking into consideration the two appointments of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board that count 

double, Dr. Recktenwald held seven mandates – out of a basically permissible total of ten mandates 

(since the registration of the squeeze-out on July 5, 2012, the position of the Supervisory Board Chair-

man at Solarparc AG, however, has increased the permissible total number of mandates to twelve, 

§ 100 Sec. 2 sentence 2 AktG). Dr. Gansen held two mandates, and Dr. von Bossel, since his retirement 

from the Supervisory Board of Solarparc AG on May 23, 2012, was only a member of the Supervisory 

Board of SolarWorld AG. At the moment, Mr. Marc M. Bamberger does not hold any other appoint-

ment on any legally required Supervisory Board nor on a similar controlling body. The recommenda-

tions under section 5.3 GCGC on the formation of committees has not applied to SolarWorld AG due 

to the fact that the Supervisory Board has consisted of only three members previously and has per-

formed all tasks in plenary session. The Supervisory Board in its entirety deals with Management 

Board issues, including the remuneration system, and performs the required audit and monitoring 

functions. In this context, the ruling on the capping of management severance pay pursuant to section 

4.2.3 is also observed. The age limits to be stipulated pursuant to sections 5.1.2 and 5.4.1 GCGC for 

the Management Board and Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG are 68 years.

TRANSPARENCY FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS AND THE PUBLIC. To meet our legal obligations, we publish all relevant 

information transparently and promptly via the relevant media channels in line with the principle of 

fair disclosure. On our website  www.solarworld.de/en/investorrelations, this information is provided 

in its most recent version in both German and English pursuant to section 6.8 GCGC.

At the AGM or extraordinary shareholders’ meetings, our shareholders can exercise their rights and 

cast votes. All relevant information concerning the AGM can be found on our webpage well ahead of 

time.
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If shareholders are prevented from attending the AGM personally, it is possible to have a voting right 

exercised through a personally selected, duly authorized representative or through an accountable 

proxy appointed by the company. This proxy will also be accessible to our shareholders during the 

AGM. Pursuant to sections 2.3.1 and 2.3.3 GCGC, the company gives the shareholders the opportunity 

of casting their votes by postal vote.

CAPITAL MARKET L AW AND COMPLIANCE. Observing capital market laws and reporting obligations is an 

important function of the Management Board of SolarWorld AG. The Board is advised in this capac-

ity by an external legal clearing office that checks groupwide facts and transactions with respect to 

their ad-hoc relevance. Management Board members, employees, as well as service providers and proj-

ect participants are specially trained regarding the ban on insider trading pursuant to § 14 German 

Securities Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz, WpHG), and are registered in a special insider list. 

Pursuant to section 6.6 GCGC, the Corporate Governance Report must include information about the 

ownership of shares in the company or related financial instruments by Management Board and 

Supervisory Board members, if these directly or indirectly exceed 1 percent of the shares issued by 

the company. If the entire holdings of all members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board 

exceed 1 percent of the shares issued by the company, these shall be reported separately by the Man-

agement Board and Supervisory Board. Share ownership of the members of the Management Board of 

SolarWorld AG amounted to a total of 27.84 percent as at December 31, 2013. Share ownership of 

the members of the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG amounted to 0.0045 percent as at Decem-

ber 31, 2013. Pursuant to § 15a WpHG, members of the Management Board and of the Supervisory 

Board as well as persons close to them are obliged by law to disclose the acquisition and disposal of 

shares of SolarWorld AG or of financial instruments based on them, if the value of the transactions 

exceeds the total sum of € 5,000.00 within one calendar year. During the year covered by the report 

the following notifications were made in accordance with § 15a WpHG (Directors‘ Dealing): Eifelstrom 

GmbH, a company affiliated with the Chairman of the Board Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck, disposed of 

the following shares in SolarWorld AG: 686,038 on October 1, 2013, 407,880 on October 2, 2013, 

2,200 on October 3, 2013, 23,166 on October 8, 2013, 470,000 on October 8, 2013, 77,587 on October 

9, 2013, 115,130 on October 10, 2013, 1,045,000 on November 26, 2013 and 218,000 on November 27, 

2013. In addition, Solar Holding Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, with which Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

is also closely associated in a legal sense, disposed of 70,000 shares on November 27, 2013, before Dr.-

Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck personally sold additional shares in SolarWorld AG, namely the following 

amounts: 320,000 on November 27, 2013 itself, 580,234 on November 28, 2013, 1,293,139 on Novem-

ber 29, 2013, 900,512 on December 2, 2013 and 6,178 on December 3, 2013. The corresponding notifi-

cations were made available to the public on the website of SolarWorld AG, which also applies to the 

share dealings after the key date of December 31, 2013.  www.solarworld.de/en/directors-dealings //
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In order to promote a culture of integrity within the entire Group as part of good Corporate Governance, 

a comprehensive expansion of the group-wide Compliance Management System had already taken place 

the previous year, which communicated both with the Supervisory Board as well as the Management 

Board during the year covered by the report.  Corporate management and control

With the Remuneration Report, the Supervisory Board and the Management Board of SolarWorld 

AG also comply with the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC). While section 3.10 GCGC makes 

provision for the Corporate Governance Report, which is contained separately in this annual report 

under an appropriate headline, and apart from that is also covered in the Report by the Supervisory 

Board, section 4.2.5 GCGC stipulates the explanation of the remuneration system for members of the 

Management Board, including the disclosure of individual remuneration. Section 5.4.6 GCGC – also as 

part of the notes or the Management Report – requires individualized reporting of Supervisory Board 

remuneration subdivided according to components, and including compensation paid or advantages 

extended for services provided individually, in particular, advisory or agency services. Insofar as Sec-

tion 4.2.5 GCGC in its new version of May 13, 2013 envisages a third paragraph on minimum and max-

imum information, additional accrual sub-division and pension benefits, this applies only as of the 

2014 fiscal year and will therefore not be explained in greater detail here yet, particularly as there was 

no variable remuneration or retirement pensions during the year covered by the report.

MANAGEMENT BOARD REMUNERATION. The annual Management Board remuneration fixed in terms of its 

structure by the Supervisory Board and agreed with all Management Board members of SolarWorld 

AG is composed of fixed and variable compensation components. It is guided by § 87 AktG, according 

to which the total remuneration for an individual Management Board member must be in appropriate 

relation to his/her tasks and the situation of the company. Where the Act on the Appropriateness of 

Management Board Remuneration (Gesetz zur Angemessenheit der Vorstandsvergütung, VorstAG), passed 

by the Bundestag on June 18, 2009, also provides for medium- and long-term remuneration compo-

nents, these were taken into consideration in new management contracts and in the extension of ex-

piring contracts. Even regardless of this, Management Board remuneration meets all appropriateness 

limits as well as the recommendations of the GCGC; account is taken of the special conditions of the 

company in the context of the group as well as the individual connection in the personal and profes-

sional field, taking into consideration the relevant environmental conditions. In doing so, the financial 

situation of the SolarWorld group is taken into account. The financial situation, in turn, determines 

the profit distribution possibilities which form the basis for the variable components of Management 

Board remuneration. The latter does not occur for 2013 covered by the report, during which the Chair-

man of the Board has also continued the waiver he declared in July 2012 of fixed remuneration with 
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approval of the Supervisory Board. The Chairman of the Board also did not participate to this extent 

in the special remuneration with incentives for the remaining members of the Board, which the Super-

visory Board had decided on at its meeting of April 29, 2013 and which was due following the extra-

ordinary restructuring shareholders’ meeting of August 7, 2013.

Ultimately, the management remuneration also complies in all other respects with the requirements of 

the VorstAG. Both the individual performance of board members and the customariness in the indus-

try are taken into account, as well as its orientation towards a sustainable corporate development. The 

deductible for members of the Management Board of at least ten percent of the losses in question and 

up to at least one and a half times the fixed annual compensation was already agreed upon with re-

spect to D&O insurance as of January 1, 2010. Incidentally, Management Board remuneration at Solar-

World AG was already determined according to these principles before the VorstAG came into force.

As fringe benefits, all members of the Management Board receive the costs respecting their accident 

and D&O insurance, as well as a company car in the upper medium range for their own use. Further-

more, business-related payments, expenditure and expenses are reimbursed pursuant to § 670 German 

Civil Code (Bürgerliches Gesetzbuch, BGB). In addition, the board members in charge of finance (CFO), 

operations (COO), sales (CSO), and IT, brand and personnel (CIBPO) receive grants towards their health 

insurance. Since the full consolidation of Solarparc AG in 2012, the CEO’s remuneration as Chief 

Executive Officer of Solarparc AG must also be taken into account. The relevant amounts are shown 

in the following table.

Management contracts do not contain any severance provision for the case of premature termination 

of an employment relationship.

There is no separate pension entitlement, which is why Management Board members are permitted 

to convert parts of their remuneration into pension provisions.

The fixed annual compensation is to be paid to the Management Board members in twelve monthly in-

stallments at the end of each month. In addition, insofar as the requirements are met, every Manage-

ment Board member receives variable, performance-related special compensation that amounts to an 

individually negotiated euro amount per eurocent and share of the dividend distributed to sharehold-

ers. The amount is paid within four weeks of the AGM during which the dividend payment to be used 

as a basis has been decided upon. In the following individualized statement of Management Board re-

muneration, only variable compensation for the 2011 fiscal year is shown, while no variable compensa-

tion is paid for the current fiscal year. Otherwise, variable compensation is capped in such a way that, 

per year, a member of the Management Board cannot receive more than a multiple of the fixed com-

pensation that has been agreed with the Supervisory Board. The sustainability component, stipulated 

by section 4.2.3 GCGC and § 87 Sec. 1, sentence 3 AktG for variable compensation of the Management 

Board, is complied with as follows with regard to an assessment basis of several years: Initially, only 



130

SOL A RWORLD 2013 CORP OR ATE GOV ERN A NCE

130 75 percent of the bonus for the last fiscal year is paid out. Then, based on a three-year assessment, an 

average value is determined. If this is below the initial payment of 75 percent, no additional amounts 

are paid. If this value is higher, a relevant back payment is made.

In accordance with a resolution of the AGM in 2009, the total management compensation per member 

of the Management Board is capped to 20 times the average employee remuneration. On May 20, 2010, 

the AGM also declared the approval of the system of remuneration for members of the Management 

Board pursuant to § 120 Sec. 4 AktG. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board outlined the salient 

points of the compensation system and any changes thereto at the subsequent Annual General Meet-

ings (section 4.2.3 GCGC).

67 // IN €

Non-performance related

Performance-

related Total 

Fixed salary Other remuneration Variabel

Dr.-Ing. E. h. 

Frank Asbeck 

CEO

0.00*

10,843.32
(company car 

private use)

254,054.04
(CEO remuneration Solarparc AG incl. 

fixed portion: 120,000.00; variable portion: 

120,000.00; company car private use: 

14,054.04) 

182.00
(SolarWorld Innovations GmbH 

inventor’s fees)

0.00 265,079.36*

Prior year 157,500.00*

10,843.32

(company car 

private use)

254,054.04

(CEO remuneration Solarparc AG incl. 

fixed portion: 120,000.00; variable portion: 

120,000.00; company car private use: 

14.054,04)

1,322.00
(SolarWorld Innovations GmbH 

inventor’s fees)

0.00 423,719.36*

Frank Henn 

CSO

294,819.67

11,905.20
(company car 

private use)

150,000.00 

(special remuneration/incentive)

3,933.60
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 460,658.47

Prior year 186,751.88

11,905.20
(company car 

private use)

3,686.52
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 202,343.60

Philipp Koecke 

CFO

305,508.00

23,800.80
(company car 

private use)

300,000.00

(Special remuneration/incentive)

3,569.40
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 632,878.20

Prior year 260,565.32

25,028.11
(company car 

private use)

3,468.54
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 289,061.97

Colette  

Rückert-Hennen 

CIBPO

240,000.00

8,157.00
(company car 

private use)

150,000.00 

(special remuneration/incentive)

3,644.88
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 401,801.00
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Non-performance related

Performance-

related Total 

Fixed salary Other remuneration Variabel

Prior year 240,000.00

8,157.00
(company car 

private use)

3,546.36
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 251,703.36

Boris 

 Klebensberger** 

COO
(member of Management 

Board until Feb. 7, 2013

45,511.30

2,563.57
(company car 

private use)

349.56
(Grants towards health insurance)

0.00 48,424.43

Prior year 376,743.23

25,159.20
(company car 

private use)

3,351.72

(Grants towards health insurance)

1,219.00
(SolarWorld Innovations GmbH 

inventor’s fees)

0.00 406,473.15

Total 943,108.86 865,733.48 0.00 1,808,842.34

Prior year 1,302,653.26 270,648.18 0.00 1,573,301.44

* waiving of remuneration since July 2012

**  The activity of Mr. Klebensberger in his function as Board Member was terminated in February 2013. Because his contract was still in effect, 

 remuneration payments were continued in 2013 amounting to € 345,898.72.

SUPERVISORY BOARD REMUNERATION. The AGM on May 24, 2011 modified the Supervisory Board remunera-

tion, which was approved earlier at the AGM of May 25, 2005. It still consists of fixed remuneration, 

performance-related special remuneration, fringe benefits and reimbursement of out-of-pocket ex-

penses. Current Supervisory Board remuneration has been applicable since January 1, 2011 and also 

applies to the following years, unless a new AGM passes different resolutions for the future. Fixed re-

muneration for a member amounts to € 35,000.00, for the Deputy Chairman to € 52,500.00 and for the 

Chairman to € 70,000.00. A lump sum of € 500.00 for every meeting attended is paid as reimburse-

ment of expenses. In addition, the company pays variable remuneration in relation to a basic amount 

of € 2,639.055; this basic amount is to be multiplied by each dividend cent if a dividend has been ad-

opted. Ultimately, the company assumes the premium payments for insurance cover concerning legal 

liability arising from Supervisory Board activities (D&O insurance). In accordance with the GCGC, the 

Supervisory Board has also agreed upon the deductible that is compulsory for the Management Board 

pursuant to the VorstAG, effective as per July 1, 2010.

The Supervisory Board remuneration is net so that turnover tax is added if a member of the Supervi-

sory Board is liable to pay turnover tax. Fixed annual remuneration is paid retroactively for the closed 

fiscal year. Variable remuneration also refers to the fiscal year ended and becomes due upon the AGM 

that passes the resolution on a dividend to be distributed. As regards the meeting attendance fees, 14 

flat-rate fees, each of € 7,000.00 net, were charged for one AGM and 13 Supervisory Board meetings. 

With respect to further details, we refer to the table.
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In connection with the new version of section 5.4.6 GCGC, the Supervisory Board intends to propose 

to the AGM that only fixed remuneration for the Supervisory Board be approved and that an additional 

budget for training and professional development be provided.

With regard to the disclosures recommended in the last paragraph of section 5.4.6 GCGC, it is pointed 

out that the Chairman of the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG is a partner in the law firm of 

Schmitz Knoth Rechtsanwälte. Essentially, this firm provides legal advice and representation for the 

SolarWorld group through other partners and employees of the law firm as well as the required in-

ternational coordination. 

With regard to the provision of own services during the year of 2013 covered by the report, Sozietät 

Schmitz Knoth (Rechtsanwälte) charged SolarWorld AG € 672,203.04 for consultancy services 

 without turnover tax and tax-free expenditure. Added to this are fees for court proceedings totaling 

€ 31,279.90, which are mainly recoverable. The consultancy fee for the subsidiaries of SolarWorld 

AG stands a further € 175,571.49 and was accounted for with the relevant net amounts of € 1,800.07 

by Solarparc AG, € 130,861.20 by Deutsche Solar GmbH, € 12,684.46 by Deutsche Cell GmbH, 

€ 1,540.06 by Solar Factory GmbH, € 1,299.99 by SolarWorld Industries Deutschland GmbH, 

€ 2,730.86 by SolarWorld Solicium GmbH and € 24,654.85 by SolarWorld Innovations GmbH. 

Therefore the Group expenditure on consultancy fees totaled € 847,774.53 (2012: € 825,996.80). In the 

field of court representation of subsidiaries of SolarWorld AG, a further € 545,742.20 net was in-

curred, which was divided as follows: € 715.00 for Deutsche Cell GmbH, a further € 3,481.40 for So-

larWorld Industries Deutschland GmbH and the remainder of € 541,545.80 for Deutsche Solar 

GmbH, chiefly for pursuing claims for damages arising from long-term contracts. Therefore overall le-

gal fees of € 577,022.10 (2012: € 424,592.55) were incurred for legal representation, which are coun-

terbalanced by substantial claims for refunds, which is correspondingly less of a burden for the Group.

All individual items within the group amount to a total of € 1,424,797.17 (2012: 1,250,589.30, of which 

€ 703,482.94 (2012: 501,333.15 €) were subject to approval by SolarWorld AG. All individual items 

and the total sum accepted by the group were discussed and approved by the Supervisory Board of 

SolarWorld AG, both during the year and at the meeting on January 20, 2014. At a meeting on Feb-

ruary 26, 2014, they were discussed with the auditors and then together with this remuneration report 

approved. Commissioning was approved in each individual case, and the necessity for and appropri-

ateness of the measures were confirmed after completion of the services. This was based on a new 

framework agreement, dated February 7, 2012, which also provides for the adoption of an approval 

resolution by the Supervisory Board prior to the relevant cost settlement and a decision in the individ-

ual case that the consulting and representation activities provided by the law firm of Schmitz Knoth 

Rechtsanwälte, evidenced by the cost invoices including time statements submitted, only relate to 

those Management Board tasks that are not part of the original area of tasks of the Supervisory Board. 
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The Supervisory Board has convinced itself of the relevant facts so as to simultaneously confirm the 

proper mandate by the Management Board. Moreover, the Management Board has induced an annual 

overhaul of their own.

As in the previous year, the remuneration from Solarparc AG must be taken into account of those 

members of the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG who are also members of the Supervisory 

Board of Solarparc AG. The relevant amounts are shown in the following table.

68 // IN €

Non-performance related

Performance- 

related Total

Fixed 

annual 

remunera-

tion

Meeting 

atten-

dance fee Other remuneration

Variable special 

remuneration

Dr. Claus 

Recktenwald 

Chairman

For 2013 

paid in 

2014

70,000.00 7,000.00 31,000.00
(Solarparc AG Supervisory Board 

remuneration incl. meeting atten-

dance fee of 1,000.00)

0.00 108,000.00

For 2012 

paid in 

2013

70,000.00 6,000.00 32,500.00
(Solarparc AG Supervisory Board 

remuneration incl. meeting atten-

dance fee of 2,500.00)

0.00 108,500.00

Dr. Georg 

Gansen 

Deputy 

Chairman

For 2013 

paid in 

2014

52,500.00 7,000.00 23,500.00
(Solarparc AG Supervisory Board 

remuneration incl. meeting atten-

dance fee of 1,000.00)

0.00 83,000.00

For 2012 

paid in 

2013

52,500.00 6,000.00 24,750.00
(Solarparc AG Supervisory Board 

remuneration incl. meeting atten-

dance fee of 2,250.00)

0.00 83,250.00

Marc. M. 

Bamberger

Member
(since Aug. 7, 

2013)

For 2013 

paid in 

2014

14,095.89 2,000.00 0.00 0.00 16,095.89

Dr. Alexander 

von Bossel

Member
(until Aug. 7, 

2013)

For 2013 

paid in 

2013

20,416.67 6,000.00 0.00 0.00 26,416.67

For 2012 

paid in 

2013

35,000.00 6,000.00 7,126.70
(Solarparc AG Supervisory Board 

remuneration incl. meeting atten-

dance fee of 1,250.00 until May 23, 

2012)

0.00 48,126.70

Total For 2013 

paid in 

2013 and 

2014 157,012.56 22,000.00 54,500.00 0.00 233,512.56

For 2012 

paid in 

2013 157,500.00 18,000.00 64,376.70 0.00 239,876.70
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134 DR. CLAUS RECKTENWALD
CHAIRMAN OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD OF SOLARWORLD AG

Dear shareholders, dear employees and dear friends of SolarWorld AG,

It was not until January 24, 2014 that we were able to adopt the report by the Supervisory Board of 

 SolarWorld AG on the 2012 fiscal year and publish it together with the Annual Group Report. Now, 

the Supervisory Board, made up of the same members, provides its report on the 2013 fiscal year, 

with the relevant accounts review meeting held on March 17, 2014. In between, the restructuring was 

closed and the acquisition of solar activities of the Bosch group was completed. The higher require-

ments for all corporate bodies of SolarWorld AG resulting from this were also reflected in the fre-

quency of meetings of the Supervisory Board, which met formally 15 times since January 1, 2013 up to 

the accounts review meeting for this fiscal year. The meetings took place on January 24, February 22, 

March 18, April 18 and 29, May 15 and 27, July 8 and 18, September 30, November 21 and December 

20, 2013 as well as on January 20, February 26 and March 17, 2014. 15 sets of minutes were prepared 

of these meetings, which were submitted, both during the year and in total, to the company’s auditors 

for inspection and inclusion in their audit. This meant that until the extraordinary shareholders meet-

ing on August 7, 2013, all the Supervisory Board minutes were signed by Dr. Recktenwald, Dr. Gansen 

and Dr. von Bossel, the members who were re-elected at the Annual General Meeting on May 21, 2008, 

and subsequently, due to the departure of the founding Supervisory Board member, Dr. Alexander von 

Bossel and appointment of Mr. Marc Bamberger as financial expert, they were signed by Mr. Marc 

Bamberger and the re-appointed Dr. Recktenwald and Dr. Gansen. The latter was confirmed as Deputy 

Chairman and re-appointed for a further five years, whilst Dr. Recktenwald and Mr. Bamberger put 

forward their candidatures and were appointed correspondingly only until the end of the General 

Meeting, which shall be held on May 30, 2014. The Supervisory Board shall be extended to 6 members 

and provide a better representation of creditors. The Supervisory Board in its role as finding commit-

tee will also welcome that there will be thus additional versatility and internationality. If it is not pos-

sible to meet the gender-specific diversity requirements of the German Corporate Governance Code 

(GCGC), which was otherwise complied with, this would have to be tolerated as a result of the credi-

tor’s requirements under the restructuring agreements. On the other hand, at the Supervisory Board 

meeting of August 10, 2012, the members also passed the resolution regarding the modified composi-

tion and independence regulation set forth in section 5.4 GCGC, this being connected with the corre-

sponding Supervisory Board meeting of Solarparc AG. In the meantime, this company has been inte-

grated fully into the SolarWorld group, but it has still maintained its legal independence until today 

with a Supervisory Board of its own. 
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The Financial Expert of this company is Mrs. Dr. Kristin Neumann. The following consensus was 

reached as regards the determination of targets for the relevant Supervisory Board composition: 

“one of the Supervisory Board members shall have an international professional background, which 

is recognized at Solarparc AG for Dr. Neumann with her activities as international Supervisory Board 

member and as Chief Financial Officer and at SolarWorld AG for Dr. Gansen with his international 

management activity in the legal department of an international group of companies,

two Supervisory Board members shall not maintain any contractual relations with the company, which 

is, except for the Supervisory Board member Dr. Recktenwald and the engagement of his law firm in 

legal matters, true for the other members of the Supervisory Board,

two Supervisory Board members shall also be independent in this sense, i. e. in both private and profes-

sional respects, which is also recognized for Dr. Gansen and Dr. von Bossel as well as Dr. Neumann,

no member of the Supervisory Board should be older than 68 years, whereby this requirement has been 

fulfilled by all previous Supervisory Board members.”

Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG (from left to right):
Dr. Georg Gansen: Deputy Chairman
Dr. Claus Recktenwald: Chairman
Marc M. Bamberger: Member
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136 On August 7, 2013, Mr. Marc Bamberger replaced Dr. Alexander von Bossel, LL.M. (attorney-at-law). 

Until May 2012, Dr. von Bossel, jointly with Dr. Recktenwald and Dr. Gansen, also formed the Supervi-

sory Board of Solarparc AG, where he was replaced by Dr. Neumann. He was also thanked in this re-

port for the work he had undertaken in the Supervisory Board since the company was founded, which 

he had carried out with full commitment and maximum professionalism up to the restructuring share-

holders’ meeting of August 7, 2013.

During the period covered by this report, the Supervisory Board also performed the tasks that it is 

 obligated to do according to the law, the articles of association and the rules of procedure. Since the 

inception of the company on December 18, 1998 and its constitution on January 12, 1999, the Supervi-

sory Board has always been granted discharge. The last resolution on discharge, which was passed at 

SolarWorld AG‘s Annual General Meeting on May 24, 2012 for the 2011 fiscal year, was also not 

challenged. To the extent that the previous year‘s resolution for the 2010 fiscal year was contested for 

the first and only time, the Cologne Regional Court initially dismissed the action for annulment by its 

judgment of January 12, 2012 under file number 91 O 77/11. However, upon an appeal of the plaintiffs 

challenging the resolution, the Cologne Higher Regional Court modified this judgment of dismissal 

under file number 18 U 21/12 and in doing so also cancelled the resolution to discharge the Manage-

ment Board, which had been objected to in connection with approval of formalities on attorneys’ costs. 

This was associated with fees of € 2,340.00, which the Chairman of the Supervisory Board had been 

granted with the approval of the Supervisory Board as part of the drawing-up of guidelines for the 

General Meeting in 2010. To this extent, a full internal Group audit therefore took place regarding all 

accounting procedures for the 2010 financial year, a joint meeting of the Management Board and Su-

pervisory Board was held on March 18, 2013 as well as the precautionary repayment of the disputed 

amount as early as February 2013 plus a cost position of € 390.00 for the additional work concerning a 

Management Board interview regarding the remuneration structure, which was also forwardly can-

celled. Moreover, approval was again granted by the Supervisory Board, whereby it was stated on this 

matter in the minutes of the Management Board on March 19, 2013: “The remaining audit resulted in 

no further findings. Also as a result it was confirmed by the Management Board that with the exception 

of the drawing-up of guidelines, for which the fees had already been re-paid, and that of the above-men-

tioned procedure, for which the fee is still to be requested, exclusively operating Management Board mat-

ters, which are not Supervisory Board matters, were included in the handling of the case. To this extent, 

the Management Board also confirms today the justification of the relevant instruction of the attorney.” 

The Supervisory Board was and is in a continuous dialog with the Management Board of the company, 

which it both advised and supervised in the management of the company pursuant to § 111 German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG). At the same time, the Supervisory Board dealt with the examination of 

its own efficiency. On the whole, no objections resulted from its activities and especially from the su-

pervision of the Management Board. Also for this reason, the Supervisory Board will recommend to 

the Annual General Meeting that the Management Board be discharged for the 2013 fiscal year. The 

Management Board kept the Supervisory Board informed about all Management Board meetings 

through the written agenda, and thereafter by way of minutes of the meetings. The same applies to the 

Group Committee Meetings, which serve to stimulate a comprehensive exchange of views among the 

executive staff of the SolarWorld group. 
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137The Supervisory Board was directly and on a timely basis involved in all decisions that were of fun-

damental importance to the company. The Management Board informed the Supervisory Board regu-

larly, both in writing and verbally, without delay and comprehensively, about all issues relevant to the 

company regarding strategy, planning, business development, risk situation, risk management and 

compliance. The Management Board has pointed out and will point out deviations from previously for-

mulated plans and/or targets, indicating the reasons therefor. In addition, comprehensive compliance 

regulations for the SolarWorld group were adopted, and Dr. Felicia Müller-Pelzer was appointed as 

“Global Compliance Officer”. She also reports to the Supervisory Board, the last time being at the meet-

ing of February 26, 2014 for the 2013 fiscal year. The Supervisory Board itself complies with the re-

porting duties both of § 90 AktG and of the GCGC. Its recommendations have been and will be ob-

served. On August 10, 2012, both the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld 

AG passed the following resolution and, thereafter, published it on the company‘s website: “that the 

recommendations of the ‚Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code‘ in the for-

merly valid version have been complied with since the last declaration of compliance on December 13, 

2011 and that the current version of May 15, 2012, which was published on June 15, 2012, is being and 

shall continue to be complied with.” Due to the restructuring, a modification declaration followed in 

this respect on March 18, 2013 with regard to the change in the publication of the Group accounts be-

yond 90 days after the end of the financial year, which had become necessary. With regard to the new 

GCGC version, it was then stated in conclusion still in the same year: “At the relevant meeting of Decem-

ber 20, 2013, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG decided on the con-

tinued validity of their compliance declaration of August 10, 2012 with its limitation of March 18, 2013 

also for the version of the GCGC of May 13, 2013, which was published on June 10, 2013. Hence the Man-

agement Board and the Supervisory Board declare that the recommendations of the German Corporate 

Governance Code taking into account the above-mentioned restriction were complied with in 2013 and 

will be further complied with.” This declaration has also been made permanently available pursuant to 

§ 161 AktG on the website of the company.

The section “Corporate Governance Report” in this Business/Group Report 2013 contains further 

details, unless the present report by the Supervisory Board already includes the information as 

required by section 3.10 GCGC. 

Insofar as the Supervisory Board pursuant to section 5.1.2 GCGC has to make sure that there is diver-

sity in the composition of the Management Board with particular emphasis on an adequate representa-

tion of women, this was taken up on July 1, 2011, when Mrs. Colette Rückert-Hennen was appointed as 

Management Board member for the Personnel and Brand executive division. Insofar as section 5.4.1 

also provides for a corresponding diversity for Supervisory Board members, we have already referred 

to the external influences regarding the next election to the Supervisory Board. From the Group‘s 

point of view, there is also no need to provide a declaration of deviation in this respect, since one third 

of, at least, the Supervisory Board of Solarparc AG is composed of women. The present Supervisory 

Board of SolarWorld AG will presumably not yet be able to make a corresponding election proposal 

for this. On the other hand, in line with the new regulation of section 5.4.6, a proposal for a purely 
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138 fixed remuneration for the Supervisory Board will be submitted at the next Annual General Meeting. 

The performance-related compensation, which is no longer included as a recommendation, is not ap-

plicable due to the results.

The tasks related to accounting and auditing are performed by the Supervisory Board as a group. The 

audit company BDO AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, which was appointed to audit the financial 

statements and the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG for the 2012 fiscal year, first 

renewed its declaration of independence as defined in section 7.2.1 GCGC, and thus confirmed that no 

business, financial, personal or other relationships exist between the auditor and its executive bodies 

and head auditors on the one hand, and the enterprise and the members of its executive bodies on the 

other hand, that might give rise to doubts about the auditor’s independence. It was also verified that 

the overall period of seven years of the authorization to issue an auditor’s certificate had not been ex-

ceeded for any of the auditors involved in the audit – and that applies groupwide. On the other hand, 

since the 2012 financial statements were not adopted before January 24, 2014, it was not possible to 

appoint the auditors for the 2013 fiscal year so that they had to be appointed by way of a court decision. 

The report to be given by the Supervisory Board on the results of its own examination should, accord-

ing to § 171 Sec. 2 AktG, also include a statement on which committees it has formed. As, however, the 

Supervisory Board of SolarWorld AG is limited to three members, an extensive formation of commit-

tees was not necessary again in the 2013 fiscal year. To the extent that § 175 Sec. 2 AktG requires an 

explanatory report on the information pursuant to § 289 Sec. 4, § 315 Sec. 4 HGB (German Commer-

cial Code), the Supervisory Board adopts the relevant report by the Management Board fully subscrib-

ing to the statements made in it. The management and consolidated management reports affected by 

this were also audited by BDO AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Bonn, which extended the audit 

to the accounting as well. The annual financial statements for the fiscal year from January 1, to De-

cember 31, 2013, drawn up by the Management Board according to the HGB accounting rules and the 

management report of SolarWorld AG were awarded an unqualified auditor’s certificate. The latter 

was issued on March 14, 2014, presented in the joint accounts review meeting on March 17, 2014, and 

taken up in the Supervisory Board‘s resolution concerning the adoption of the financial statements. At 

the same time, the auditor awarded an unqualified auditor’s certificate to the group management re-

port and the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG, which pursuant to § 315a HGB 

were again drawn up on the basis of the international accounting rules IFRS. The Supervisory Board 

approved the financial statements, too, on March 17, 2014.

After its own examination of the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, 

the management report and the group management report, the Supervisory Board approved the audit 

result presented by the auditors. It did not see any reasons for objections. No doubts concerning the 

correctness of the results produced by the auditors were raised, which is why any further investigation 

was not required and the resolutions concerning the adoption and approval of the annual financial 

statements as well as the consolidated financial statements could be passed. Previously, the Supervi-

sory Board discussed the audit results of the auditors and the financial statements prepared by the 

Management Board in the final meeting on February 26, 2014. The Chief Financial Officer attended 

the meeting. He had also attended the preliminary discussions and meetings pursuant to section 7.1.2 
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139GCGC regarding the relevant publication of the quarterly and half-yearly financial reports. Pursuant 

to section 3.6 of the GCGC, Supervisory Board meetings without the participation of the Management 

Board took only place on April 18 and May 15, 2013, whilst the Supervisory Board also integrated ad-

ditional executive staff of the Group, for example, from the research field, into the two events for train-

ing and professional development on June 25 and December 20, 2013, which both took place at Solar-

World Innovations GmbH in Freiberg, Saxony. In this way, the relevant requirements of section 5.4.5 

GCGC were also adhered to. Here, the topic of further training and professional development was es-

tablished as a mutual obligation of the company and of the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board thanks all staff of the Group, who have reacted to the market fluctuations and 

restructuring requirements in such a professional and committed way. The Supervisory Board is con-

fident that these efforts will also ensure the long-term success of the company. 

This report was unanimously approved by the Supervisory Board of Solar World AG immediately fol-

lowing the accounts review meeting on March 17, 2014, and the minutes were signed by all members.

Bonn, March 18, 2014

For the Supervisory Board 

Dr. Claus Recktenwald 

Chairman 
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Notes 2013 2012

1. Revenue 25, 27, 39 455,821 606,394

2. Change in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 13, 25, 48 – 91,925 – 64,666

3. Own work capitalized 28 542 65

4. Other operating income 25, 29 59,287 166,459

5. Cost of materials 30 – 272,666 – 534,568

6. Personnel expenses 31 – 112,366 – 129,378

7. Amortization and depreciation 9, 32, 40 – 41,877 – 417,564

8. Other operating expenses 25, 33 – 185,480 – 247,066

9. Operating result – 188,664 – 620,324

10. Result from investments measured at equity 11, 35, 44 – 5,309 – 14,638

11. Interest and similar financial income 25, 35 373 2,406

12. Interest payable and similar financial expenses 25, 35 – 70,286 – 73,515

13. Other financial result 25, 35 – 1,517 18,258

14. Financial result – 76,739 – 67,489

15. Result before taxes on income – 265,403 – 687,813

16. Taxes on income 26, 36 37,097 81,522

17. Consolidated net result – 228,307 – 606,291

Of which attributable to:

- Shareholders of SolarWorld AG – 228,307 – 606,291

18. Earnings per share 37

a)  Weighted average number of shares outstanding (in 1,000) 110,795 110,795

b) Consolidated net result (in €) – 2.06 – 5.47
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Note 38 2013 2012*

Consolidated net result – 228,307 – 606,291

Actuarial losses 

 Actuarial losses, before tax – 271 – 875

 Deferred taxes on actuarial losses 81 262

Actuarial losses, net of tax – 190 – 613

Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss – 190 – 613

Exchange differences from currency translations

 Unrealized currency translation losses – 4,085 – 4,737

 Deferred taxes relating to exchange differences on translating foreign operations 906 2,331

Exchange differences from currency translations, net of tax – 3,179 – 2,406

Cash flow hedges

 Fair value changes recognized in other comprehensive result 0 – 5,671

 Deferred taxes on cash flow hedges 0 1,730

Cash flow hedges, net of tax 0 – 3,941

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to loss – 3,179 – 6,347

Other comprehensive net result – 3,369 – 6,960

Of which:

 Other comprehensive result before tax – 4,356 – 11,283

 Deferred taxes relating to other compehensive result 987 4,323

Total comprehensive result – 231,676 – 613,251

Of which attributable to: 

- Shareholders of SolarWorld AG – 231,676 – 613,251

* Comparative figures were adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.22. We refer to our comments in note 1.
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ASSETS Notes 31/12/13 31/12/12* 01/01/12*

A. Non-current assets 483,003 501,001 1,068,447

I. Intangible assets 7, 9, 40, 41 8,425 8,154 20,521

II. Property, plant and equipment 8, 9, 40, 42 306,866 330,459 744,681

III. Investment property 10, 40, 43 15,106 24,967 27,231

IV. Investments measured at equity 11, 44 18,891 23,368 37,842

V. Other financial assets 16, 45, 64 360 672 790

VI. Other non-current assets 12, 47 11,977 34,938 235,133

VII. Deferred tax assets 26, 36, 46 121,378 78,442 2,248

B. Current assets 441,800 689,917 1,167,326

I. Inventories 13, 48 119,151 222,523 378,395

II. Trade receivables 14, 49, 65 48,859 55,569 123,021

III. Current income tax assets 26, 36, 50 1,353 1,054 35,472

IV. Other receivables and assets 15, 51 25,234 29,068 32,984

V. Other financial assets 16, 20, 52, 64 83,541 157,593 44,109

VI. Liquid funds 17, 53, 64, 65 163,662 224,109 553,345

C. Asstes held for sale 18, 53 7,032 1,312 0

931,835 1,192,230 2,235,773

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes 31/12/13 31/12/12* 01/01/12*

A.  Equity 55 – 243,084 – 11,409 614,566

I.  Equity attributable to shareholders  

of SolarWorld AG – 243,084 – 11,409 612,588

 1. Subscribed capital 110,795 110,795 110,795

 2. Capital reserve 68 296,562 296,562

 3. Other reserves 7,369 10,738 17,698

 4. Accumulated results – 361,317 – 429,504 187,533

II. Non-controlling shares 0 0 1,978

B. Non-current liabilities 600,023 634,669 1,339,099

I. Non-current financial liabilities 19, 20, 56, 64 536,629 537,555 1,150,888

II. Accrued investment grants 21, 57 31,105 38,176 56,773

III. Non-current provisions 22, 23, 58 29,414 29,646 32,021

IV. Other non-current liabilities 24, 59 302 27,029 83,774

V. Deferred tax liabilities 26, 36, 60 2,573 2,262 15,643

C. Current liabilities 574,896 568,970 282,107

I. Current financial liabilities 19, 20, 56, 64 485,508 467,226 120,981

II. Trade payables 19, 64 17,456 32,632 64,433

III. Income tax liabilities 26, 36, 61 6,345 4,757 18,159

IV. Current provisions 23, 58 9,987 19,411 13,004

V. Other current liabilities 24, 59 55,601 44,944 65,531

931,835 1,192,230 2,235,773

* Comparative figures were adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.22. We refer to our comments in note 1. 



146

SOL A R WORLD 2013 

72 // IN K€

Other reserves

Notes 4, 55

Sub-

scribed 

capital

Capital 

reserve

Cur-

rency 

trans-

lation 

reserve

Reserve 

from 

 hedging of 

cash flows*

IAS 19 

reserve**

Accumu-

lated 

results

Non-

control-

ling 

interests Total

As at Dec 31, 2011 110,795 296,562 13,582 3,941 0 187,533 1,978 614,391

Adjustment in accor-

dance with IAS 8.22 175 175

As at Jan 1, 2012, 

adjusted** 110,795 296,562 13,582 3,941 175 187,533 1,978 614,566

Increase of the majority 

interest in Solarparc AG 

(transaction between 

owners) – 774 – 1,978 – 2,752

Dividend distribution – 9,972 – 9,972

Total comprehensive 

result – 2,406 – 3,941 – 613 – 606,291 – 613,251

As at Dec 31, 2012 

adjusted** 110,795 296,562 11,176 0 – 438 – 429,504 0 – 11,409

Allocation to revenue 

reserves – 296,494 296,494 0

Total comprehensive 

result – 3,179 0 – 190 – 228,307 0 – 231,676

As at Dec 31, 2013 110,795 68 7,997 0 – 628 – 361,317 0 – 243,084

*  Hereinafter “hedging reserve”

** Comparative figures were adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.22. We refer to our comments in note 1.
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Note 65 2013 2012

Result before tax – 265,403 – 687,813

+ Amortization and depreciation 41,877 417,564

+ Financial result (excluding profits and losses from currency translation) 75,668 67,026

– Profit from disposal of assets – 470 – 6,024

– Reversal of accrued investment grants – 6,522 – 48,299

+ Other material non-cash expenses 83,025 129,779

= Cash flow from operating result – 71,825 – 127,767

+ Decrease in inventories 93,266 10,382

+ Decrease in trade receivables 7,345 59,884

– Decrease in trade payables – 13,711 – 28,925

+ Development in other net assets 9,640 19,732

= Cash flow from operating result and changes in net assets 24,714 – 66,694

+ Interest received 336 2,935

–/+ Taxes on income paid/received – 7,726 16,518

= Cash flow from operating activities 17,324 – 47,241

– Cash payments for investments in fixed assets – 24,221 – 52,543

+ Cash receipt investment grants 10 27,508

+ Cash receipts from the disposal of fixed assets 302 32,469

+ Cash receipts from financial investments 0 7,871

– Cash payments from the acquisition of consolidated entities 0 – 2,304

= Cash flow from investing activities – 23,909 13,001

– Cash payments from the repayment of loans – 1,778 – 214,823

– Interest and restructuring expenses paid – 50,454 – 69,949

– Cash payments due to dividend distributions 0 – 9,972

= Cash flow from financing activities – 52,232 – 294,744

– Net changes in cash and cash equivalents – 58,817 – 328,984

– Currency and consolidation-related change of cash and cash equivalents – 1,630 – 252

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 224,109 553,345

= Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 163,662 224,109
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SolarWorld AG is a listed corporation domiciled at Martin-Luther-King-Straße 24, Bonn, Germany. SolarWorld 

AG’s Management Board prepared the consolidated statements on March 14, 2014.

SolarWorld group is one of the leading manufacturers of crystalline solar power technology worldwide. Solar-

World AG and its subsidiaries research, develop, produce and recycle on all levels of the solar value added chain. 

The focus of operations is on the production and international distribution of high-end solar energy facilities – from 

rooftop solar systems to components for outdoor solar parks. The products can be used both in the on- and off-grid 

area.

In accordance with § 315a HGB, SolarWorld AG prepared its consolidated financial statements per Dec. 31, 2013 

pursuant to the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) as applicable in the European Union (“EU-Endorsement”) at balance sheet date as well as to the interpreta-

tions of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC). In addition, the commercial law 

regulations further stated in § 315a para. 1 HGB were taken into account. All mandatory applicable standards and 

interpretations have been considered. IFRS that have not yet entered into force have not been adopted.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in Euro. Unless otherwise stated, all amounts are rounded 

 either up or down to the nearest full thousand (k€) in accordance with commercial rounding.

The income statement was prepared in accordance with the nature of expense method. Balance sheet classifications 

follow maturities. For the purpose of clear and more comprehensive presentation, individual items are combined on 

balance sheet and income statement. Additional details are given in the notes where those items are presented sep-

arately.

With regard to applied accounting policies, we refer to the illustration of the accounting principles below. They basi-

cally correspond with those principles applied last year except for those stated as an exception from that rule below.

First-time mandatory application of standards and interpretations in 2013

The following standards and interpretations or substantial amendments were to be applied in 2013 for the first time:

IFRS 7 – OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES. The amendments were published on December 

16, 2011 and adopted into European law on December 13, 2012. The amendments of IFRS 7 require that, for finan-

cial instruments, information on rights of set-off and related agreements (e. g. hedging requirements) be disclosed 

in an enforceable set-off master agreement or a corresponding agreement. The amendments are mandatorily effec-

tive for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Entities shall provide the disclosures in the notes 

retrospectively for all comparative periods. As the Group does not have any offsetting arrangements in place, the 

application of the amendments has had no material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts recognized in the 

consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

IFRS 13 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT. The standard was published by the IASB on May 12, 2011, adopted into Euro-

pean law on December 11, 2012 and is mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2013. IFRS 13 reflects the measurement regulations for determining the fair value and refers to almost all other 
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standards (with the exception of IAS 2 “Inventories”, 17 “Leases”, and IFRS 2 “Share-based payment”). The stan-

dard itself does not contain any provisions as to when the fair value shall be used. The amendments will not affect 

the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

AMENDMENTS IAS 12 – DEFERRED TA XES. The IASB issued the amendments on December 20, 2010. They were adopted 

into European law on December 11, 2012 and became effective on January 1, 2013. For the purpose of recognizing 

deferred taxes, it is presumed that the economic benefits from investment property measured at fair value in accor-

dance with the option provided by IAS 40 are realized through sale, not collection over time. This, however, only 

applies if the presumption is not rebutted. The amendments are mandatorily effective for accounting periods be-

ginning on or after January 1, 2013. The amendments do not affect the consolidated financial statements of Solar-

World AG, as investment property is measured at amortized cost. We refer to our statements in note 10.

AMENDMENTS IAS 19 – EMPLOYEE BENEFITS. The amendments published by the IASB on June 16, 2011 were adopted 

into European law on June 5, 2012 and are compulsory for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2013. The amendments mainly concern the recognition of actuarial gains and losses. While previously an option 

regarding the recognition on the income statement or in “Other Comprehensive Income” existed, recognition in 

“Other Comprehensive Income” is now mandatory. The “corridor approach” that was possible in accordance with 

the former IAS 19 was eliminated. The group income statement will now stay clear of effects from actuarial gains 

and losses, as these have to be recognized in other comprehensive income in the future. The amended IAS 19 is 

 applicable retroactively.

In accordance with IAS 8.22, the effects of the changes in accounting policies were considered retrospectively. The 

comparative amounts of the period 2012 as well as of January 1, 2012 were modified accordingly. Unredeemed actu-

arial losses as at December 31, 2012 (as at January 1, 2012: unredeemed actuarial gains) were recognized in other 

reserves in these consolidated interim financial statements. In addition to the adjustments made on the balance 

sheet, the statement of changes in equity as well as the statement of other comprehensive result have also been ad-

justed in this regard.

An adjustment of the measurement of partial retirement obligations to the amendments of IAS 19 was not con-

ducted. This is especially due to the fact that most of the persons concerned are already on leave and thus only 

marginal changes with no material impact on these consolidated interim financial statements would come about.

The impacts of the mentioned adjustments on the items of the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:
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Adjustment to the balance sheet

Assets Equity and liabilities

in k€

A.VII.  

Deferred tax 

assets

A.I.3. 

Other 

Reserve

B.III. 

Non-current 

 provisions

B.V. 

Deferred  

tax liabilities

Jan 1, 2012 prior to adjustment 2,248 17,523 32,270 16,568

Adjustment 0 175 – 249 75

Jan 1, 2012 after adjustment 2,248 17,698 32,021 16,643

Dec 31, 2012 prior to adjustment 78,255 11,176 29,020 2,262

Adjustment 188 – 438 626 0

Dec 31, 2012 after adjustment 78,442 10,738 29,646 2,262

AMENDMENTS IAS 1 – PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. The IASB issued the amendments on July 16, 2011 

and adopted it into European law on June 5, 2012. The amendments introduce new terminology, whose use is not 

mandatory, for the statement of comprehensive income and income statement. Under the amendments to IAS 1, the 

“statement of comprehensive income” is renamed as the “statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive re-

sult” [and the “income statement” is renamed as the “statement of profit and loss”]. The company has not applied 

this new terminology.

The amendments to IAS 1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either a sin-

gle statement or in two separate but consecutive statements. The SolarWorld group decided to present all items of 

income and expense recognized in a period in two statements, a separate income statement and a statement of com-

prehensive income. The statement of comprehensive income directly follows the income statement.

However, the amendments to IAS 1 require items of “Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)” to be grouped into two 

categories in the other comprehensive income section:

a. Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and

b.  Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions are met (so-called 

 “Recycling”).

The amendments are mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012. Hence, 

SolarWorld AG has modified the presentation of items of other comprehensive result to reflect the change. Other 

than the above mentioned presentation changes, the application of the amendments to IAS 1 does not result in any 

impact on profit or loss, other comprehensive result and total comprehensive result..

IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS. On May 17, 2012, the IASB – in the scope of its annual improvement process – published 

updates of IFRS in terms of smaller and less urgent adjustments that were adopted into European law on March 27, 

2013. As a basic rule, the amendments are mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after Janu-

ary 1, 2013. Most of the adjustments concern clarifications and substantiations of existing IAS/IFRS or amendments 

that result from IFRS modifications already conducted. The following selected contents of the collective standard 

regarding improvements of IFRS had to be taken into account upon preparing the consolidated financial statements 

for SolarWorld group:

IAS 1 requires that entities prepare a third balance sheet per the 

beginning of the comparative period if accounting principles are used retrospectively or balance sheet items are 

adjusted or reclassified retrospectively. The amendments of IAS 1 clarify that an obligations to prepare the third 

balance sheet only exists if the retrospective adjustments materially affect the information of the third balance 

sheet. In addition it is clarified that disclosures in the notes are not necessary with regard to the third balance 
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sheet. As the Group has applied the revised IAS 19 in the current year, a third balance sheet as at January 1, 2012 

has presented in accordance with the amended standard. Disclosures in the notes that exceed the requirements 

of IAS 8 were not conducted.

The amendments of IAS 16 clarify that spare parts, replacement equip-

ment and maintenance machines constitute property, plant and equipment if they meet the definition criteria; 

otherwise they have to be treated as inventories. This amendment does not affect the consolidated financial state-

ments of SolarWorld AG, as the group already proceeds in accordance with the new regulation.

The amendments of IAS 32 clarify that income taxes in connec-

tion with distributions to owners of equity instruments and costs of equity transactions shall be treated in accor-

dance with IAS 12. Thus, income tax-related consequences from dividends and from transaction expenses (issu-

ance or repurchase of equity instruments) have to be recognized on the income statement and in equity, respec-

tively. These amendments do not affect the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

 IAS 34 – INTERIM FINANCIAL REPORTING. The amendments of IAS 34 clarify that the presentation of changes in seg-

ment assets and liabilities in the interim report are mandatory only if they substantially changed as compared to 

the prior year’s financial statements and such changes are periodically reported to the main decision making bod-

ies. These amendments do not affect the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

IFRIC 20 – Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine. IFRIC 20 was published on October 19, 2011, 

adopted into European law on December 11, 2012 and is mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2013. The interpretation clarifies if and under what requirements stripping costs that are in-

curred in the scope of developing a surface mine constitute assets and how initial and subsequent measurement 

are to be carried out. The amendments do not affect the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

Standards and interpretations not yet mandatory

In the current period, SolarWorld AG did not apply any non-mandatory standards early.

On May 12, 2011, the IASB published three new (IFRS 10, 11 and 12) and two revised (IAS 27 and 28) standards 

that comprise new consolidation regulations (so-called “consolidation package”). These were adopted into Euro-

pean law on December 11, 2012 and become operative for financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 

2014. The amendments will not materially affect the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

This standard establishes a uniform basis for the definition of a 

parent-subsidiary relationship or the precise demarcation of the consolidated entity. The definition of control 

changes insofar as the same criteria applies for each entity upon determining the control relationship. This stan-

dard replaces the previously relevant provisions in IAS 27 (“Consolidated and separate financial statements”) and 

SIC 12 (“Consolidation – special purpose entities”).

This standard replaces the current provisions of IAS 31 (“Interests in joint ven-

tures”) and SIC 13 (“Jointly controlled entities – non-monetary contributions by ventures”) and includes provi-

sions regarding identification, classification and recognition of joint arrangements. Only two types of joint ar-

rangements exist anymore: Joint Ventures that may only be accounted for using the equity method from now on 

(i. e. quota consolidation is no longer permitted) and Joint Operations that directly recognize in their consolidated 

financial statements all assets, liabilities, expenses and revenue from such joint operation in relation to their inter-

est in such joint operation. The consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG recognize both investments 

in associates and joint ventures in accordance with the equity method. We refer to our corresponding statements 

in note 11.
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IFRS 12 determines the necessary disclosures for entities 

that are required in accordance with the new standards IFRS 10 and 11. The standard replaces the disclosure re-

quirements currently included in IAS 28 “Investments in Associates” and the disclosure requirements regarding 

consolidated financial statements included in IAS 27. The objective is to enable the user of financial statements to 

better evaluate the type, risks and financial consequences of interests in other entities.

The newly issued IFRS 10 and 12 now provide separate regulations on 

consolidated financial statements. Thus, IAS 27 now only states the regulations regarding separate financial 

statements and was hence renamed accordingly.

With the introduction of IFRS 10, 11 and 12, the adjusted IAS 28 governs 

accounting for investments in associates and the requirements for the application of the equity method upon rec-

ognition of investments in associates and joint ventures.

On June 28, 2012, amendments of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 were published to clarify the legislative content of 

certain transitional guidelines regarding their first time application. As a basic rule, entities shall apply the amend-

ments of the transitional guidelines for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Initial application 

in the EU will probably only be mandatory for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The amendments will 

not materially affect the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

On October 31, 2012, amendments of IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 were published that become operative for ac-

counting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. Herein, investment entities are defined as an independent 

type of companies and exempted from the consolidation regulations of IFRS 10. Instead, investment entities have to 

present interests held for investment purposes at fair value. The amendments will not affect the consolidated finan-

cial statements of SolarWorld AG.

IAS 32 – OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES. The standard was published on December 16, 

2011 and was adopted into European law on December 13, 2012. The amendments of IAS 32 clarify existing appli-

cation problems with regard to offsetting criteria for financial assets and financial liabilities. The amendments es-

pecially clarify the meaning of the terms “currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous 

realization and settlement”. The amendments of IAS 32 become operative for accounting periods beginning on or 

after January 1, 2014, and shall be applied retrospectively. We do not assume that these amendments will materi-

ally affect the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld AG.

AMENDMENTS TO IAS 36 – RECOVERABLE AMOUNT DISCLOSURES FOR NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS. On May 29, 2013 the IASB 

issued “Recoverable Amount for Disclosures for Non-Financial Assets (Amendments to IAS 36)” that address changes 

of the disclosure requirements of IAS 36. They were adopted into European law on December 19, 2013. The amend-

ments realize the IASB’s original intention that the scope of the disclosures is limited to the recoverable amount of 

non-financial assets for which an impairment loss has been recognized or reversed during the period if that amount 

is based on fair value less costs of disposal. In addition the disclosure requirements have been amended when the 

recoverable amount is based on fair value less costs of disposal. The amendments are effective retrospectively for 

accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, while earlier application is permitted in so far as IFRS 13 

has already been applied. The EU has not yet endorsed the amendments. Currently, Management does not expect 

the amendments – if endorsed by the EU in the current version – to have a material impact on the Group’s consoli-

dated financial statements.
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AMENDMENTS TO IAS 39 – NOVATION OF DERIVATIVES AND CONTINUATION OF HEDGE ACCOUNTING. On June 27, 2013 the 

IASB issued “Novation of Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting (Amendments to IAS 39)” that amends 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments. They were adopted into European law on December 19, 2013. The amendments allow 

hedge accounting to continue in a situation where a derivative, which has been designed as a hedging instrument, 

is novated to effect clearing with a central counterparty as a result of law or regulation, if specific conditions are 

met. The amendments are effective retrospectively for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014, 

while earlier application is permitted. The EU has not yet endorsed the amendments. Currently, Management does 

not expect the amendments – if endorsed by the EU in the current version – to have a material impact on the Group’s 

consolidated financial statements.

The following accounting standards were passed in 2013 however not yet adopted into European law by the EU 

as of December 31, 2013:

IMPROVEMENTS TO IFRS. On December 12, 2013, the IASB – in the scope of its annual improvement process – issued 

updates of IFRS in terms of smaller and less urgent adjustments that have not yet been adopted into European law. 

The following selected contents of the collective standard regarding improvements of IFRS had to be taken into ac-

count upon preparing the consolidated financial statements for SolarWorld group:

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle:

 Amends the definitions of ‘vesting condition’ and ‘market condition’ and adds 

definitions for ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’ (which were previously part of the definition of 

‘vesting condition’).

 Clarifies that contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability 

shall be measured at fair value at each reporting date.

 Requires an entity to disclose the judgements made by management in applying 

the aggregation criteria to operating segments. Clarifies that an entity shall only provide reconciliations of the 

total of the reportable segments’ assets to the entity’s assets if the segment assets are reported regularly.

 Clarifies that issuing IFRS 13 and amending IFRS 9 and IAS 39 did not re-

move the ability to measure short-term receivables and payables with no stated interest rate at their invoice 

amounts without discounting if the effect of not discounting is immaterial.

 Clarifies that when an item of property, plant and equipment is reval-

ued the gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying 

amount.

 Clarifies that an entity providing key management personnel services to 

the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity is a related party of the reporting entity.

 Clarifies that when an intangible asset is revalued, the gross carrying amount is 

 adjusted in a manner that is consistent with the revaluation of the carrying amount.

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle:

 Clarifies that IFRS 3 excludes from its scope the accounting for the formation 

of a joint arrangement in the financial statements of the joint arrangement itself.
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 Clarifies that the scope of the portfolio exception defined in paragraph 52 of 

IFRS 13 includes all contracts accounted for within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement or IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, regardless of whether they meet the definition of financial assets 

or financial liabilities as defined in IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation.

 The acquisition of investment property can meet the definition of both the acqui-

sition of an asset, a group of assets or a business combination in the scope of IFRS 3. It is clarified, that in case 

the conditions of a business combination in the scope of IFRS 3 are met and the business combination includes 

investment property, the separate application of both standards independently of each other is required.

The amendments of both cycles become mandatorily effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2014. We do not assume that these amendments will materially affect the consolidated financial statements of 

SolarWorld AG.

IFRS 9 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS. IFRS 9 was published on November 12, 2009. It reflects the first phase of the IASB 

project for the replacement of IAS 39 and concerns the classification and measurement of financial assets as defined 

in IAS 39. The standard was originally applicable for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Per 

December 16, 2011, however, the effective date of IFRS 9 was changed to accounting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2015. Moreover, the relief from restating comparative periods and associated disclosures in IFRS 7 was 

modified. In further phases, the IASB will expand IFRS 9 to add new requirements regarding the classification and 

measurement of financial liabilities, hedge accounting and impairments. The results of the initial phase of IFRS 9 

will probably affect the classification and measurement of financial assets of SolarWorld group. To present a com-

prehensive picture of potential consequences, the group will quantify the consequences only in connection with 

the other phases once they are published.

IFRIC 21 – LEVIES. On May 20, 2013 the IASB issued IFRIC 21 “Levies”, an interpretation of IAS 37 “Provisions, 

Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”. The interpretation determines the accounting for levies imposed by 

governments, other than income taxes according to IAS 12, and clarifies in particular when an entity should recog-

nize a liability to pay a levy. The interpretation is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after January 1, 

2014, while earlier application is permitted. The EU has not yet endorsed the interpretation. Currently, Manage-

ment does not expect the interpretation – if endorsed by the EU in the current version – to have a material impact 

on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

39). On November 19, 2013 the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (Hedge Accounting 

and Amendments to IFRS 9, IFRS 7 and IAS 39). The amendments establish a new model that represents a substan-

tial overhaul of hedge accounting that will enable entities to better reflect their risk management activities in their 

financial statements. In addition extensive disclosures are required. Moreover recognizing fair value changes of li-

abilities due to credit rating within equity will be possible to be earlier adopted without applying the complete reg-

ulations of IFRS 9. Furthermore the IASB decided to abandon the mandatory date of January 1, 2015; a new date 

should be decided upon when the entire IFRS 9 project is closer to completion. The EU has not yet endorsed the 

standard including the amendments. Currently, Management is not able to finally assess the impact of the adoption 

of the standard including the amendments – if endorsed by the EU in the current version.

On November 21, 2013 the IASB issued 

narrow-scope amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” titled “Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions 

(Amendments to IAS 19)”. The amendments are applicable to recognizing contributions of employees or third par-

ties to defined benefit plans. Hereby it will be allowed to recognize employees’ or third parties’ contributions as a 

reduction of current service costs in the period in which the corresponding servicing has been rendered if the con-

tributions are independent of the number of years of employee service. The amendments to IAS 19 are to be applied 

for accounting periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014; earlier application is permitted. The EU has not yet en-

dorsed the amendments. Currently, Management does not expect the amendments – if endorsed by the EU in the 

current version – to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Changes in accounting methods

SolarWorld AG has applied all accounting principles endorsed by the EU and compulsory for accounting periods 

beginning before or on January 1, 2013, if affecting these consolidated financial statements. We refer to our com-

ments stated above.

The consolidated financial statements include SolarWorld AG and all domestic and foreign entities of which Solar-

World AG directly or indirectly owns the majority of the voting rights of the entity or can otherwise control the en-

tity’s activities. These entities are fully consolidated at the time SolarWorld AG is able to exert control. Consolida-

tion ends at the time SolarWorld AG no longer controls the respective entity. Joint ventures and associates are cap-

italized using the equity method.

The figure below shows SolarWorld group’s consolidated entities and their structure at December 31, 2013:
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*  Structure of the subgroup on next page  

** Consolidated at equity

100 % Go!Sun GmbH & Co. KG // Bonn, Germany

100 % Solarparc Verwaltungs GmbH // Freiberg, Germany

100 % Solarparc Ziegelscheune GmbH & Co. KG // Freiberg, Germany

Deutsche Cell GmbH // Freiberg, Germany

Solar Factory GmbH // Freiberg, Germany

SolarWorld Innovations GmbH // Freiberg, Germany

Deutsche Solar GmbH // Freiberg, Germany100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

SolarWorld Solicium GmbH // Freiberg, Germany100 %

SolarWorld Czech s.r.o. // Teplice, Czech Republic100 %

SolarWorld Industries America Inc. // Hillsboro, U.S.

100 % SolarWorld Industries Deutschland GmbH // Bonn, Germany

1 %

SolarWorld Industries Services LLC // Camarillo, U.S.

99 % SolarWorld Industries America LP // Camarillo, U.S.

100 % SolarWorld Americas LLC // Camarillo, U.S.

100 % SolarWorld Industries Americas LLC // Camarillo, U.S.

100 % SolarWorld Asia Pacific PTE Ltd. // Singapore, Singapore

100 % SolarWorld Ibérica S.L. // Madrid, Spain

100 % SolarWorld France SAS // Grenoble, France

100 % SolarWorld Africa (Pty.) Ltd. // Cape Town, South Africa

100 %

78.74 %21.26 %

49 % SolarWorld AG & Solar Holding GmbH in GbR Auermühle // Bonn, Germany

100 % Solarparc AG // Bonn, Germany*

29 % Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C. // Doha, Qatar**

Solarparc Rubin Verw. GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

74

SolarWorld AG  

// Bonn, Germany
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Solarparc No. 1 GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc No. 17 GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Project IV GmbH & Co. KG // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Donau I GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Donau II GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Go!Sun Verw. GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Diamant Verw. GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc GbR // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Brillant GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Deutschland I GmbH // Bonn, Germany100 %

Solarparc Project V GmbH & Co. KG // Bonn, Germany100 %

TO

75

Solarparc AG 

// Bonn, Germany
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Per the end of first quarter 2013, two solar projects and the respective project entities SEPV8 LLC and SEPV9 LLC 

were sold to an third party investor, which made for revenue of € 47,869k.

With contract under the law of obligation dated April 17, 2013, Solarparc Diamant GmbH & Co. KG was sold to a 

third party investor. Upon meeting substantial conditions precedent, the entity was deconsolidated in the reporting 

period, which made for revenue of € 30,739k.

With contract dated November 12, 2013, SolarWorld AG acquired Solarparc Rubin Verwaltungs GmbH, Bonn, 

and Solarparc Rubin GmbH & Co. KG, Bonn, from Solarparc AG, Bonn, Germany. On December 6, 2013, Solar-

parc Rubin GmbH & Co. KG concluded a profit and loss transfer agreement with SolarWorld Industries Deutsch- 

land GmbH, Bonn, Germany. With the agreement of December 21, 2013, Solarparc Rubin Verwaltungs GmbH 

left the limited partnership Solarparc Rubin GmbH & Co. KG. Thus, Solarparc Rubin GmbH & Co. KG merged into 

SolarWorld AG. Consequently, the profit and loss transfer agreement concluded with SolarWorld Industries 

Deutschland GmbH was transferred to SolarWorld AG.

On November 26, 2013, SolarWorld AG signed a contract on the purchase of parts of the solar business of Robert 

Bosch GmbH. For this purpose, the company SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen GmbH, a 100 percent subsid-

iary of SolarWorld AG, Bonn, was newly formed. In a so-called asset deal, SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen 

GmbH will take over a large part of manufacturing plants and further assets of Bosch Solar Energy AG. The trans-

action is still subject to the relevant antitrust approval as well as further closing conditions. Closing was on March 

12, 2014.

In connection with the acquisition of the shares in SolarWorld AG & Solar Holding GmbH in GbR Auermühle 

(Auermühle), SolarWorld AG and Solar Holding Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH were each granted the right to 

acquire and dispose of up to 45% of the shares in the entity. The entity was thus fully consolidated per April 30, 

2010.

JSSi GmbH, an associate accounted for using the equity method, in which SolarWorld AG has held a 49 percent 

investment, was sold by way of an agreement dated July 2, 2013.

In the reporting year, the associated entity SolarCycle GmbH that was recognized using the equity method and in 

which SolarWorld AG held a 24 percent investment was liquidated.

SolarWorld Schalke GmbH remains in liquidation. 

Deutsche Solar GmbH, Deutsche Cell GmbH, Solar Factory GmbH, SolarWorld Innovations GmbH and 

SolarWorld Solicium GmbH utilize the disclosure and preparation facilitations provided by § 264 para. 3 HGB.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated once the group has control. Consolidation ends once the parent company does 

not have control any longer. The financial statements of domestic and foreign consolidated entities are reconciled to 

uniform accounting policies for the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements (we refer to notes 7 

to 26). The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as those of the par-

ent company. All intercompany balances, income and expenses as well as unrealized profits and losses and divi-

dends from intercompany transactions are eliminated in full.

The following additions apply with regard to recognition of project entities that were or are specially established 

for the construction, operation and marketing of solar parks: Amongst other things, SolarWorld group’s opera-

tions include the development, construction and marketing of solar parks. For this purpose, special project entities 

are founded that are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements if SolarWorld group controls 

them in terms of IAS 27 or SIC 12 or the substantial economic opportunities and risks lie with SolarWorld group. 

Deliveries and services rendered to the respective project entity by SolarWorld group within the consolidation 

period therefore do not result in revenue recognition but instead either result in an increase of inventories through 

work in progress or finished goods or of fixed assets in the case of external marketing not scheduled in the 
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medium-term. Revenue recognition occurs at the time of deconsolidation, i. e. when SolarWorld group no longer 

controls the project entity. Since the construction and marketing of solar parks is part of SolarWorld group’s op-

erations, deconsolidation of project entities, from an economic point of view, equals the sale of a solar park that is 

therefore recognized as a revenue transaction on the income statement and shown in the cash flow from operating 

activities on the cash flow statement.

For capital consolidation, cost of the investment is offset with the proportional equity amount – measured at fair 

value – at the time of acquisition. A resulting positive difference is allocated to the assets insofar as their carrying 

amount differs from the fair value. Any remaining positive difference is considered goodwill. A negative difference 

is recognized through profit and loss.

Financial statements of the consolidated companies that are presented in foreign currencies are translated into 

Euro (€) in accordance with the concept of functional currency as set forth by IAS 21. The functional currency of 

foreign companies is determined by the primary economic environment in which the company principally gener-

ates and uses means of payment. Within SolarWorld AG, functional currency basically equals the domestic cur-

rency with the exemption of SolarWorld Asia Pacific PTE Ltd. and Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C. whose 

functional currency is US$.

For the purpose of translating the foreign companies’ financial statements into the reporting currency of the group, 

assets and liabilities are translated per closing rate while expenses and revenue are translated by means of the av-

erage annual rate. Due to the application of the closing date method, differences resulting from the translation are 

transferred to a currency exchange reserve, thereby not affecting profit or loss. The amount recognized in the re-

serve for a foreign operation is rerecognized and shown on the income statement upon disposal of the foreign oper-

ation.

The following exchange rates were used for currency translation:

Closing rate Average rate

1 € = 31/12/13 31/12/12 2013 2012

U.S. (US$) 1.38 1.32 1.33 1.29

South Africa (ZAR) 14.57 11.17 13.01 10.58

Czech Republic (CZK) 27.43 25.15 26.03 25.14

In the scope of preparing the consolidated financial statements in consideration of IFRS, some items require that 

judgments, estimations and assumptions are made which affect recognition and measurement of assets and liabili-

ties on the balance sheet or the amount and presentation of revenue and expenses on the group’s income statement 

as well as the statement of contingent assets and liabilities. The uncertainty of these assumptions and estimations 

might make for results leading to significant adjustments of the carrying amount of the respective assets or liabili-

ties in future periods.

The following substantial judgments, estimates and assumptions were made when the group’s financial statements 

in 2013 were prepared:
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The consolidated financial statements are based on the assumption of a going concern. This assumption is based 

on a restructuring concept that the company has prepared in accordance with the standards for the preparation of 

restructuring concepts by IDW (IDW ES 6 new version) and that has been assessed by external expert. The essen-

tial basis of this concept is the successful implementation of the financial restructuring measures that has been 

successfully completed on February 24, 2014. We refer to note 63.

Furthermore, the most significant assumptions and estimations concern the measurement of inventories, usability 

of deferred tax assets, the reversal of customer advances through profit and loss, impairment tests for fixed assets, 

measurement of claims for repayment of prepayments made for long-term silicon contracts and accounting and 

measurement of provisions especially provisions for potential contingent losses and warranties. These assumptions 

and estimations are based on premises that are, in turn, based on the respective state of knowledge currently avail-

able. However, these circumstances and assumptions regarding future developments can change due to market 

fluctuations and the market situation as well as legal assessments to the contrary that lie outside the group’s influ-

ence. Such changes are included in the assumptions only upon occurrence.

Assumptions regarding expected business development are especially based on the existing circumstances at the 

time of preparation of the consolidated financial statements and the future development of the global and sector-

specific environment as is deemed realistic at the time.

The group’s impairment tests are based on calculations using the discounted cash flow method. The cash flows are 

derived from the finance plan of the next three years whereas future expansion investments that are not yet being 

implemented and will increase the earning power of the tested cash-generating unit are not included. The recover-

able amount greatly depends on the discount rate used in the scope of the discounted cash flow method as well as 

on the expected future cash inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation. More details on the basic assump-

tions for determining the recoverable amount for the cash-generating unit are provided in note 32.

Especially with regard to measurement on the basis of the recoverable amount, the inventory measurement is based 

on assumptions regarding the expected sales prices and costs expected to be incurred until completion. As a basic 

principle, we assumed that raw materials and consumables as well as work in progress are further processed to mo-

dules and sold.

With regard to long-term purchase agreements for silicon and the respective prepayments made, assumptions are 

made that relate to the legal validity of the agreements and, as regards to their extent, on the measurement of such 

prepayments. Such assumptions are subject to considerable uncertainties and are essentially based on estimations 

of the company’s legal consultants, on market data and our own estimations. With respect to the legal validity of 

the agreements the company assumes, based on legal opinions prepared by third parties, that purchase commit-

ments from the material contracts in a total amount of € 0.8 billion (calculated on the basis of originally agreed 

prices) probably violate EU anti-trust laws and therefore are null and void. Thus, in the accounting, the company 

neither set up a provision for onerous contracts in terms of IAS 37 nor deducted it from prepayments made. With 

regard to the accounting of the respective prepayments made (carrying amount € 140.9 million), the company as-

sumes that a part of it (€ 59.6 million) is subject to repayment claims. As regards the remaining proportion, the 

company assumes that it is unrealizable. Thus, further impairment losses in an amount of € 40.6 million (prior 

year: € 40.7 million) were recognized in the reporting year.

An agreement regarding the continuation of existing contracts was reached with a supplier. On the basis of this 

agreement and in consideration of the current and estimated market prices, we determined a contingent loss of 

€ 35.4 million, which was recognized as an impairment loss on prepayments made.

Due to uncertainties in the scope of possible legal disputes as well as possible changes of strategy, the accounting 

and measurement of the long-term contracts is subject to periodic reestimation upon changing circumstances over 

time. The recognition and calculation of the impairments as at the balance sheet date is based on a scenario that 

the Management Board considers the most probable under the circumstances at balance sheet date. A partial or 

 total loss of the prepayments or even claims for damages exceeding the prepayments, however, cannot be ruled 

out entirely should the company fail to come to an agreement with its suppliers, come to a different agreement or 

a court ultimately issues a different assessment.
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The warranty provision is set up for specific individual risks, for the general risk of claims due to statutory warran-

ties and performance guarantees granted with regard to sold solar modules. The latter are granted for a period of 

25 and 30 years. Since SolarWorld AG has been producing and selling solar modules for significantly less than 25 

years, it is hardly possible to fall back on experience regarding the calculation of the performance guarantee provi-

sion. Much rather, assumptions and estimations are required that are subject to uncertainties. Their modification 

due to gaining experience regarding claims due to the performance guarantee over the course of time can lead to 

adjustments of the provision or consequences on the expenses from warranties recognized on the income statement.

With respect to the exact specification of assumptions made in connection with the determination of further provi-

sions, we refer to the respective disclosures in notes 23 and 58.

With regard to tax loss carryforwards, deferred tax claims are recognized only if their realization is likely in the 

medium-term (within the next five years). If a tax unit shows a history of losses, deferred tax claims from loss car-

ryforwards of this unit are only recognized if sufficient taxable temporary differences or substantial indications for 

their realization exist. When determining the amount of deferred tax assets suitable for capitalization, substantial 

management assumptions and estimations are necessary with respect to the expected time of occurrence and the 

amount of the future taxable income as well as future tax planning strategies. In this connection, SolarWorld AG 

set up deferred tax assets regarding loss carryforwards of the German fiscal unity as the company assumes that in 

the scope of financial restructuring, sufficient tax-effective restructuring profits will be generated to utilize the tax 

loss carryforwards.

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax law and the 

amount and time of origination of future results subject to tax. Due to the great bandwidth of international business 

relations and the non-current character and complexity of existing contractual agreements, it is possible that devi-

ations between the actual results and the assumptions made or future modifications of such assumptions might re-

quire adjustments of tax income and tax expenses already recognized. On the basis of reasonable estimations, the 

group sets up provisions for possible tax field audits in the countries of operations. The extent of such provisions is 

based on different factors, e. g. experience from past tax field audits and different interpretations of tax law regula-

tions by the taxpaying entity and the responsible tax office. Such different interpretations can result from a number 

of different facts and circumstances depending on the conditions that prevail in the country of domicile of the re-

spective group company.

To the extent to that the fair value of financial assets and liabilities recognized on the balance sheet cannot be de-

termined by way of active market data, it is primarily determined in application of measurement procedures includ-

ing the discounted cash flow method. If possible, the factors included in the model are based on observable market 

data. For further details, we refer to note 64.

Expenses from postemployment defined benefit plans and the present value of pension obligations are determined 

on the basis of actuarial computations. The actuarial measurement is carried out on the basis of assumptions re-

garding discount rates, mortality and future increase in pensions. Due to the complexity of measurement, the as-

sumptions used as a basis and their long-term nature, a defined benefit obligation shows very sensitive reactions to 

any modifications of these assumptions. All assumptions are subject to evaluation at each balance sheet date. When 

determining the appropriate discount rate, management keeps to the interest rates of corporate bonds with at least 

sound creditworthiness. The mortality rate is based on publicly accessible mortality tables. Further details regard-

ing the applied assumptions can be found in notes 22 and 58.
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Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. Cost of a business combination consist of the 

balance of the transferred consideration measured at fair value as of acquisition date and – if applicable – the non-

controlling interests in the acquired entity. Expenses incurred in the scope of the business combination are recog-

nized as expense.

If an entity is acquired, the classification and designation of the financial assets and assumed liabilities is assessed 

in compliance with the contract terms, economic framework and conditions prevailing at the time of acquisition.

Upon initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, which constitutes the surplus of the transferred consider-

ation and the amount of the non-controlling interest – if applicable – over the acquired identifiable assets and as-

sumed liabilities of the group. If this consideration ranges below fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsid-

iary, the difference (badwill) is recognized on the income statement.

In accordance with IAS 27.30, changes in the ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of con-

trol are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners (equity transactions). In the scope of 

an equity transaction, the additional acquisition only concerns the allocation of the owners’ residual claims. Hence, 

recognition of assets and liabilities remain unchanged. Within equity, however, a shift in assets takes place between 

majority owners and non-controlling owners.

SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen GmbH

On November 26, 2013, SolarWorld AG signed a contract on the acquisition of parts of Robert Bosch GmbH’s so-

lar activities. SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen GmbH, which was founded for this purpose and is a wholly 

owned subsidiary of SolarWorld AG, Bonn, will take over a large proportion of the manufacturing facilities and 

further assets of Bosch Solar Energy AG in the scope of a so-called “asset deal”. The transaction is subject to meet-

ing some closing conditions. The closing took place on March 12, 2014.

The purchase price for the manufacturing facilities and other assets payable by SolarWorld AG amounts to 

€ 3.00. In addition, a payment of € 120 million payable by Bosch to SolarWorld AG was agreed (“negative pur-

chase price”).

The purchase price is due at closing date. The negative purchase price is subject to a payment plan with a term 

 until March 2018. 

Once the closing is conducted, SolarWorld group will have production capacities of some 1 gigawatt for the value 

added stages wafer, cell and module. In addition, the new production subsidiary supplements SolarWorld group’s 

technological portfolio with its mono-crystalline high performance cells. Research and development activities for 

the consistent improvement of the high performance solar cell are supposed to be bundled to create new competi-

tive advantages and make further cost reductions possible.

We do not expect material transactions that have to be recognized separate from the business combination in 

 accordance with IFRS 3.51. 

The determination of the fair values of the acquired production facilities and other assets is currently pending. As 

the fair values are not yet available, we are not in a position to recognize them as is true for the badwill resulting 

from the acquisition, IFRS 3.34.
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Purchased intangible assets are recognized at cost and – with the exception of goodwill – are subject to regular 

straight-line amortization, their useful lives ranging between 4 and 15 years. Aside from goodwill, intangible as-

sets subject to indefinite useful lives do not exist. Expenditure on research incurred upon generation of intangible 

assets is immediately recognized as an expense. The same applies as regards development expenditure because 

research and development are iteratively linked and reliable severability therefore generally does not exist.

Profits or losses from derecognition of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net disposal 

gain and the carrying amount of the asset and recognized through profit or loss in the period in which the asset is 

derecognized. Amortization of intangible assets is recognized in the amortization and depreciation item on the in-

come statement.

All expenses for exploration and evaluation of natural resources are recorded as such and separately recognized as 

intangible assets. To the extent to that indications exist that point to impairment in terms of IFRS 6.20, the intangi-

ble asset is assessed for potential impairments. At balance sheet date, such indications were not at hand. After suc-

cessful exploration and evaluation, the intangible asset is subject to regular amortization for the duration of the pro-

duction period. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment used for exploration and evaluation purposes is part 

of the expenses that are recognized as intangible asset.

Goodwill – especially from capital consolidation – is subjected to an annual impairment test in accordance with 

IFRS 3 and IAS 36 and 38. Impairment tests are also conducted if individual indications imply the necessity. We 

 refer to our comments in note 9.

Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less regular physical depreciation. Cost comprises all individ-

ual expenses directly attributable to the manufacturing process as well as appropriate proportions of the necessary 

cost of materials and manufacturing overhead. In addition, cost includes depreciation caused by manufacturing 

and the manufacturing-related pro-rata costs for company retirement benefit plans as well as the voluntary social 

benefits of the company. Administration costs are considered to the extent to which they can be attributed to manu-

facturing. Cost also includes – in addition to the purchase price after reduction of discounts, rebates and cash dis-

counts – all directly attributable costs incurred to bring the asset to a location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Borrowing costs that can be directly attributed to acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are 

capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset if a period of at least one year is required to prepare the asset 

for its intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 

incurred. Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by an enterprise in connection with the borrowing 

of funds. As a basic rule, the group capitalizes borrowing costs for qualifying assets. However, no qualifying assets 

were identified in the annual period 2013. Hence, all borrowing costs were recognized as expenses.

Ongoing maintenance and repair expenses that do not constitute material replacement investments are recognized 

as expense right away. To the extent to that substantial parts of property, plant and equipment need to be replaced 

in regular intervals, the group recognizes these as separate assets with specific useful lives or depreciation. In the 

event of a major inspection, the group capitalizes in the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equip-

ment the cost of replacing part of such an item when that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met. All 

other inspection and maintenance cost is recognized through profit or loss immediately.

To the extent to that depreciable property, plant and equipment consist of material identifiable components with 

different useful lives, these components are recognized separately and written down over the course of the respec-

tive useful life.
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The present value of an expected disposal of an asset after use is included in the respective asset’s cost if the 

 recognition criteria for a provision are met. Detailed information on the measurement of the provision for building 

restoration obligations can be found in note 58.

With respect to own work capitalized we refer to note 28.

The following useful lives are used as a basis for depreciation:

Buildings including investment property 15 to 50 years

Buildings/fixtures on leasehold land Lease agreement terms (max. 10 to 15 years)

Technical equipment and machinery Up to 10 years

Wind power and photovoltaic plants 20 years

Other equipment, factory and office equipment 3 to 5 years

Property, plant and equipment are derecognized either upon disposal or as soon as no further economic benefit is 

expected from further utilization or disposal of the recognized asset. The profits or losses resulting from derecog-

nizing the asset are determined as the difference between the net sale price and the carrying amount of the asset 

and are recognized on the income statement through profit or loss in the period in which the asset is derecognized.

Investment grants and subsidies do not reduce the respective asset’s cost but are subject to deferral on the liabili-

ties side of the balance sheet. We refer to notes 21 and 57.

At each balance sheet date, the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are exam-

ined with regard to indications of the occurrence of impairments (impairment test). If such indications are identifi-

able, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of any possible impairment expens-

es. To the extent to that the recoverable amount cannot be estimated for the individual asset, the determination is 

conducted on the level of the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the respective asset is assigned.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives or those that cannot yet be used are subject to impairment testing at 

least once a year (December 31) and whenever so-called “triggering events” occur.

The recoverable amount is the higher one of fair value less costs to sell and the value in use.

For determining the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted with a pre-tax interest rate, 

which considers both the current market assessment through time value of money and risks concerning the asset 

to the extent to that they are not yet accounted for in the scope of the cash flow estimation. The computations are 

based on forecasts that are based on financial plans for the next three years as authorized by management. This 

planning horizon shows the assumptions for short- and medium-term market developments. As for the perpetuity 

period that exceeds this term, assumptions were made for long-term expectations concerning shipments, prices 

and operation cost per CGU. These estimates are based on processes which accompany the restructuring. In the 

detail planning phase, forecasts on long-term cost savings were lowered in comparison with financial plans that 

had been passed by the Management Board. Free cash flows were discounted at weighted average costs of capital 

after corporation taxes between 11.4 percent and 13.9 percent (2012: 11.4 percent to 15.1 percent)at the balance 

sheet date. This discount rate is based on the risk-free interest rate determined in accordance with the reporting 

date-related interest structure at the bond market for which a value between 2.58 percent and 3.76 percent (2012: 

2.19 percent and 3.35 percent) was applied and a general market risk premium before personal taxes between 

5.80 percent and 6.25 percent (2012: 5.80 percent and 6.25 percent). Data of a representative peer group, in which 

SolarWorld AG is not considered because of its restructuring situation, were used for determining the beta fac-

tor, borrowed capital surcharge and capital structure.
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 The fair value less costs to sell was calculated on the basis of current market conditions and a general commercial 

use by market participants. For the main part of fixed assets, expert estimates on the fair value less costs to sell 

were at hand. Evaluating real estates (premises and buildings), above all local land values, market rents and operat-

ing expenses in addition to site-specific and use-specific returns were taken account. For marketing assumptions, 

several scenarios were considered. Evaluating machinery, prices and price indices for commercial products (based 

on the original value and current replacement value) as well as the variable factors time value and utility value were 

included in particular. The time value factor comprises the loss in value attributed to the age of the object as well as 

current market trends. The utility value factor is above all determined by the condition of the machinery as well as 

its location and its time and degree of utilization. For marketing assumptions, several scenarios were considered.

To the extent to that the recoverable amount of an asset or a CGU falls short of its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is immediately recognized through profit 

and loss.

Should the impairment loss be reversed, the carrying amount of the asset or the CGU will be increased to the reas-

sessed recoverable amount. Attention needs to be paid to the ceiling of the addition in the amount of the original 

carrying amount of the asset or CGU. The reversal of an impairment loss is immediately recognized through profit 

and loss.

Goodwill is not subject to scheduled amortization but is assessed on the basis of the recoverable amount of the 

CGU it is assigned to (impairment only approach). Goodwill acquired in the scope of a business combination is as-

signed to each individual CGU that is expected to get synergies out of the combination. The impairment test is con-

ducted at least annually at reporting date (December 31) and again if indications of an impairment of the CGU are 

at hand.

In the event that the carrying amount of the CGU the goodwill was assigned to exceeds the recoverable amount the 

assigned goodwill is written down in the amount of the determined difference. Goodwill impairments cannot be re-

versed once they are conducted. If the determined difference (impairment necessity) of the CGU exceeds the carry-

ing amount of the assigned goodwill, a proportionate impairment of the carrying amounts of the assets assigned to 

the CGU is conducted in the amount of the remaining impairment. Goodwill is recognized neither in the current nor 

the prior reporting year. Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Solarparc AG was fully written off in the prior 

year.

With regard to the results of the impairment tests conducted during the reporting year, we refer to note 32.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. The carrying amount includes the 

cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria 

are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property. In the scope of subsequent mea-

surement, investment property is recognized at cost less straight-line depreciation and impairment expenses. With 

regard to measurement bases and useful lives we refer to note 8.
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Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment property is 

permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. The difference be-

tween the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the income statement in the 

period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from invest-

ment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at the date 

of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the group accounts for such prop-

erty in accordance with details stated in note 8 until the time of the change of use.

The group’s investments in associates are recognized in accordance with the equity method. An associate is an 

 entity in which the group has significant influence.

Furthermore, the group is utilizing the option in accordance with IAS 31.38 and recognizes its interest in jointly 

controlled entities (joint ventures) using the equity method also.

Investments in other companies accounted for using the equity method are recognized on the balance sheet at cost in 

consideration of changes that occurred after the acquisition date regarding the group’s participation in the investee’s 

equity, of the hidden reserves and burdens recognized at acquisition as well as of the unrealized proportionate in-

tercompany results from transactions with the investee. Goodwill connected with the investment is included in the 

carrying amount of the investment and is subject to neither regular amortization nor separate impairment tests.

The consolidated income statement contains in the line item “result from investments measured at equity” the 

group’s share in the profit or loss of the investee including the effects of the development of the disclosed hidden 

reserves and burdens. This concerns profit allocable to the investors and, thus, profit after tax and non-controlling 

interests in the investee’s subsidiaries. The group recognizes any changes recognized directly in the investee’s eq-

uity to the extent of its share. Unrealized intercompany results from transactions between the investee and the 

group are also eliminated through the item “result from investments measured at equity” in accordance with the 

latter’s share in the investee.

The financial statements of the associated companies are prepared as per the same balance sheet date as those of 

the parent. To the extent to which it is necessary, adjustments are made to conform the associates’ accounting poli-

cies to those of the investor.

After application of the equity method, the group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any additional 

impairment loss with respect to the group’s investment. As per each balance sheet date, the group determines 

whether there is any evidence indicating that the share in an associate could be impaired. If this is the case, the 

difference between the recoverable amount of the share in the associate and the carrying amount of the share is 

recognized in profit or loss.

Prepayments made on inventories are recognized in other noncurrent assets. The prepayments were partially made 

in US$. As this does not concern monetary items in terms of IAS 21.16, measurement was carried out at historic 

rate at the time of spending.
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Inventories include raw materials and supplies, work in process and finished goods, merchandise and short-term 

prepayments for inventories. Purchased inventories are recognized at acquisition cost that, depending on the type 

of inventory, is determined either on the basis of average costs or in accordance with the “first-in-first-out” (FiFo) 

method. Inventories of the group’s own making are recognized at production cost. In addition to the individual 

costs, cost includes adequate proportions of the necessary cost of materials and manufacturing overhead based on 

regular capacity utilization of the production facilities. Cost also includes depreciation caused by manufacturing 

which can be directly allocated to the manufacturing process and, to the extent to that they are manufacturing- 

related, pro-rata expenses for company retirement benefit plans and voluntary social benefits. Administration costs 

are taken into account to the extent to that they concern manufacturing. Borrowing costs are not taken into account, 

as inventories do not constitute qualifying assets from the group’s point of view.

Measurement per balance sheet date occurs at the respective lower amount of cost on the one hand side and net 

 realizable value on the other. The latter is the estimated sales proceed of the final good realizable in the normal 

course of business less estimated costs until completion of the good as well as estimated necessary distribution 

costs.

Due to the prevailing manufacturing circumstances in both, entity and industry, finished goods and merchandise 

are summarized in the comments on inventories in note 48.

Some of the current prepayments recognized in inventories were paid in US$. Measurement was carried out at his-

toric rate at payment date because the prepayments are non-monetary items in terms of IAS 21.16.

Trade receivables are accounted for at nominal value. Should doubts exist with regard to the collectability of the 

debt, the receivables are recognized at lower realizable value. In part, allowances are made using a contra account. 

The decision whether an allowance is made via contra account or by directly reducing the carrying amount depends 

on the probability of the expected loss. Receivables stated in foreign currencies are accounted for at closing rate.

Receivables from construction contracts will be accounted for in accordance with the percentage-of-completion-

method as set forth by IAS 11. We refer to our statements in notes 25 and 27.

Other receivables and other assets are accounted for at nominal value. Identifiable risks and general credit risks are 

taken into consideration by setting up corresponding value adjustments.

Financial assets in terms of IAS 39 are either categorized as financial assets

The group determines the classification of its financial assets upon initial recognition. Upon initial recognition, 

 financial assets are measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets classified as “measured at fair 

value through profit or loss” are exempted therefrom, as they are initially recognized at fair value without taking 

transaction costs into account.
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At reporting date, no securities categorized as “held-to-maturity investments” exist.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their categorization.

Securities are “measured at fair value through profit or loss” if they are either designated as such or “held for 

 trading”.

Securities are categorized as “held for trading” if they were acquired with the intention to sell them in the short 

term. This category also includes the group’s derivative financial instruments that are not designated as hedging 

instruments in hedge accounting in terms of IAS 39.

Financial assets are designated as “at fair value through profit or loss” if they are part of a portfolio that is evalu-

ated and managed on the basis of fair values. Acquisition and sale of securities takes place with regard to revenue-

optimized liquidity management and is, for the most part, centrally managed by Solar World AG. At reporting date, 

financial assets of this category did not exist.

Financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss” are recognized at fair value. Each profit or loss resulting from 

measurement is recognized in the financial result through profit or loss. The recognized net gain or loss also in-

cludes possible dividends and interest of the financial asset.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is determined by the market price at balance sheet 

date without any deduction for transaction costs. The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active 

market is determined in application of appropriate measurement methods. For further details on the applied mea-

surement methods, we refer to note 64.

Financial assets categorized as “loans and receivables” are non-derivative assets with fixed or identifiable payments 

that are not listed in an active market. After initial recognition, such financial assets are measured at amortized cost 

using the effective interest method less possible impairments in value in the scope of subsequent measurement.

Financial assets categorized as “available-for-sale financial assets” are financial instruments intended to be held 

for an indefinite period, which may be sold as a reaction to liquidity needs or changes of the market environment. 

After initial recognition, “available-for-sale financial assets” are measured at fair value in the following periods. 

Unrealized profits or losses are recognized in the AfS-reserve. Upon derecognising such an asset, the accumulated 

profit or loss is transferred to be shown on the income statement.

In consideration of IFRIC 14 and IAS 19, SolarWorld AG capitalized liability insurances in the financial assets. 

These insurances serve as insolvency insurance with regard to early retirement obligations. Recognition is based 

on the insurance company’s statements regarding the asset value and conducted in the amount in that the insur-

ance value exceeds the amount of the early retirement obligations (plan asset surplus).
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Liquid funds include cash and cash equivalents in the form of cash in hand, bank balances and current investments 

made with banks that can be converted into cash contributions at any time and are subject to only marginal fluctu-

ations in value. They are categorized as “loans and receivables” and measured at amortized cost less possible im-

pairments in accordance with the effective interest method.

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and current deposits 

less utilized advances on current accounts. To the extent to that means of payment are subject to restrictions on 

disposal of more than three months they are shown in other financial assets.

Individual non-current assets, asset groups or assets of discontinued operations are recognized as “assets held for 

sale” if their carrying amounts are largely realized via sales transactions as opposed to via continued usage and if, 

additionally, they meet the criteria set forth in IFRS 5. Regular depreciation or amortization on these assets ceases. 

Impairments are only recognized if the fair value less costs to sell is lower than the carrying amount. Any impair-

ment previously recognized needs to be reversed if the fair value less costs to sell is increased later on. The addition 

is limited to the impairments previously recognized for the respective assets.

Expenses and income from discontinued operations as well as gains and losses from their measurement at fair 

value less costs to sell are disclosed as the result of discontinued operations on the face of the income statement. 

Gains and losses from the sale of discontinued operations are also recognized in this line item.

Upon first-time recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value. The transaction costs directly attribut-

able to the acquisition are also recognized with regard to all liabilities that are, subsequently, not measured at fair 

value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss in subsequent recognition usually concern deriva-

tive financial instruments. We refer to note 20 below.

With respect to subsequent recognition, trade payables and other original financial liabilities, e. g. interest bearing 

loans, are measured at amortized cost in accordance with the effective interest method. Profits and losses are rec-

ognized through profit or loss if the liabilities are derecognized and in the scope of amortization by way of the ef-

fective interest method.

Financial guarantees issued by the group are contracts concerning the obligation to make payments compensating 

the guarantee for a loss that results from a specific debtor not complying with his payment obligations in accordance 

with the requirements of a debt instrument in due time. Upon initial recognition, financial guarantees are recog-

nized at fair value less transaction costs directly connected with issuing the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is 

measured at the best estimate of the expenses required for meeting the current obligation per balance sheet date or 

at the higher recognized amount less accumulated amortization.

SolarWorld group utilizes derivatives for hedging interest rate, currency exchange and commodity risks result-

ing from operating activities, financial transactions and investments. These financial instruments are measured at 

fair value through profit or loss and are classified as financial assets or liabilities held for trading if they are ac-

quired for the purpose of selling it in the near term or not designated as hedging instruments in hedge accounting 

in terms of IAS 39. Profits or losses from financial assets or liabilities held for trading are recognized through profit 
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or loss. The results are stated in other operating income or expenses to the extent to that the financial instrument 

was concluded for hedging purposes with regard to operating activities. Results are stated in other financial result 

to the extent to that the financial instrument concerns financing or investment activities.

Derivative financial instruments that are designated as hedging instruments and effective as such are categorized 

as current or non-current or split up in a current and a non-current part on the basis of an assessment of the facts 

and circumstances.

SolarWorld group applies hedge accounting provisions in accordance with IAS 39 (Hedge Accounting) to hedge 

future cash flows.

The decisive factor for recognition of changes in fair value – recognition on the income statement through profit or 

loss or recognition in equity not affecting profit or loss– is whether or not the derivative is included in an effective 

hedging relationship in accordance with IAS 39. If hedge accounting is not applied, changes of the derivatives’ fair 

values are immediately recognized through profit or loss. If, however, an effective hedge relationship in terms of 

IAS 39 exists, the hedging relationship as such is accounted for.

At inception of the hedging relationship, the relation between hedged item and hedging instrument including the 

risk management objectives is documented. In addition, both at inception and in the course of the hedge, documen-

tation is carried out continuously as to whether the designated hedging instrument is highly effective with regard 

to compensation of cash flow changes in the hedged item.

The effective part of the change in fair value of a derivative or a non-derivative financial instrument designated as a 

hedging instrument in the scope of a cash flow hedge is recognized in equity. Profit or loss falling upon the ineffec-

tive part is immediately recognized through profit or loss.

Amounts recognized in equity are transferred to the income statement in that period in which the hedged item of 

the cash flow hedge becomes effective through profit or loss. Recognition on the income statement occurs within 

the same line item in which the hedged item is recognized. If, however, a hedged forecast transaction leads to the 

recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the profits and losses previously recognized in eq-

uity are derecognized and taken into consideration at initial determination of cost of the asset or liability.

Hedge accounting is discontinued if the hedging relationship is revoked, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 

terminated or exercised or is no longer appropriate for hedging purposes. All profits or losses recognized in equity 

at this time remain in equity and are only accounted for through profit or loss once the forecast transaction is also 

recognized on the income statement. If the transaction is no longer expected to occur, the entire profit recognized 

in equity is immediately transferred to recognition on the income statement.

At initial recognition and in subsequent measurement, derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair value. 

The recognized fair values of traded derivative financial instruments equal the market prices. Derivative financial 

instruments that are not subject to trade are calculated using accepted measurement methods based on discounted-

cash-flow-analyses and by taking recourse to current market parameters. We refer to note 64.

Investment grants accounted for are accrued in application of IAS 20 and released to income over the course of the 

useful lives of the respective assets. Thus, the item is allocated to the periods of useful lives of the subsidized prop-

erty, plant and equipment, and gradually increases future business years’ pre-tax income. This increase in income 

occurs alongside amortization and depreciation expenses of corresponding amounts, which are, therefore, neutral-

ized upon balancing. In addition, tax effects will arise whereas income-increasing reversals of the accrued invest-

ment grants occur income tax exempt to the extent to which they result from tax-exempt investment grants.



171

SOL A R WORLD 2013 CONSOLIDATED NOTE S

IAS 20 also applies to income from investment tax credits. Claims for tax credits are recognized if there is reason-

able assurance that the material requirements for receipt are met and they are granted. The claims are measured at 

present value.

Group retirement benefits predominantly occur via defined contribution plans. The company pays contributions 

into a state or private pension fund on the basis of statutory or contractual obligations or on a voluntary basis and, 

once the contributions are paid, has no further benefit obligations. The annual contributions are recognized as per-

sonnel expenses.

One of SolarWorld AG’s subsidiaries has a defined benefit plan, the insolvency protection of which is effected via 

the pension security association. Plan assets do not exist. These pension provisions are measured in accordance 

with the projected unit credit method for defined benefit plans as required by IAS 19. The interest proportion in-

cluded in the pension expenses is recognized in the item “interest and similar financial expenses”.

The amount to be recognized as a liability from a defined benefit plan includes the present value of the defined ben-

efits (using a discounted interest rate on the basis of first-class fixed-interest industrial bonds) less the yet unrecog-

nized past service cost and the yet unrecognized actuarial losses (plus gains).

Other provisions are set up to the extent to which a current (legal or constructive) obligation to third parties exists 

originating from an event in the past that will probably make for a future outflow of resources and a reliable esti-

mate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the extent of the 

obligation. Provisions for obligations that will probably not make for an outflow of resources in the year following 

the reporting year are recognized at present value of the expected outflow of resources. To the extent to that the 

group expects at least a proportionate refund for a provision carried as liability (e. g. in case of an insurance agree-

ment), the refund is recognized as a separate asset if the inflow of the refund is virtually certain. The expense from 

setting up the provision is recognized on the income statement less the refund. For further details, we refer to note 

58.

If a provision cannot be set up because some criteria are not met while the possibility of a claim is all but remote, 

the respective obligations are recognized as contingent liabilities. In this context, we refer to note 66.

Provisions for expenses in connection with guarantees are set up at the time the respective product is sold or the 

service is rendered. First-time recognition is conducted on the basis of estimations and assumptions. We refer to 

our statements in note 5. The original estimation of expenses in connection with guarantees is subject to examina-

tion on a regular basis.

Provisions for restructuring measures are set up if a detailed formal restructuring plan is prepared and the respec-

tive parties were informed about such plan.

Provisions for restructuring obligations are recognized for contractually specified obligations and are measured at 

expected cost for restoration.

Provisions for contingent losses from onerous contracts are set up if the economic benefit expected from the con-

tract ranges below the expenses inevitable for meeting the contract requirements.
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Accrued liabilities included in the balance sheet item “other liabilities” are recognized for services and goods re-

ceived and for obligations to employees that do not yet meet the requirements for payment. With regard to these 

 liabilities, future outflow of resources is, on the merits, certain and is merely subject to minor uncertainties as re-

gards the amount. Measurement is conducted at best estimate of the expenditure required.

A proportion of the customer advances recognized in other liabilities is denominated in US$. As the customer ad-

vances are no monetary items in terms of IAS 21.16, they were recognized at historic exchange rates valid at the 

date of collection.

In the scope of a “trust agreement for insolvency protection”, payments to an escrow account are made in connec-

tion with the accrued liabilities for profit-oriented employee compensation. These payments concern obligations 

of the annual period 2011. As these obligations are considered other long-term employee benefits in terms of IAS 

19.126 (d), the current value of the obligations at balance sheet date is netted with the fair value of the escrow ac-

count (which is to be regarded a plan asset) in terms of the measurement according to IAS 19.128. Plan assets com-

prise assets held by a long-term employee benefit fund. Plan assets are not available to the entity’s creditors and 

cannot be paid directly to the entity. Both current and non-current netting was conducted at reporting date.

Income is recognized when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the group and the amount of income 

can be reliably determined. Income is measured at fair value of the received or to be claimed payment less granted 

(cash) discounts and VAT or other dues.

Revenue from the sale of goods or products is recognized at the time the significant risks and rewards are trans-

ferred if – as commonly true – the other requirements (no continued involvement, reliable estimation of the amount 

of revenue and probability of inflow) are also met.

Revenue from project business is recognized in accordance with the percentage of completion method (PoC) set 

forth by IAS 11 to the extent to that the corresponding requirements are met. For customer-specific projects, a pro-

rata profit realization is recognized by reference to the stage of contract completion if the assessment of the stage 

of contract completion, total costs and total revenue of the respective contract can be reliably estimated in terms of 

IAS 11. The state of completion is assessed in accordance with the cost-to-cost method pursuant to IAS 11.30 (a). If 

the stated requirements are met, the overall contract revenue is recognized on a pro-rata basis in compliance with 

the stage of completion. Contract expenses include the costs directly attributable to the contract and a proportion of 

overhead. To the extent to that the result of a construction contract cannot be reliably determined, project income is 

recognized in the amount of the connected project costs, which makes for a zero balance (zero-profit-method).

Advances received in connection with long-term sales contracts for silicon wafers are released through profit or 

loss once SolarWorld group is no longer obliged to credit against future supplies and does, de facto, not consider 

crediting.

Grants related to expenses are recognized on an accrual basis through profit corresponding to the occurrence of 

the respective expenses.
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Operating expenses are recognized when goods and services are received or at the time of their occurrence 

 respectively. Provisions for warranties are set up upon realization of the corresponding revenue.

All financial instruments measured at amortized cost as well as interest bearing financial assets classified as avail-

able-for-sale, interest income and interest payable are recognized at effective interest rate. This is the calculatory 

interest rate at which the estimated future incoming and outgoing payments are accurately discounted to the net 

carrying amount of the financial asset or the financial liability over the course of the expected maturity of the finan-

cial instrument or possibly a shorter period. Interest income or expenses are recognized on the income statement as 

part of interest and other financial income or interest and similar financial expenses and are recognized on an ac-

crual basis.

a) Current taxes on income

Current tax assets and tax liabilities for the current and earlier periods are measured at the amount that equals the 

expected refund from or payment to the tax authorities. The calculation of the amount is based on tax rates and tax 

provisions effective in the country the group is operating in and generates taxable income at balance sheet date.

b) Deferred taxes

Deferred taxes are set up using the liability method for temporary differences between the recognition of an asset 

or a liability on the balance sheet and its value on the tax balance sheet at balance sheet date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences with the exemption of:

ciates and interests in joint ventures if the temporal course of the reversal of the temporary differences can be 

steered and it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the near future.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, not yet used tax loss carryforwards 

and not yet used tax credits to the extent to that it is probable that taxable income will be available against which 

the deductible temporary differences and the not yet used tax loss carryforwards and tax credits can be offset. An 

exemption are deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiar-

ies, associates and interests in joint ventures if it is probable that the temporary differences will not be reversed in 

the near future or if no sufficient taxable income will be available to set off against the temporary differences.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is subject to inspection at each balance sheet date and reduced to 

the extent to that it is no longer probable sufficient taxable income will be available against which the deferred tax 

asset may be offset at least in part. Deferred tax assets that are not recognized are subject to inspection at each 

balance sheet date and recognized to the extent to that it became probable that a future taxable income might en-

able the realization of the deferred tax asset.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by way of those tax rates that will probably become effective in the 

course of the period in which the asset is realized or a liability is paid. The tax rates (and tax laws) effective at bal-

ance sheet date are used as a basis. Future tax rate changes are taken into account if, in the scope of a legislative 

procedure, substantial prerequisites for its future applicability are met.

Deferred taxes that concern items that are not recognized on the income statement are recognized directly in 

 equity in correspondence with the transaction they are based on.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the group has a legally enforceable right to set off 

 current tax assets against current tax liabilities and these relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

c) VAT

Income, expenses and assets are recognized after VAT is deducted. The following cases are an exemption to this 

rule:

If VAT incurred upon the acquisition of assets or the utilization of services cannot be claimed by the tax authority, 

the VAT is recognized as part of cost of the asset or part of expenses.

Receivables and liabilities are recognized with the respective VAT amounts.

The VAT amount to be refunded by or paid to the tax authority is recognized on the balance sheet in the item “other 

receivables and assets” or in “other current liabilities”.
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Revenue and its allocation to the business segments and regions can be taken from segment reporting (note 39) in 

these consolidated notes. Consolidated revenue consist of the following products and services:

in k€ 2013 2012

Module- and assembly kit sales (group and third party manufacturing) 350,399 497,130

Project proceeds 81,943 73,903

Cells/wafers 11,293 18,686

Power generation 5,064 13,655

Other revenue 7,122 3,020

Total 455,821 606,394

Project proceeds basically result from the construction and sale of major solar plants.

Other revenue primarily includes income from the sale of other intermediate and input products and income from 

recycling activities.

Own work capitalized recognized in the prior year mainly concerned the construction of photovoltaic systems oper-

ated by consolidated entities. Comparable transactions did not exist in the reporting period.

in k€ 2013 2012

Compensation payments 12,032 9,978

Reversal of advances received 9,663 63,417

Other income relating to other periods 7,376 4,736

Income from grants for research and development 7,195 5,261

Reversal of accrued investment grants 6,522 48,299

Reversal of provisions and liabilities 3,930 3,883

Gains from currency translation 3,193 13,409

On-charging of expenses 1,294 1,179

Income from other supplies and services 268 2,267

Income from derivative financial instruments 36 743

Income from wind portfolio sale 0 7,071

Miscellaneous other operating income 7,777 6,216

Total 59,287 166,459
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Compensation payments are almost entirely (prior year € 10.0 million) attributable to settlement payments for the 

non-compliance with long-term supply contracts.

Income from the reversal of received customer advances resulted from the lapse of the obligation to credit advances 

for wafer supplies against future supplies. € 7,523k (prior year: € 60,372k) of the income result from the complete 

lapse of the obligation with regard to several customers while an amount of € 2,140k (prior year: € 3,045k) results 

from shortfalls of orders for wafer supplies that were subject to fixed order volumes in 2013.

Other income relating to other periods mainly results from a refund of an U.S. energy supplier (€ 6.6 million).

Of the income from the reversal of accrued investment grants, € 26,551k was due to unscheduled amortization and 

depreciation in the scope of impairment tests in previous year. A comparable effect did not exist in the reporting 

year. We refer to notes 9 and 32.

Other trade income primarily results from sales of commodities, supplies and merchandise that do not constitute a 

component of ordinary activities.

The item income from the sale of the wind portfolio recognized in the prior year results from the divestment and 

subsequent disposal of SolarWorld group’s wind activities. A comparable transaction did not take place in the 

 reporting year. Research and development grants received are subject to a number of requirements. In accordance 

with our knowledge today, all of these requirements will be met. Hence, repayment obligations are not expected to 

arise.

in k€ 2013 2012

Cost of commodities, supplies and merchandise 233,697 470,843

Cost of purchased services 38,969 63,725

Total 272,666 534,568

in k€ 2013 2012

Wages and salaries 93,081 107,202

Social security and pensions 19,285 22,176

Total 112,366 129,378

The decrease in personnel expenses is mainly due to the measures for reducing personnel expenses already initi-

ated in previous year. Amongst other reasons, these measures became necessary due to the adjustment of produc-

tion capacities to the current order situation. We refer to note 68. 
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a) Regular amortization and depreciation

The combination and classification of regular amortization and depreciation for intangible assets, property, plant 

and equipment and investment property of € 39,984k can be taken from the fixed asset movement schedule. We 

 refer to note 40.

b) Impairment test for goodwill and property, plant and equipment and irregular amortization and depreciation

The solar industry is in a continuous state of consolidation. Hence, we assessed possible impairments of all assets 

on the lowest possible aggregation level.

In total, the result was an impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets amounting to € 1.9 

million (prior year € 330.4 million). In the prior reporting year, irregular impairment losses were in part offset by 

irregular reversals of accrued investment grants of € 26.5 million.

Reversals of impairment losses of property, plant and equipment were not conducted in the reporting period (prior 

year: € 2.6 million).

The consolidated income statement shows the impairment losses in amortization and depreciation.

aa) Basic assumptions for the calculation of the recoverable amount

Value in use

Aside from market and industrial trends, general expectations regarding macroeconomic developments and in-

house experience, the detailed budgets of the producing cash-generating units (CGUs) for the first three years are 

based on the following substantial assumptions:

The sustained profit margins expected for the perpetuity period following the detailed planning period were – 

CGU-specifically – derived in consideration of the continuous growth of revenue from the first planning year and in 

consideration of economic and production cycles as well as, although the market situation is currently still charac-

terized by considerable overcapacities, a slight improvement of said market situation expected in the medium term.

Consequently, the earnings level is lower than in the last planning year and is considered in the derivation of free 

cash flows in the period of perpetuity.

Upon calculating the efficiency of the tested CGUs, the assumptions used as a basis are subject to estimation 

 uncertainties especially with respect to:

GROSS PROFIT MARGINS. Gross profit margins result from the scheduled transfer and sales prices and the planned 

cost development. For the development of step costs, we assumed an output quantity that does not include expan-

sion investments. In addition, we expect increases in productivity and mainly decreases in cost of materials (in part 
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cyclical increase in commodity prices). Over the course of the next two years, SolarWorld AG expects the market 

prices for solar modules to stabilize or recover slightly and a cyclical development on a long-term moderate earn-

ings level.

DEVELOPMENT OF PRICES FOR COMMODITIES AND MATERIALS. The estimations include the published price indices for 

important commodities like silicon and silver. Actual past developments of commodity and material prices are used 

as an indicator for future price developments and – to the necessary extent – amended by management’s estimations.

ASSUMPTIONS REGARDING OUTPUT QUANTIT Y. For the determination of the value in use in the scope of the impairment 

tests, SolarWorld AG assumes an increase in the utilization of existing capacities in the annual periods 2014 and 

2015 and full utilization in 2016. An increase is expected with respect to the output quantity in watt peak due to 

technological progress (increasing efficiency) and efficiency increase programs.

DISCOUNT RATES. The discount rates reflect current market assumptions regarding the specific risks attributable to 

SolarWorld AG. The discount rate was estimated on the basis of the customary average weighted capital costs 

(WACC).

ESTIMATIONS OF THE SUSTAINED GROW TH RATE. The growth rate used as a uniform basis in the phase of sustained 

growth amounts to 1.0 percent for all CGUs. This equals half of the estimated long-term inflation rate (source: 

 International Monetary Fund) and thus equals the proportion of expected increases in prices that management 

 believes can be passed on to the customer in the long-term.

Fair value less costs to sell

Experts‘ estimates of the fair value less costs to sell of immovable property in Germany and the United States as at 

the balance sheet date are based on the capitalization of future payment surpasses. Here, experts assumed a gener-

al commercial use, which means an abstracted view from the use up to now (production of solar cells). Land prices 

result from offer prices for properties of a comparable kind in the neighborhood. Market rents result from market 

rents according to use, adapted to location, size and equipment. Returns depending on location and use are based 

on market data considering the macro-location and micro-location as well as the age of the buildings. Costs and 

loss of earnings resulting from the marketing were estimated by taking the local market activity into consideration. 

Costs to sell under market conditions were deducted.

Calculations of the fair value less costs to sell for the larger part of machinery and equipment as at the qualifying 

date of the financial statements are in principle based on the comparative value method and thus on market prices, 

comparative transactions or comparative multipliers. When no comparative values were available, the asset value 

method was applied. Value assessment derives from replacement values less depreciation and reductions because 

of economic or technical excess of age. The earnings value method was not used for the value assessment of ma-

chinery, because a reliable forecast of future earnings is not possible due to the particularities in the solar industry, 

above all the discontinuation of incentives and aggressive competition by state-subsidized providers from China.

bb) Results of impairment tests

In the reporting year, the impairment test on the level of the CGUs with regard to fixed assets did not result in any 

impairment losses.

Previous year the following impairment losses have been recorded:
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Impairment charges of € 1,893k (prior year € 7,974k) were recognized for individual assets.

in k€ 2013 2012

Impairment losses on prepayments and repayment claims 76,021 88,722

Legal fees, consultancy and audit expenses 15,782 11,556

Maintenance expenses 11,750 21,028

Selling expenses 11,622 15,732

Marketing expenses 9,658 13,889

External staff expenses 8,494 15,565

Losses from currency translation 6,777 7,201

Research and development expenses (third party) 4,062 6,310

Travel expenses 3,973 5,622

Expenses for insurances and fees 3,645 5,235

Expenses from the addition to other provisions 2,647 5,181

Rent and lease expenses 2,850 6,451

Data processing expenses 2,549 4,465

Expenses for phone, stamps and internet 1,370 1,676

Expenses from derivative financial instruments 1,292 522

Expenses from sewage and waste disposal 1,180 1,822

Expenses from additions to warranty provision 914 3,010

Amortization of non-current assests held for sale 818 0

Bad debt allowances and losses 627 9,974

Expenses relating to other periods 534 1,663

Expenses in connection with other trade 520 3,041

Miscellaneous other operating expenses 18,396 18,402

Total 185,480 247,066

The impairment loss or loss of prepayments exclusively results from the remeasurement of long-term silicon pur-

chase agreements concluded in the past and prepayments made in this respect. We refer to our comments in notes 

5 and 52.

Legal fees, consultancy and audit expenses are characterized by restructuring measures. In addition, expenses 

 incurred for compensation and restructuring fees for the creditors are recognized in other financial expenses. We 

refer to our comments in note 35.
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Rent and lease expenses include minimum lease payments from operating lease agreements in an amount of 

€ 1,811k (prior year € 3,341k).

With regard to the development of the bad debt allowances, we refer to note 49.

Exchange rate losses are offset by exchange rate gains of € 3,193k (prior year € 13,409k) which are recognized in 

other operating income (note 29).

Research and development costs of SolarWorld group made for a total of € 26,491k (prior year € 49,139k) in the 

reporting period.

a) Result from investments measured at equity

in k€ 2013 2012

Income from investments measured at equity 0 17

Expenses from investments measured at equity – 5,309 – 14,655

Total – 5,309 – 14,638

In the reporting year, expenses from investments measured at equity exclusively concern Qatar Solar Technolo-

gies Q.S.C. In the prior year, the item also included impairment losses recognized with respect to the investment in 

JSSI GmbH (€ 11.188k) and SolarCycle GmbH (€ 34k). JSSi GmbH that was accounted for using the at equity method 

and in which SolarWorld AG held a 49 percent investment was sold effective per July 2, 2013.

b) Interest and similar income

in k€ 2013 2012

Interest income 154 2,280

Other financial income 219 126

Total 373 2,406

Income from interest includes interest from interest-bearing securities, fixed term deposits and other bank balances 

categorized as “loans and receivables” or “financial assets available for sale”.

c) Interest and similar expenses

in k€ 2013 2012

Interest expenses 60,680 64,170

Other financial expenses 9,607 9,345

Total 70,286 73,515
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Interest expenses exclusively consist of interest payable for financial liabilities categorized as “measured at amor-

tized cost”. They mainly result from bank loans, from financial instruments issued by SolarWorld AG and from 

interest-bearing liabilities of SolarWorld group towards its employees in the scope of an internal plan with re-

gard to profit-oriented employee compensation.

Other financial expenses include expenses in connection with the restructuring of financial liabilities from com-

pensation and restructuring fees for creditors in an amount of € 7,860k (prior year € 3,004k).

As in the prior year, borrowing costs eligible for capitalization leading to a reduction of interest expenses do not 

exist.

d) Other financial result

in k€ 2013 2012

Net gains and losses from

  financial assets and financial liabilities  

designated as measured at fair value – 539 60

 financial assets held for trading 93 – 1,240

 financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 0 19,901

Gains/losses from currency translation – 1,071 – 463

Total – 1,517 18,258

As in the prior year, the net result of the category “designated at fair value through profit or loss” is not influenced 

by changes of the credit risk.

Derivatives that are part of a hedging relationship are not taken into account when it comes to the presentation of 

net gains and losses. Derivatives that are not accounted for as hedging instruments are included in the measure-

ment category “financial assets held for trading”.

The following chart shows the composition of recognized tax expenses and income:

in k€ 2013 2012

Actual domestic tax expenses 2,091 4,780

Actual foreign tax expenses 1,292 165

Total actual tax expenses 3,383 4,945

Deferred domestic tax income – 40,471 – 86,673

Deferred foreign tax income/expenses – 8 206

Total deferred tax income – 40,480 – 86,467

Total recognized tax result – 37,097 – 81,522
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Taxes paid or owed on income in the individual countries as well as deferred taxes are recognized as taxes on 

 income.

Both in the reporting period and in prior years, tax losses were incurred by the U.S. entities. IAS 12 sets high stan-

dards when it comes to recognizing deferred taxes on loss carryforwards if losses are recent. These requirements 

were not met at reporting date. Thus, as in the prior year, no deferred tax assets were set up with regard to loss car-

ryforwards of U.S. entities (potentially € 43,088k, prior year € 66,062k) in the 2013 period.

With regard to “Federal tax”, the tax loss carryforwards of the U.S. entities amount to an equivalent of some € 466 

million. They can be offset with tax gains until at least 2024 and will then gradually be forfeited in the years 2025 

to 2033. These loss carryforwards concern some € 145 million in deferred tax assets. With regard to “State tax”, 

the tax loss carryforwards amount to some € 414 million and concern the Federal states of California (€ 130 mil-

lion), Oregon (€ 274 million) and other states (€ 10.3 million). In California, they can be offset with tax gains until 

at least 2018. An amount of roughly € 30 million will then gradually be forfeited in the years 2019 to 2021. For the 

rest (€ 100 million), they will be forfeited in 2033. In Oregon, the loss carryforwards will gradually be forfeited 

starting in 2022 while in the other states, part of the loss carryforwards (€ 1.9 million) will be forfeited in 2014 to 

2016 while the remaining € 8.4 million will gradually be forfeited starting in 2026. Overall, deferred tax assets of 

some € 34 million are attributable to these loss carryforwards.

In addition, deferred tax assets were set up for loss carryforwards that existed in SolarWorld AG’s fiscal unity. 

We expect that the existing loss carryforwards will be utilized in full, as we anticipate that the scheduled financial 

restructuring measures will result in a restructuring profit, which can be fully offset with existing loss carryfor-

wards in the scope of the issuance of a reorganization decree.

The following chart shows unnetted and netted deferred tax assets and liabilities with regard to accounting differ-

ences in the different balance sheet items and tax loss carryforwards:

Deferred tax assets Deferred tax liabilities

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12* 31/12/13 31/12/12

Intangible assets/property, plant and equipment 133,310 152,261 7,268 13,421

Other non-current assets 4,863 77 2,979 0

Current assets 38,423 59,472 375 3,330

Assets held for sale 241 0 0 0

Accrued investment grants 1,197 1,456 899 1,083

Other non-current liabilities 2,704 2,588 3,302 6,648

Current liabilities 5,680 3,515 836 1,060

Tax loss carryforwards 86,982 37,114 0 0

Allowances on deferred tax assets – 138,936 – 154,761 0 0

Total 134,464 101,722 15,659 25,542

Offsetting – 13,086 – 23,280 – 13,086 – 23,280

Recognized deferred taxes 121,378 78,442 2,573 2,262

* Comparative figures were adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.22. We refer to our comments in note 1.

At reporting date, as in the previous year no deferred tax assets and no deferred tax liabilities were recognized in 

equity due to the lack of hedging relationships.
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As in the prior year, no deferred tax liabilities for temporary differences in connection with investments in sub-

sidiaries, associates or joint ventures in accordance with IAS 12.39 were recognized per Dec. 31, 2013. The corre-

sponding temporary differences make for a total of € 3,612k (prior year € 3.642k)

The substantial differences between nominal and effective tax rates in the course of the reporting year and the 

prior year are illustrated below:

in k€ 2013 2012

Income before taxes – 265,403 – 687,813

Expected income tax rate (incl. trade tax) 30.0 % 30.0 %

Expected result from income tax – 79,621 – 206,344

Deviating domestic and foreign tax burden – 4,425 – 5,603

Actual taxes relating to other periods 1,393 – 493

Taxes from non-deductible expenses 2,168 2,328

Tax reductions due to tax-exempt income – 1,467 – 8,265

Goodwill impairment 0 1,393

Allowances on other deferred tax assets 24,563 129,868

Subsequent taxation as per § 2a EStG 19,268 0

Other deviations of tax expenses 1,024 5,594

Recognized income tax result – 37,097 – 81,522

Effective income tax rate 14.0 % 11.9 %

Earnings per share are calculated as ratio of the consolidated net income and the weighted average of the number 

of shares in circulation during the business year. As in the prior year, the key figure “diluted earnings per share” 

was not applicable as option rights or conversion privileges are not outstanding. The consolidated result for the 

year results exclusively from continued operations. The weighted average of the shares in circulation used as a ba-

sis for the determination of earnings per share was recalculated per reporting date and now amounts to 

110,795,393.

SolarWorld group decided to present all items of income and expense recognized in a period in two statements, 

a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income. The statement of comprehensive income 

 directly follows the income statement. We refer to our comments in note 1.

Since the amounts that were re-classified from equity to result of the period or allocated to cost of non-financial 

 assets and the profits and losses not shown through profit or loss including any tax effects are presented in the 

statement of comprehensive income, no further disclosures are required at this point.
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a) Segment disclosures

The presentation of segment reporting follows the “full management approach”. As in the prior year, the following 

reportable segments were identified:

This is due to SolarWorld AG’s prevailing internal organization, reporting and steering structure that focuses on 

the production and distribution of solar systems and solar modules. The greater objective of the group is to increase 

the existing synergy and efficiency potentials of the entire value added chain and thus achieve strategic competitive 

advantages for the marketing of solar systems.

No operating segments were combined for setting up the aforementioned reportable operating segments.

Each of the two production segments combines regionally related and fully integrated manufacturing activities in 

Germany and the U.S. and each include the manufacturing areas of the entire value added chain.

The operating segment “Trade” comprises the worldwide distribution of solar systems and solar modules and the 

operations of Solarparc AG.

The category “all other segments” includes various business activities of the group that did not materially affect 

the group’s financial position and financial performance in 2013.

As in the prior year, the accounting principles applicable for the consolidated entity also apply for the individual 

segments.
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// IN M€

Production 

Germany

Production 

U.S. Trade

All other 

 segments

Recon-

ciliation

Consoli-

dated

Revenue

External revenue 18 2 436 0 0 456

Inter-segment revenue 193 123 0 14 – 330 0

Total revenue 211 125 436 14 – 330 456

EBITDA – 75 – 29 – 57 6 8 – 147

Scheduled depreciation – 22 – 9 – 3 – 6 0 – 40

Non-scheduled depreciation 0 – 2 0 0 0 – 2

Operating result (EBIT) – 97 – 40 – 60 0 8 – 189

Financial result – 77

Result before income taxes – 266

Income taxes 38

Result from continued operations – 228

Consolidated net result – 228

Material non-cash income 15 0 0 1 0 16

Material non-cash expenses – 89 – 9 – 1 – 1 0 – 100
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// IN M€

Production 

Germany

Production 

U.S. Trade

All other 

 segments

Recon-

ciliation

Consoli-

dated

Revenue

External revenue 23 1 581 1 0 606

Inter-segment revenue 332 177 2 21 – 532 0

Total revenue 355 178 583 22 – 532 606

EBITDA 9 – 47 – 154 10 – 21 – 203

Scheduled depreciation – 49 – 26 – 6 – 6 0 – 87

Non-scheduled depreciation – 201 – 121 – 5 – 3 0 – 330

Operating result (EBIT) – 241 – 194 – 165 1 – 21 – 620

Financial result – 67

Result before income taxes – 687

Income taxes 82

Result from continued operations – 606

Consolidated net result – 606

Material non-cash income 100 11 0 1 0 112

Material non-cash expenses – 97 – 27 – 69 0 0 – 193

With regard to inter-segment revenue, the reconciliation column includes eliminations from expense and income 

consolidation.

Reconciliation of the balance of the segment results to the consolidated result is mainly attributable to intra-group 

profit elimination and other immaterial consolidation entries affecting profit or loss.

Revenue of the category “All other segments” primarily comprises the following:

in m€ 2013 2012

Research and development services (intra-group) 14 21

Income from power input 0 1

Total 14 22

The material non-cash income and expenses includes reversals of received advances and reversals of accrued 

 investment grants and impairment losses for inventories, receivables and prepayments made, respectively.
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b) Disclosures on group level

With respect to the breakdown of revenue in accordance with products, we refer to the information provided in 

note 27.

No external customer accounts for more than 10 percent of SolarWorld group’s revenue at once.

Allocation of revenue to individual countries or regions is carried out on the basis of invoicing. Revenue is 

 considered generated in the country in which the addressee of the invoice is domiciled.

Revenue

Intangible assets,

property, plant and equipment

and investment property

in m€ 2013 2012 31/12/13 31/12/12

Germany 134 300 251 275

Rest of Europe 119 114 0 0

Asia 26 20 0 0

U.S. 155 140 80 89

Others 22 32 0 0

Total 456 606 330 364
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Composition and development of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment as well of investment property can be taken from the 

following chart:

Cost

in k€

As at

01/01/13

Reclassifi-

cations Addition

Reclassifi-

cations to 

assets held 

for sale Disposal

Currency 

difference

As at

31/12/13

I. Intangible assets

1.  Concessions, industrial property and similar 

rights and assets, and licenses in such 

rights and assets 31,365 966 710 – 532 – 332 32,177

2. Goodwill 39,524 – – – – – 39,524

3. Exploration and evaluation 892 – 668 – – – 1,560

4. Prepayments 258 – 119 785 – 21 – 2 902

72,039 847 2,163 – 553 – 334 74,162

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Land and buildings 367,565 2,652 938 – – – 5,466 365,688

2.  Technical equipment and machinery 982,128 7,296 16,102 – 28,171 – 14,796 962,558

3.  Other equipment, factory and  

office equipment 39,479 60 529 – 1,446 – 332 38,290

4.  Construction in progress and prepayments 17,074 – 9,967 2,355 – 169 – 212 9,081

1,406,245 41 19,924 – 29,787 – 20,806 1,375,617

III.  Investment property 26,094 – 888 670 9,630 – – 16,245

1,504,378 – 22,757 9,630 30,340 – 21,140 1,466,025

Cost

in k€

As at

01/01/12

Reclassifi-

cations Addition

Reclassifi-

cations to 

assets held 

for sale Disposal

Currency 

difference

As at

31/12/12

I. Intangible assets

1.  Concessions, industrial property and similar 

rights and assets, and licenses in such 

rights and assets 32,950 2,360 3,549 – 7,347 – 147 31,365

2. Goodwill 39,524 – – – – – 39,524

3. Exploration and evaluation 210 – 682 – – – 892

4. Prepayments 339 – 43 – 124 – 258

73,023 2,360 4,274 – 7,471 – 147 72,039

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Land and buildings 354,932 10,194 6,125 – 1,218 – 2,468 367,565

2.  Technical equipment and machinery 1,020,208 34,557 25,751 5,221 86,195 – 6,973 982,128

3.  Other equipment, factory and  

office equipment 38,562 932 1,373 – 1,246 – 143 39,479

4.  Construction in progress and prepayments 53,230 – 43,920 9,918 – 1,988 – 167 17,074

1,466,932 1,763 43,168 5,221 90,646 – 9,751 1,406,245

III.  Investment property 27,993 – 4,123 2,224 – – – 26,094

1,567,948 – 49,667 5,221 98,117 – 9,898 1,504,378
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Amortization and depreciation Carrying amounts

As at

01/01/13

Reclassifi-

cations

Scheduled 

additions

Impair-

ment 

charges

Reclassifi-

cations to 

assets held 

for sale Disposal

Currency 

difference

As at

31/12/13

As at

31/12/13

As at

31/12/12

24,361 662 1,775 – – 295 – 289 26,214 5,963 7,004

39,524 – – – – – – 39,524 – –

– – – – – – – – 1,560 892

– – – – – – – – 902 258

63,885 662 1,775 – – 295 – 289 65,738 8,425 8,154

253,261 533 4,982 – – – – 3,984 254,792 110,896 114,304

781,065 2,029 32,232 1,893 – 27,475 – 12,755 776,989 185,569 201,062

29,838 – 2,539 – – 1,328 – 278 30,771 7,519 9,640

11,621 – 3,176 – 1,933 – – 147 – 165 6,199 2,882 5,452

1,075,786 – 615 37,820 1,893 – 28,951 – 17,182 1,068,751 306,866 330,459

1,127 – 47 389 – 330 – – 1,139 15,106 24,967

1,140,798 – 39,984 1,893 330 29,246 – 17,471 1,135,628 330,397 363,580

Amortization and depreciation Carrying amounts

As at

01/01/12

Reclassifi-

cations

Scheduled 

additions

Impair-

ment 

charges

Reclassifi-

cations to 

assets held 

for sale Disposal

Currency 

difference

As at

31/12/12

As at

31/12/12

As at

31/12/11

17,620 – 3,486 5,133 – 1,752 – 126 24,361 7,004 15,330

34,882 – – 4,642 – – – 39,524 – 4,642

– – – – – – – – 892 210

– – – – – – – – 258 339

52,502 – 3,486 9,775 – 1,752 – 126 63,885 8,154 20,521

148,658 127 11,046 95,604 – 382 – 1,791 253,261 114,304 206,274

549,232 – 3 67,113 211,687 3,968 36,928 – 6,068 781,065 201,062 470,976

21,416 3 5,050 4,523 – 1,036 – 118 29,838 9,640 17,146

2,945 – – 8,788 – – – 111 11,621 5,452 50,285

722,251 127 83,209 320,601 3,968 38,346 – 8,088 1,075,786 330,459 744,681

762 – 127 492 – – – – 1,127 24,967 27,231

775,515 – 87,187 330,377 3,968 40,099 – 8,214 1,140,798 363,580 792,433
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In the scope of exploring the Eastern Ore Mountains with regard to lithium reserves, expenses of € 1,560k (prior 

year € 682k) were incurred in the reporting period, which were capitalized as an intangible asset in accordance 

with IFRS 6. No other self-generated intangible assets were capitalized.

Leases in accordance with IAS 17 that would lead to capitalization of an asset do not exist.

The building complex Auermühle (object A) that contains the distribution center of SolarWorld AG is partially 

leased to third parties. The respective parts of the building are therefore classified investment property. The mar-

ket value of these building parts amounts to € 14.9 million (prior year € 15.4 million) and, thus, falls short of their 

carrying amount by € 0.2 million (prior year € 0.8 million).

The second property (object B), that is leased to third parties in full, has been reclassified to assets held for sale in 

the reporting period. We refer to our comments in note 54.

Independent experts determined the market value of the remaining property. Due to the type of the property and 

the lack of comparative data, no observable market transactions were used as a basis for the assessment of the fair 

value of the property. Instead, the fair value was determined using the capitalized earnings method in application 

of the following assumptions.

Object A

2013 2012

 Market rent 11.30 €/qm 11.25 €/qm

 Loss of rent risk 4 % 5 %

 Capitalization rate 5.80 % 5.80 %

 Residual useful life infinite infinite

Rental income of € 965k (prior year € 1,090k) was generated with investment property in the annual period while 

the leased parts accounted for expenses of € 255k (prior year € 342k). Expenses of € 162k (prior year € 1,141k) were 

incurred with regard to the unrented parts. These disclosures take into account object B up until its classification 

as held for sale.

Limitations regarding the disposability of investment property, contractual obligations to acquire, establish or de-

velop investment property do not exist. Object B is subject to the contractual obligation to conduct constructional 

measures while all expenses relating to the fitting-out including any interest payments are borne by the tenant.

With regard to the reconciliation statement that shows the development of the carrying amount of the investment 

properties, we refer to the fixed asset movement schedule in note 40.

Future minimum rent payments from the leased parts are as follows. The statements of the prior year included the 

minimum rent payments from the leased parts of object B: 
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in k€ 2013 2012

Twelve months or less 748 1,084

2 to 5 years 936 1,642

Total 1,684 2,726

in k€ 2013 2012

Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C. (29 %) 18,891 23,368

SolarWorld AG holds a 29 percent investment in the assets and results of Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C. 

 domiciled in the Emirate Qatar. Together with Qatar Foundation and Qatar Development Bank, SolarWorld AG 

is constructing a production facility for polysilicon.

JSSi GmbH, an associate accounted for using the equity method, in which SolarWorld AG has held a 49 percent 

investment and which was written off in full in the prior year, was sold by way of an agreement dated July 2, 2013.

With regard to related party disclosures we refer to note 67.

The following chart includes summarized financial information regarding investments measured at equity. The 

amounts refer to the SolarWorld group’s shares and not to the amount of a notional 100 percent investment.

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Share in assets 144,407 81,417

 Of which current 11,843 10,410

 Of which noncurrent 132,564 71,007

Share in liabilities 128,132 56,743

 Of which current 26,896 17,224

 Of which noncurrent 101,236 39,519

Share in revenue 0 6,909

Share in net result for the year – 5,309 – 12,171

Other financial assets primarily include amounts classified as non-current for re-insurances of € 331k (prior year 

€ 501k) that were accounted for in accordance with IFRIC 14 and IAS 19. The re-insurance contracts were concluded 

in connection with early retirement obligations and netted with the outstanding wage payments at reporting date. 

The current proportion is recognized in other current financial assets (compare note 52).
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In part, deferred tax assets result from accounting policies for recognition and measurement of assets and lia-

bilities that differ from tax principles and current loss carryforwards. The development of deferred tax assets is 

 included in the comments on tax expenses (note 36).

The item concerns the non-current proportion of prepayments made on raw materials.

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Commodities and supplies 33,971 48,892

Work in progress 32,421 98,555

Finished goods and merchandise 35,759 64,373

Prepayments (current) 17,000 10,702

Total 119,151 222,523

For the purpose of the breakdown above, only solar modules were qualified as finished goods of the group.

In the reporting year, inventory impairments of € 15,222k (prior year € 94,488k) were recognized as expenses. 

As in the prior year, reversals of impairment losses were not conducted.

As in the prior year, no material restrictions on ownership or disposal do exist.

Of the trade receivables, the trade receivables of SolarWorld AG amounting to € 17,748k (prior year € 15,112k) are 

assigned as collateral for loan obligations.

The following chart illustrates the aging structure of receivables:

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Neither past due nor impaired 36,709 42,159

Past due but not impaired

- up to 30 days 5,509 6,526

- between 31 and 60 days 695 620

- between 61 and 90 days 185 184

- between 91 and 180 days 197 267

- between 181 and 360 days 68 508

- exceeding 360 days 5,496 5,048

Impaired 0 257

Total 48,859 55,569
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With regard to trade receivables that were not impaired, an indication for the recognition of impairment losses did 

not exist or impairment losses did not have to be recognized due to existing collaterals. The receivables included in 

the “between 1 and 90 days” cluster were fully redeemed within the preparation period of the consolidated finan-

cial statements. The majority of the receivables included in the “between 91 to more than 360 days” cluster result 

from wafer sales that mostly originate from long-term agreements. With regard to respective default risks, we refer 

to note 64.

The following chart illustrates the development of the bad debt allowance:

in k€ 2013 2012

As at Jan 1 29,593 26,522

Utilization – 2,428 – 6,502

Net release/allocation – 58 9,614

Currency translation 642 – 41

As at Dec 31 27,749 29,593

Tax assets of € 1,353k (prior year € 1,054k) are especially due to creditable investment income tax.

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Receivable from investment subsidies 9,527 16,632

VAT receivables 4,798 2,908

Deferred items 3,074 3,201

Electricity tax refund 2,172 968

Receivable from research and development investment subsidies 1,738 1,351

Other prepayments 1,308 292

Other 2,617 3,716

Total 25,234 29,068

Receivables from investment subsidies concern an expected payment on the basis of the statutory provisions of 

the Investment Subsidy Act of 2010 in accordance with resolutions of the EU Commission dated July 6, 2010 and 

March 23, 2011.

Unsettled receivables from electricity tax refunds result from the German Electricity Tax Act.
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in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Repayment claims 59,578 123,741

Sub-participation Solarparks of Extremadura S.L., Spain 13,834 13,834

Security deposits 7,753 18,476

Liquid funds subject to restrictions on use 2,017 1,197

Derivative financial instruments 103 54

Other financial assets 256 291

Total 83,541 157,593

Repayment claims result from prepayments relating to long-term purchase contracts for silicon that most probably 

violate EU anti-trust laws and therefore are null and void. As a consequence, the prepayments made were reclassi-

fied and recognized as repayment claims in the line item other financial assets already in prior year. The decrease 

in repayment claims in the reporting year results from an agreement concluded with a supplier regarding the con-

tinuation of the existing agreements and corresponding re-classification to inventories and other non-current as-

sets. We refer to our comments in notes 5 and 33.

Bank balances subject to restraints on disposal serve as collateral for utilized bank guarantees.

The sub-investment in Solarparks of Extremadura S.L., Spain, results from a cooperation agreement with a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Deutsche Bank AG (DB), in which DB grants Solarparc AG the right to participate in the re-

sult from marketing or alternatively the operation of solar parks in Extremadura (Spain). The recognized carrying 

amount of the sub-investment offsets an amount payable to DB of € 12,667k (compare note 56), which DB can claim 

at any time.

Liquid funds almost entirely concern bank balances. At reporting date, these were invested in – mostly short-term – 

fixed term deposits and day-to-day money with different banks. Bank accounts with a credit balance of € 13,555k 

(prior year € 11,780k) are subject to pledge agreements. Additional minimum cash at hand of € 155k (prior year 

€ 372k) needs to be available in the scope of project financing of photovoltaic facilities. Thus, this amount is not at 

the group’s free disposal. 

In the course of restructuring, SolarWorld AG intends to sell its Bonn-Buschdorf property within the next twelve 

months. The search for a buyer has already started. In addition, a machine that is no longer used was classified as 

held for sale in the prior year and was subject to a € 818k devaluation in the reporting year..

a) Subscribed capital

At reporting date, the capital stock amounts to € 111.72 million (prior year € 111.72 million) and only includes com-

mon shares, namely 111,720,000 non-par bearer shares.
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b) Authorized capital

The shareholders’ meeting of May 20, 2010 revoked the capital stock increases authorized in previous sharehold-

ers’ meetings and authorized the board of directors for a maximum period of five years, i. e. until May 20, 2015, to 

increase – upon approval of the Supervisory Board – the capital stock once or more often by up to an overall amount 

of € 55,860,000 by issuing new bearer or registered shares for cash contribution or contribution in kind.

On August 7 2013, the extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of SolarWorld AG passed the cancellation of the au-

thorized capital without replacement. The registration of this resolution in the Commercial Register (Handelsregis-

ter) is linked to the implementation of the capital measures that were also passed by the shareholders’ meeting of 

August 7, 2013, and that are essential parts of the restructuring concept of SolarWorld. Registration was effected 

on February 24, 2014.

c) Conditional capital

SolarWorld AG does not have any conditional capital. d) Treasury shares

By resolution of the shareholders’ meeting of May 20, 2010, the board of directors was authorized to purchase trea-

sury shares. In accordance with § 71 para. 1 No. 8 AktG, the authorization is subject to a fixed term, expires per 

midnight of May 20, 2015, and is limited to an extent of up to 10 percent of the capital stock.

At December 31, 2013, SolarWorld AG owns a total of 924,607 treasury shares. Thus, the number of treasury 

shares equals that of the prior period.

The weighted average of the shares in circulation used as a basis for the determination of the result per share was 

recalculated per reporting date and amounts to 110,795,393.

e) Other reserves

Currency translation reserve

The currency translation reserve contains differences arising from currency translation in the scope of translating 

annual financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Hedging reserve and AfS reserve

As in the prior year, the hedging reserve does not contain any gains and losses from hedging relationships that 

were classified as effective in the scope of cash flow hedges. As in the prior year, an AfS reserve does not exist from 

the change of the fair value of the assets (AfS assets) available for sale. Thus, as before, deferred taxes were not off-

set with the hedging reserve.

f) Non-controlling interests

As in the prior year, non-controlling interests do not exist.

g) Dividend distribution

No dividend was distributed for 2012.



196

SOL A R WORLD 2013 CONSOLIDATED NOTE S

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Bonds 551,446 550,915

Issued assignable note loans 372,032 356,221

Bank loans 65,073 64,043

Purchase price obligation Auermühle 16,903 16,377

Payment obligation sub-investment Solarparks of Extremadura S.L., 

Spain 12,667 12,667

Derivative financial instruments 370 199

Other 3,646 4,358

Total 1,022,137 1,004,781

Bank loans are collateralized by land charges in an amount of € 6.5 million (prior year € 6.5 million) and customary 

chattel mortgages of property, plant and equipment of € 3.1 million (prior year € 5.7 million) for which the consoli-

dated entities are liable. The chattel mortgages exclusively concern photovoltaic facilities operated by SolarWorld 

group. In addition, minimum cash in hand amounts of € 0.2 million (prior year € 0.4 million) have to be maintained 

at the borrowing banks for project financing of photovoltaic facility projects.

Per December 31, 2012, financial liabilities of € 403.6 million were reclassified from noncurrent to current as cer-

tain financial covenants could not be met at the end of the period, which entitled the creditors of these financial 

 liabilities to demand premature repayment of the loans. We refer to our comments in note 64e.

The purchase price obligation Auermühle results from concluded options that entitle SolarWorld AG and the 

seller, Solar Holding Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, to acquire and dispose of another 45 percent of the shares in 

Auermühle.

The payment obligation for the sub-investment Solarparks of Extremadura S.L., Spain, is connected with the sub-

investment in Solarparks of Extremadura S.L., Spain, recognized in other financial assets. We refer to our com-

ments in note 52.

The item includes accrued investment subsidies and investment grants as well as accrued tax credits, even to the 

extent to which they are to be reversed in the course of the following year because they exclusively concern prop-

erty, plant and equipment.

The investment subsidies and investment grants are subject to a number of requirements. Based on today’s knowl-

edge, all of those requirements will be met subject to the reservation stated below. Thus, repayment obligations are 

not expected to arise.

In prior years, Solar Factory GmbH received investment grants from Sächsische Aufbaubank. Due to not fully 

meeting the employment guarantees in the eligibility period, there is a general risk that a proportion of the grants 

might have to be repaid. Due to the current state of negotiations with Sächsische Aufbaubank, however, we do not 

expect that we will have to refund the investment grants.
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in k€

As at

01/01/13* Utilization Reversal Addition

Currency

translation

As at

31/12/13

Warranties 21,857 785 226 2,318 – 213 22,951

Pensions 8,605 431 0 598 0 8,772

Litigation risks 1,295 626 28 1,924 0 2,565

Contingent losses from 

pending contracts 2,355 1,553 530 1,231 – 28 1,475

Restoration obligations 2,417 1,006 7 45 – 70 1,379

Other provisions 12,528 8,798 1,767 304 – 8 2,259

Total 49,057 13,199 2,558 6,420 – 319 39,401

* Comparative figures were adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.22. We refer to our comments in note 1.

The provision for warranties is set up for specific individual risks, for the general risk of being called upon in accor-

dance to statutory warranty regulations and performance guarantees granted with regard to photovoltaic modules 

sold. The provision for the risk of being called upon for performance guarantees is set up in an amount of 0.25 per-

cent of all of SolarWorld group’s module revenue. This lump sum rate represents the current estimation of the 

discounted total expenses over the entire term of the performance guarantee (performance guarantee is granted 

for a period of 25 years). Thus, it is subject to compounding at matched maturity interest rate. In the reporting peri-

od, this makes for interest expenses of € 1,129k (prior year € 874k), which are included in other financial expenses 

(compare note 35.)

The provision for building restoration obligations concerns tenant fixtures that have to be removed by SolarWorld 

group after expiration of the lease term. In addition, the provision includes the obligation to restore surface areas 

used for the operation of photovoltaic facilities once the lease term expires. Due to the noncurrent nature of the pro-

vision, it is subject to compounding at matched maturity interest rate. In the reporting period, this makes for inter-

est expenses of € 35k (prior year € 202k), which are included in other financial expenses (compare note 35).

The addition to the provision for contingent losses primarily results from unfavorable procurement contracts.

Pension provisions

Pension provisions include promises of retirement benefits to employees of the group on the basis of direct com-

pensation. The pension claims earned depend on the amount of pay at the time of retirement.

The following measurement parameters were uniformly used as a basis for calculating the defined benefit obliga-

tion (DBO):

31/12/13 31/12/12

Discount rate 3.3 % 3.8 %

Rate of pension progression 2.0 % 2.0 %

The Heubeck standard tables RT 2005 G were used with regard to mortality and invalidity.
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Alternative discount rates and rates of pension progression would result in the following changes in the defined ben-

efit obligation and the corresponding reverse changes in equity (before taking into account deferred tax effects):

Measurement parameter Sensitivity Change in the DBO in k€

Discount rate +/– 1.00 % – 997 1,225

Rate of pension progression +/– 0.50 % 489 – 448

The following chart illustrates the DBO’s development:

in k€ 2013 2012*

Extent of obligation as at Jan. 1 8,605 7,772

Interest payable 327 389

Pension payments and other utilizations – 431 – 431

Gains (–) and losses (+) from the remeasurement:

-  actuarial losses due to changes in the financial assumptions 523 1,134

-  actuarial losses from experience adjustments – 252 – 259

Extent of obligation as at Dec 31 8,772 8,605

* Comparative figures were adjusted in accordance with IAS 8.22. We refer to our comments in note 1.

The following DBO-amounts were recognized for defined benefit plans in the current and prior reporting periods:

in k€ 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Extent of obligation as at Dec 31 8,772 8,605 7,772 7,682 7,470

in k€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Customer advances 23,994 34,202

Outstanding invoices 12,397 9,859

Other personnel obligations 6,256 7,967

VAT 1,323 7,655

Equity contribution obligation 1,051 0

Profit-oriented employee compensation 440 1,361

Other 10,442 10,928

Total 55,903 71,972

Customer advances mainly concern advances from long-term wafer purchase agreements.

Other personnel liabilities substantially consist of employee bonuses, outstanding wages and salaries and holiday 

entitlements.
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The claimed obligation to contribute equity concerns a capital increase called for by Qatar Solar Technologies 

Q.S.C. in November 2013 that was based on a corresponding shareholder agreement. We refer to our comments 

note 44.

The recognized liability from profit-oriented employee compensation only includes the employer’s share of social 

security contributions regarding obligations from prior annual periods. Employee entitlements that originated 

more than 12 months prior to the end of the annual period were netted with the corresponding insolvency protec-

tion amount. We refer to our comments in note 24. Profit-oriented employee compensation was not recognized in 

the reporting period. Interest payable from interest expenses from liabilities for profit-oriented employee compen-

sation amounts to € 96k (prior year € 763k) and is included in interest payable (compare note 35).

The contribution obligation recognized in the prior period concerned the equity addition called upon by Qatar 

 Solar Technologies Q.S.C. in December 2011 that was agreed on in the scope of the “Shareholder Agreement” 

dated April 1, 2010. The respective liability was paid in the reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities entirely result from accounting policies for recognition and measurement of assets and 

 liabilities that differ from tax principles. The item’s development is included in the comments on tax expenses 

(note 36).

The item includes corporation, trade and capital yields tax assessed by the tax authorities and calculated or esti-

mated by the consolidated entities as well as corresponding foreign taxes resulting from tax laws.
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in m€ 31/12/13 31/12/12

Order commitments from commodity and license agreements

- within 1 year 59 54

- between 1 and 5 years 75 36

- more than 5 years 55 6

Order commitments from investments in fixed assets

- within 1 year 7 13

- between 1 and 5 years 1 0

- more than 5 years 0 0

Obligations from perennial rent agreements

- within 1 year 2 2

- between 1 and 5 years 3 4

- more than 5 years 0 2

Total 202 117

The obligations from multi-year rental agreements mostly concern office buildings and vehicles. The terms of the 

lease agreements for buildings and vehicles run from 3 to 11 and 3 and 4 years, respectively. The lease agreements 

for vehicles do not include any significant purchase or extension options. One lease agreement for a building in-

cludes the option to extend the contract twice by five years each. The contracts do not impose any restrictions on 

SolarWorld AG.

A comprehensive presentation of corporate risks and events after balance sheet date is included in the group man-

agement report which, in accordance with German laws and regulations, is to be prepared and published at the 

same time as these consolidated financial statements. Amongst others, the group management report goes into de-

tail with regard to the expectations for future development of selling prices and the overall market.

Financial restructuring successfully completed

On January 13, 2014, the Cologne Higher Regional Court approved the applications for summary judgments which 

SolarWorld AG filed in October 2013. As a result, it was possible to implement the noteholders’ and shareholders’ 

resolutions that were adopted in August 2013. Furthermore, in January 2014, all creditor groups and noteholder rep-

resentatives as well as the new investor Qatar Solar S.P.C. signed the final restructuring agreement. This agreement 

contains the individual financial restructuring steps and makes them legally binding on all parties to the agreement. 

On January 20, 2014, the capital reduction in the ratio of 150:1 that was approved by shareholders on August 7, 2013 

was entered in the commercial register. On January 27, 2014, the German Federal Financial Supervisory Authority 

(BaFin) approved the prospectuses for the new shares and bonds that were issued as part of the financial restructur-

ing program. On February 24, 2014, the implementation of the capital increase by contribution in kind for Solar-

World AG was entered in the commercial register of the local court of Bonn. As a result, the financial liabilities of 

SolarWorld AG were reduced from around € 1 billion by € 570 million to € 427 million and the financial restructur-

ing which began in January 2013 was completed.
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The capital increase by contribution in kind increased the capital stock of SolarWorld AG from € 744,800.00 by 

€ 14,151,200.00 to € 14,896,000.00. The capital stock of SolarWorld AG is now divided into 14,151,200 no-par 

value shares to which a pro-rata amount of the share capital of € 1.00 per share (new shares, ISIN DE000A1YDED6) 

is attributed, and 744,800 no-par value shares to which a pro-rata amount of the share capital of € 1.00 per share 

(old shares, ISIN DE000A1YCMM2) is attributed.

U.S. International Trade Commission commences proceedings

In February 14, 2014, the U.S. International Trade Commission (ITC) declared that the domestic solar industry in the 

United States was still being threatened and harmed by imports from China and the third country Taiwan. The com-

mission unanimously backed a complaint filed by SolarWorld Industries America Inc. on December 31, 2013. 

The decision by the ITC is the first of four steps in the proceedings against illegal trade practices which could lead to 

an extension of the duties imposed back in 2012.

Production lines of Bosch Solar Energy AG taken over

On March 12, 2014, as planned, SolarWorld Industries-Thüringen GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of Solar-

World AG, acquired cell and module production assets from Bosch Solar Energy AG in Arnstadt, Thuringia. Solar-

World Industries-Thüringen GmbH will employ around 800 people when production begins in mid-March 2014. 

The acquisition increases production capacities at the cell and module stages of the value chain, and strengthens 

the group’s technological foundation.

Directors‘ dealings

After December 31, 2013, Dr.-Ing. E.h. Frank Asbeck, the company’s CEO, sold a total of 20,781,406 old shares in 

SolarWorld AG (ISIN DE0005108401) via the stock exchange. Once the financial restructuring was executed, 

Dr.-Ing. E.h. Frank Asbeck purchased 2,919,057 new shares (ISIN DE000A1YDED6) off-market. Due to these trans-

actions, the indirect and direct voting rights of Dr.-Ing. E.h. Frank Asbeck decreased from 22.27 to 19.78 percent as 

of the key date March 12, 2014. 

CFO Philipp Koecke also purchased 8,000 new shares in SolarWorld AG. His voting rights amounted to 0.05 per-

cent as of the key date March 12, 2014. 

a) Management of capital structure

SolarWorld group’s capital management is especially aligned to ensure the group’s financing. This includes the 

safeguarding of a constant level of minimum liquidity that is available. Directly managed by the executive board, 

SolarWorld AG is responsible for planning and monitoring the group‘s liquidity as well as the traising of capital. 

Short-term liquidity management is carried out with a planning horizon of 13 weeks. The corresponding planning 

is updated every two weeks. In addition to the cash flow from operating activities, the group used different capital 

market instruments like bonds and promissory notes. In the light of the difficult environment the solar industry is 

facing when it comes to financing, refinancing with these types of capital market instruments is currently possible 

only to a very limited extent. Thus, the capital management efforts in connection with the financial restructuring 

were focused on adjusting existing loan obligations to the earning power and financial requirements of the compa-

ny. Moreover, in the scope of the financial restructuring process, SolarWorld received a new credit line of € 50 

million from Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C.. We refer to our comments in note 64e and the management report.
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b) Principles and objectives of financial risk management

In its capacity as an internationally operating group, SolarWorld AG is exposed to market, credit and liquidity 

risks with regard to its assets, liabilities and future transactions already set and planned. Objective of financial risk 

management is the limitation of these risks by way of operating and finance-oriented activities.

Main features of financial policies are agreed upon in the board of directors and with the respective subsidiaries 

on a regular basis. Selected derivative and non-derivative financial instruments are utilized to limit or take risks in 

a controlled way, depending on the respective risk assessment, planning ability regarding future transactions and 

current market situation. As a basic principle, however, only those risks are addressed that have short- to medium-

term consequences on the group’s cash flow. Implementation of financial policies as well as risk management is 

handled by the respective departments, which report to the board of directors on a regular basis.

Derivative financial instruments are regularly used as hedging instruments but not for trading or speculation pur-

poses. To exploit short-term market fluctuations, possibly existing hedging instruments are closed out economi-

cally. To minimize default risks, hedging agreements are only concluded with leading financial institutions that 

have a credit rating in the investment grade area.

With regard to the investment of liquid funds, it is SolarWorld group’s primary objective to minimize risks from 

the change of market prices or the creditworthiness of creditors and to obtain a return rate at money market level 

in the process. SolarWorld group therefore mostly invests uncommitted liquid funds in demand deposits (fixed-

term deposits and day-to-day money). To limit the default risk, demand deposits are only placed with leading finan-

cial institutes with a credit rating in the investment grade area. Moreover, central management and broad diversi-

fication of the investments with regard to debtors works against the establishment of risk concentration.

c) Market risks

With respect to market risks, SolarWorld group is especially prone to risks from the change in currency trans-

lation, commodity prices and interest rates.

For the presentation of market risks, IFRS 7 requires sensitivity analyses, which show the consequences of hypo-

thetical changes of relevant risk variables on result and equity. The periodic consequences are determined by 

showing how the hypothetical changes of the risk variables could have affected the existing financial instruments 

at balance sheet date. It is therefore assumed on the basis of existing hedging relations that net liabilities, the rela-

tion of fixed and variable interest on liabilities and derivatives and the proportion of foreign currency financial in-

struments remain unchanged.

Currency risks in terms of IFRS 7 arise on financial instruments that are denominated in a currency different from 

the functional currency and are of a monetary nature. Currency risk related differences from the translation of fi-

nancial statements into the group currency remain unaccounted for. Relevant risk variables are basically all non-

functional currencies in which SolarWorld group holds financial instruments.

Interest risks exist both on the borrowing and the deposit side. Thus, analysis of interest risks is carried out on the 

basis of net debt whereas it is assumed that interest for variably interest-bearing borrowings and deposits change 

in equal measure. Moreover, only those interest-bearing financial instruments whose interest level depends exclu-

sively on market interest development are included in the analysis.

Risks from the change of commodity prices result from commodity derivatives concluded for hedging purposes 

with regard to the corresponding commodity purchases.
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aa) Currency risks

SolarWorld group’s currency risks mainly result from operating activities. Foreign currency risks are hedged to 

the extent to which they influence the group’s cash flows. On principle, risks that result from the translation of as-

sets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries into the group reporting currency and influence the group’s cash flow 

only upon disposal of the subsidiary are not hedged. However, hedging of these risks is not entirely ruled out in the 

future.

With regard to operating activities, the individual group companies mostly handle their operations in utilization 

of the respective functional currency. For the rest, SolarWorld group is exposed to foreign currency risks in con-

nection with foreign currency transactions already set and planned. These mainly concern transactions in US$ in 

connection with the procurement of raw materials. As in the prior year, no hedging relationships existed for these 

transactions at balance sheet date.

Aside from a proportion of liquid funds and trade receivables and liabilities, the material financial instruments are 

mainly denominated in functional currency. Hence, exchange rate changes basically influence the result only with 

regard to these foreign currency items.

If the Euro revalues (devalues) towards the US$ by 10 percent, this will make for a negative (positive) effect on 

earnings before income tax of € 360k (€ 428). If the Euro revalues (devalues) towards the British pound by 10 per-

cent, this will make for a negative (positive) effect on earnings before income tax of € 884k (€ 1,080k). With regard 

to all other changes in exchange rates, the group’s currency risk is insignificant. 

bb) Interest risks

At reporting date, all borrowed capital of the group was subject to fixed-interest rates. As uncommitted liquid 

funds are mainly invested for the short-term, SolarWorld faces an interest risk on the deposit side. Moreover, the 

group is subject to interest risks in connection with an interest rate limit transaction in form of a maximum rate 

agreement (cap), which is not designated into a hedging relationship.

If the market interest rate level increases by 50 basis points, the positive effect on earnings before tax would amount 

to € 1,014k (prior year € 1,175k). If the market interest rate level decreases by 50 basis points, the negative effect on 

earnings before tax would amount to € 924k (prior year € 1,131k).

cc) Other price risks

In addition, SolarWorld group concluded commodity derivatives to hedge the risk of increasing silver prices. As 

the derivatives are not integrated in a valid hedging relationship, changes in the derivatives’ value affect the earn-

ings before tax.

If the silver price rate increased or decreased from – at reporting date – some US$ 20/kg to US$ 30/kg or US$ 15/kg, 

the earnings before tax would be € 1,331k higher or € 596k lower, respectively.

d) Credit risks

For the most part, SolarWorld group’s uncommitted liquidity is invested in demand deposits with German banks. 

Thus, the default risk is considered marginal in this respect.

With regard to supplies to non-group customers, depending on type and amount of the respective service, collateral 

is required, credit ratings/references are collected or historical data from previous business relations – especially 

as regards payment behavior – is used for avoiding default in payment.
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To further limit credit risks, receivables from non-group module sales are mostly secured via credit insurances. 

Hence, the respective credit risk is regarded rather remote.

With respect to receivables from wafer sales that mainly originate from long-term contracts, credit insurances do 

not exist for the most part as these customers have paid extensive advances, which are non-refundable especially 

in the event of insolvency. Thus, the respective credit risk is economically provided for.

SolarWorld group shows extensive repayment claims from silicon suppliers that are not secured. The claims are 

against large and established suppliers in the silicon field so that the credit risk is, on principle, estimated rather 

low. However, due to the tense market environment, which also hit the established silicon suppliers hard, a default 

risk cannot ruled out.

For the rest, the maximum credit risk results from the carrying amounts.

e) Liquidity risks

For SolarWorld group, liquidity risks arise from the obligation to redeem liabilities in full and in due time. It is 

therefore the task of the cash and liquidity management to assure the individual group companies’ liquidity at any 

time.

Cash management for operating activities is carried out in a decentralized manner within the individual business 

units. SolarWorld AG predominantly balances the respective requirements and surpluses regarding the individ-

ual units’ means of payment in a centralized way by granting and accepting intra-group loans. Central cash man-

agement determines the group-wide financial resources requirements on the basis of business planning.

Contracts in connection with borrowed capital amounting to nominal € 404.5 million contain regulations that will 

entitle creditors to exceptional terminate the contract and demand early repayment of the loans if certain financial 

ratios (covenants) are not met. These financial ratios were renegotiated and standardized with all creditors in the 

summer of 2012. The financial ratios mainly concern key data regarding the level of indebtedness, liquidity and the 

operating result.

Almost all contracts in connection with borrowed capital include so-called “cross-default clauses (third party default 

clauses)”, which govern that the creditors have an extraordinary right to cancel to the extent to that SolarWorld 

AG does not comply with its obligations from other borrowed capital.

In addition, creditors of borrowed funds in a nominal amount of € 931 million are entitled to request the premature 

repayment of the loans if a change of control takes place at SolarWorld AG.

SolarWorld group failed to meet the agreed covenants at December 31, 2012. Hence, creditors of borrowed funds 

in a nominal amount of € 404.5 million (mostly from issued assignable note loans) are in principle entitled to an ex-

ceptional termination.

On January 24, 2013, SolarWorld AG announced by an ad hoc notification the need for financial restructuring. 

After this announcement, the Management Board conducted negotiations on a restructuring concept with its main 

creditors. On June 18, 2013, SolarWorld AG announced that an agreement had been reached on the implementa-

tion of the restructuring of liabilities with all creditors of assignable loans (Schuldscheine) as well as a creditor of a 

secured loan. In this agreement, the creditors waived their rights to terminate the loans for breach of financial cov-

enants.

 If creditors of the issued assignable note loans had made use of their right to exceptional termination and if the 

company had failed to meet the creditors’ repayment claims resulting therefrom there would have been a risk that 

the remaining creditors of borrowed capital (mainly from bonds issued in a nominal volume of € 400 million and 

€ 150 million) will also have a right to exceptional termination due to the “cross default clauses”.

The final restructuring agreement for carrying out the restructuring, which contains individual financial restruc-

turing steps, was concluded on January 6, 2014.
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On February 24, 2014, the execution of the non-cash capital increase of SolarWorld AG was entered in the com-

mercial register of the Bonn local court, thereby reducing SolarWorld AG’s financial liabilities by € 570 million 

from some € 1 billion to € 427 million and finalizing the financial restructuring of SolarWorld AG that had started 

in January 2013. 

The reorganized financial liabilities consist of two newly issued bonds with a nominal value of € 52 million and 

€ 175 million and a newly structured loan (Senior Facility Agreement or short SFA) of € 191 million. In addition, 

SolarWorld took out a new loan (Super Senior Agreement or short SSA) from Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C. 

in the amount of € 50 million on February 25, 2014. 

All new financial liabilities fall due within 5 years and include a so-called “cross-default clause”, which gives the 

creditors an extraordinary right to give notice if SolarWorld AG does not meet its obligations from other bor-

rowed funds. 

The SFA and SSFA include provisions that entitle the creditors to extraordinary termination of the contract and 

 demand premature repayment of the loans if certain covenants are not met. The covenants are mainly indicators 

regarding the debt-equity and interest cover ratio that have to be complied with from December 31, 2015 and in-

dicators regarding the minimum liquidity and maximum debt. 

As further detailed in the report on § 315 para. 4 HGB, the creditors of the new financial liabilities also have the 

right to demand the premature repayment of the loans if a change of control takes place at SolarWorld AG.

These regulations are supplemented by further standard provisions on termination.

The following chart shows the future undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities (interest and repayment), 

as they would contractually result without taking into account any unscheduled repayments. Unscheduled repay-

ments are contractually agreed if certain liquidity or cash flow indicators are met or certain material cash flow-rel-

evant transactions took place.

Undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities

in k€ Total 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2020  

et seq.

Bank loans 10,947 1,031 1,006 7,332 613 443 290 232

Bonds 290,268 38,724 24,849 27,737 12,093 12,093 174,772 0

Senior Facility 238,726 41,626 24,502 26,059 8,907 8,907 128,725 0

Super Senior Facility 66,958 2,750 3,458 3,500 3,500 3,500 50,250 0

Total 606,899 84,131 53,815 64,628 25,113 24,943 354,037 232
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f) Fair values, carrying amounts and residual terms of financial instruments in accordance with categories

The following chart shows fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities included in the indi-

vidual line items:

Assets Dec 31, 2013

Measurement categories IAS 39

in k€ Held for trading Loans and receivables Available for sale

Trade receivables – 48,859 –

Other receivables and assets – 906 –

Other financial assets 103 69,604 13,834

Liquid funds – 163,662 –

Total 103 283,031 13,834

Assets Dec 31, 2012

Measurement categories IAS 39

in k€ Held for trading Loans and receivables Available for sale

Trade receivables – 55,569 –

Other receivables and assets – 147 –

Other financial assets 54 143,705 13,834

Liquid funds – 224,109 –

Total 54 423,530 13,834

Liabilities Dec 31, 2013

Measurement categories IAS 39

in k€

Financial liabilities 

 recognized  

at amortized cost

Financial liabilities 

designated  

as at fair value

Purchase price 

commitment

from business

acquisition

Total 

 carrying 

amounts

Financial liabilities 1,004,022 1,212 16,903 1,022,137

Trade payables 17,456 – – 17,456

Other liabilities 440 – – 440

Total 1,021,918 1,212 16,903 1,040,033

Liabilities Dec 31, 2012

Measurement categories IAS 39

in k€

Financial liabilities 

 recognized  

at amortized cost

Financial liabilities 

designated  

as at fair value

Purchase price 

commitment

from business

acquisition

Total 

 carrying 

amounts

Financial liabilities 987,378 1,026 16,377 1,004,781

Trade payables 32,632 – – 32,632

Other liabilities 1,361 – – 1,361

Total 1,021,371 1,026 16,377 1,038,774
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Derivatives in  

hedging relationships Total carrying amounts Total fair values IFRS 7 not applicable Total carrying amounts

– 48,859 48,859 – 48,859

– 906 906 24,329 25,234

– 83,541 83,541 – 83,541

– 163,662 163,662 – 163,662

– 296,967 296,967 24,329 321,296

Derivatives in  

hedging relationships Total carrying amounts Total fair values IFRS 7 not applicable Total carrying amounts

– 55,569 55,569 – 55,569

– 147 147 28,921 29,068

– 157,593 157,593 – 157,593

– 224,109 224,109 – 224,109

– 437,418 437,418 28,921 466,340

Residual terms

Total  

fair values

IFRS 7  

not applicable

Total

carrying amounts up to 1 year

between  

1 and 5 years exceeding 5 years

421,369 – 1,022,137 485,508 536,628 –

17,456 – 17,456 17,456 0 –

440 55,463 55,903 55,601 302 –

439,265 55,463 1,095,496 558,566 536,930 –

Residual terms

Total  

fair values

IFRS 7  

not applicable

Total

carrying amounts up to 1 year

between  

1 and 5 years exceeding 5 years

264,105 – 1,004,781 467,226 537,555 –

32,632 – 32,632 32,632 – –

1,361 70,611 71,972 44,944 27,028 –

298,098 70,611 1,109,385 544,802 564,584 –



208

SOL A R WORLD 2013 CONSOLIDATED NOTE S

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities needs to be presented in the amount that could be gener-

ated if the respective instruments were exchanged in the scope of a current transaction (with the exception of 

forced sale or liquidation) between business partners willing to contract. The methods and assumptions used for 

determining fair values are:

other liabilities in terms of IFRS 7 are subject to short residual terms. Thus, their carrying amounts at reporting 

date approximately equal fair value.

The liabilities are subject to variable interest rates. Thus, the fair value at balance sheet date equals the carrying 

amount.

on active markets if available.

or on the basis of conducted transactions.

-

nal value without taking maturity terms into consideration. This equals the mid-market rate of the two Solar-

World AG bonds traded on the capital market. The uniform measurement is derived from the condition that, in 

accordance with the restructuring agreement, all creditors are to be treated equally irrespective of the maturity 

terms of the borrowed capital. This does not apply for bank loans or parts thereof if collateral is provided. These 

parts are recognized in full.

-

mated by discounting future cash flows in application of these input parameters. The used input parameters con-

cern yield curves, commodity spot and forward rates as well as volatilities. The fair value of liabilities from termi-

nable non-group investments in a fully consolidated partnership was determined on the basis of the 

proportionate annual result at amortized cost as no significant value-impairing factors existed.

Financial instruments accounted for at fair value per reporting date follow the following hierarchy for determining 

and recognizing fair values of financial instruments:

Stage 1: Listed (unadjusted) prices on active markets for similar assets or liabilities.

Stage 2:  Processes in which all input parameters significantly affect the recognized fair value are directly or indi-

rectly observable.

Stage 3:  Processes using input parameters that significantly affecting the recognized fair value and are not based 

on observable market data.
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Dec 31, 2013 Dec 31, 2012

in k€ Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Financial assets  

measured at fair value

held for trading 103 – 103 – 54 – 54 –

derivatives in hedging 

 relationships – – – – – – – –

available for sale 13,834 – – 13,834 13,834 – – 13,834

Financial liabilities  

measured at fair value

held for trading – 370 – – 370 – – 199 – – 199 –

derivatives in hedging 

 relationships – – – – – – – –

from terminable 

 partnership interests – 842 – – – 842 – 827 – – – 827

Total 12,725 – – 267 12,992 12,862 – – 145 13,007

The following chart shows the development of financial instruments included in stage 3 over the course of the 

 business year:

in k€ 2013 2012

As at Jan 1 13,007 15,818

Losses/Profits recognized in other financial result – 15 60

Sale 0 – 2,871

As at Dec 31 12,992 13,007

The financial instruments still held at balance sheet date that were assigned to stage 3 made for a netted loss of 

€ – 15k (prior year netted profit of € 60k) in 2013, which is included in other financial result.

g) Net gains and losses by measurement category

To the extent to that they are assignable to financing or investment activities, net gains and losses of the measure-

ment categories “financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss” and “financial assets held for 

trading” are included in other financial result (note 35). In addition to results from market value measurement, they 

also include interest, dividend and currency effects. Furthermore, net gains and losses from “financial assets held 

for trading” that are assignable to operations have to be taken into account as well. In total, the net loss from “finan-

cial assets held for trading” amounts to € – 1,163k (prior year € – 1,019k).

In addition to the exchange gains mentioned below, net gains and losses of the measurement category “loans and 

receivables” mainly contain impairment losses in an amount of € 627k (prior year € 9,974k). The latter are included 

in other operating expenses.
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With respect to the measurement categories “loans and receivables” and “financial liabilities measured at amor-

tized cost”, net gains and losses need to take losses from currency effects into account, which were not subdivided 

for reasons of efficiency. The netted exchange losses for the reporting period amount to € – 4,655k (prior year ex-

change gains € 5,746k). To the extent to that they concern transactions in the scope of operations and financing 

transactions, they are recognized in other operating income or other operating expenses and other financial result, 

respectively.

In the prior year, the net result of “financial liabilities carried at amortized cost” took into account income from the 

repayment of financial liabilities of € 19,901k in addition to a proportion of the exchange rate effects mentioned 

above. The former were recognized in other financial result. We refer to note 35. No comparable transaction took 

place in the reporting year.

Thus, net losses from the measurement categories “loans and receivables” and “financial liabilities measured at 

amortized cost” amount to a total of € – 5,282k (prior year net income of € 15,673k)

As in the prior year, neither interest income nor additions to the AfS reserve were recognized with regard to 

 “financial assets available for sale” in the reporting year. 

h) Hedging

Hedging that required hedge accounting did not exist in the reporting period.

a) Cash flow from operating activities

Cash flow from operating activities was prepared in accordance with the indirect method. At first, the pretax result 

used as a starting point is adjusted by significant non-cash earnings and expenses. This makes for the cash flow 

from operating results. Cash flow from operating activities takes the changes of net current assets into account.

Non cash-effectives expenses and income of the business year concern income from the reversal of advances re-

ceived and impairment losses of prepayments made, inventories and receivables. Income from the first-time consol-

idation of Solarparc AG was also included in the prior period.

Interest paid and interest received is included in cash flow from financing activities and cash flow from operating 

activities, respectively.

b) Cash flow from investing activities

The cash flow from investing activities includes payments for asset investments as well as investment grants re-

ceived for this purpose. Cash receipts from the disposal of fixed assets and financial investments are also included. 

In the prior year, cash receipts from the disposal of assets mainly resulted from the sale of Solarparc AG’s wind 

activities. A comparable transaction did not take place in the reporting year.
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c) Cash flow from financing activities

Cash flow from financing activities is characterized from the repayments of financial liabilities. The most substan-

tial components are the partially premature repayment of bank loans. In the prior year, the sale of Solarparc AG’s 

wind activities made for a € 18.4 million decrease in financial liabilities in addition to the repayment evident from 

the cash flow. The respective liability was assumed by the buyer. Finally, the item shows interest paid and restruc-

turing expenses incurred with regard to compensation and restructuring fees for creditors.

d) Cash and cash equivalents

As in the prior period, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period exclusively consist of liquid funds as rec-

ognized on the consolidated balance sheet. Cash and cash equivalents whose availability is restricted for more than 

3 months are included in financial assets. In the scope of project financing of photovoltaic facilities, minimum cash 

in hand has to amount to € 0.2 million (prior year € 0.4 million), which are therefore not at the entity’s free disposal. 

Furthermore, bank accounts with a credit balance of € 13,555k (prior year € 11,780k) are subject to pledge agree-

ments.

Our subsidiary Deutsche Solar GmbH is currently the defendant in a court proceeding with a silicon supplier. The 

subject of the court proceeding is the non-acceptance of silicon from long-term silicon contracts concluded with this 

silicon supplier. Due to the non-acceptance, the silicon supplier claims a total of USD 676 million on the basis of the 

“take or pay” obligation and in damages. On the basis of external legal opinions, the company believes that the sil-

icon contracts in question violate European antitrust law, which could mean that the purchase obligation as well as 

the contracts per se might be null and void. At this point in time the outcome of the proceedings cannot be estimat-

ed. Depending on the outcome, however, it is possible that Deutsche Solar GmbH might be liable for damages up to 

the claimed amount.

A first instance ruling of the Munich I district court states that a brand of SolarWorld AG infringes trademark 

rights and that SolarWorld AG has to compensate the plaintiff for any loss that resulted or results from the utili-

zation of the sign for photovoltaic systems. SolarWorld AG appealed this judgment. So far, no loss is quantified 

and an actual claim for damages is not pending. A reliable estimation for any potential outflow of resources on the 

basis of these facts and circumstances can thus not be made.

The following material transactions involving related parties were conducted in the annual period 2013:

Administration and commercial property in Bonn as well as a solar park in Freiberg were rented and leased from 

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck and close family members, the annual rent and lease payments amounting to € 1.2 mil-

lion (prior year € 1.4 million).

For other services and on-charges of costs incurred especially in connection with the management of solar parks, 

the net amount of € 251k (prior year € 202k) was invoiced to Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck and his individual enter-

prise. At the end of the period, this resulted in a receivable from Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck in an amount of € 3k 

(prior year € 4k).
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Services and on-charges of costs incurred in the amount of € 363k (prior year € 311k) were rendered to entities 

 indirectly and directly controlled by Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck and close family members. Receivables of € 49k 

(prior year € 51k) are unsettled at the end of the period.

SolarWorld group rendered other services of € 0.1 million (prior year € 0.3 million) to joint ventures. At reporting 

date, receivables from these transactions no longer exist (prior year € 7k).

SolarWorld group sold fixed assets of € 0.8 million (prior year € 0k) to Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C., Qatar. 

Receivables from this transaction do not exist at reporting date.

In the reporting year, Qatar Solar Technologies Q.S.C., Qatar, called in an equity contribution of US$ 1,450k on 

the basis of a corresponding shareholder agreement. Payment is deferred until February 28, 2014. Die Zahlung ist 

bis zum 28. Februar 2014 gestundet. We refer to our comments in note 59.

The law firm of Schmitz Knoth Rechtsanwälte, Bonn, – a party related to the chairman of the Supervisory Board, 

Dr. Claus Recktenwald, in terms of IAS 24 – handles SolarWorld group’s legal issues. Upon approval of the Super-

visory Board, a total fee of € 1.4 million (prior year € 1.3 million) was rewarded for these services in 2013.

Remuneration and share ownership of members of the executive and Supervisory Board is listed in note 69 and 

presented in the remuneration report of the management report.

All transactions were carried out at arm’s length.

The average number of employees amounted to 2,103 (prior year 2.537) and falls upon the entity’s areas of opera-

tions and segments as follows:

Headcount 2013 2012

Production Germany 1,031 1,231

Production U.S. 600 858

Trade 352 353

Other 120 95

Total 2,103 2,537

Per December 31, 2013, the number of employees amounted to 2,073 (prior year 2.355) and included 50 trainees 

(prior year 73).

For assuming their duties in both parent company and subsidiaries in 2013, the members of the Management Board 

received total remuneration payments of € 1,809k (prior year € 1,573k), which includes variable remuneration of 

€ 0k (prior year € 0k).

Mr. Klebensberger’s board function ended in February 2013. On the basis of his still ongoing contract, he received 

continued payment of remuneration amounting to € 345,898.72 in 2013.

For assuming their duties in both parent company and subsidiaries in 2013, the members of the Supervisory Board 

received remuneration payments including reimbursements in a total amount of € 234k (prior year € 240k), each 

plus statutory VAT. The total includes variable remuneration of net € 0k (prior year € 0k).
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Individualized disclosures regarding the remuneration of the board of directors’ members are included in the enti-

ty’s management report.

The appointed members of the Management Board are:

At reporting date, the chairman of the Management Board, Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck, directly owned 22.27 per-

cent (prior year indirectly and directly 27.84 percent) of the shares in SolarWorld AG.

As in the prior year, members of the Supervisory Board are:

anwälte, Bonn

attorneys and tax consultants, Cologne, resigned his position on August 7, 2013

The chairman of the Supervisory Board, Dr. Claus Recktenwald, is also chairman of the Supervisory Board of 

 Solarparc AG, member of the Supervisory Board of VEMAG Verlags- und Medien Aktiengesellschaft, Cologne, 

The deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board, Dr. Georg Gansen, is also deputy chairman of the Supervisory 

Board of Solarparc AG.

gesellschaft, Hamburg/Bonn, including reimbursement of costs, amount to:

a) Year-end audit € 633k (prior year € 860k)

b) Other certification services € 20k (prior year € 35k)

c) Tax consulting € 0k (prior year € 0k)

d) Miscellaneous services € 0k (prior year € 37k)
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On August 10, 2012, Supervisory Board and Management Board issued the statement required by § 161 AktG, stat-

ing that the recommendations of the “Regierungskommission Deutscher Corporate Governance Kodex” (Govern-

ment Commission German Corporate Governance Code) as announced by the Federal Ministry of Justice were and 

are complied with. On March 18, 2013, Supervisory Board and Management Board temporarily limited this declara-

tion of compliance with regard to the deviation from the scheduled disclosure of the consolidated financial state-

ments within 90 days after the end of fiscal year. In line with the new version of the GCGC of May 13, 2013, a corre-

sponding restricted compliance statement for the 2013 fiscal year was then issued on December 20, 2013. Both the 

declaration of compliance and the limitation are published on the SolarWorld AG website.  www.solarworld.de/

declarationofcompliance//

Bonn, March 14, 2014

SolarWorld AG

The Management Board

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

Chief Executive Officer

Dipl.-Wirtschaftsing. Frank Henn 

Chief Sales Officer

Dipl.-Kfm. tech. Philipp Koecke 

Chief Financial Officer

RAin Colette Rückert-Hennen 

Chief Information,  
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SolarWorld Aktiengesellschaft, Bonn, – comprising the 

balance sheet, income statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity, statement of 

cash flows and the notes to the consolidated financial statements – as well as the group management report for the 

financial year from January 1, 2013 to December 31, 2013. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

and the group management report in accordance with IFRS, as to be applied in the EU, and the additional require-

ments of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315a, paragraph 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB = 

Handelsgesetzbuch), and the supplementary provisions of the articles of incorporation is the responsibility of the le-

gal representatives of the company. Our task is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and 

the group management report on the basis of the audit carried out by us.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Section 317 HGB in compliance 

with the German principles of proper auditing adopted by the German Institute of Chartered Accountants (IDW – 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer). These standards require that we plan and perform the audit in such a way that mis-

statements and infringements materially affecting the presentation of the net worth, financial position and results 

of operations in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with gener-

ally accepted auditing standards are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and 

the economic and legal environment of the group and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into ac-

count in the determination of audit procedures. The audit includes examining, largely on a random test basis, the 

effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control systems and evidence supporting the disclosures in the con-

solidated financial statements and the Group management report. The audit encompasses assessing the annual fi-

nancial statements of the companies included in the consolidation, the definition of the scope of consolidation, the 

accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the legal representatives as well as 

evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and the Group management report. We 

are of the opinion that our audit provides a sufficiently sound basis on which to make an assessment.

Our audit has not led to any objections.

In our opinion, based on the results of our audit, the consolidated financial statements comply with IFRS, as to 

be applied in the EU, and with the supplementary provisions of Section 315a (1) HGB and the supplementary provi-

sions of the articles of incorporation, and convey a true and fair view of the group’s net worth, financial position and 

results of operations in compliance with these provisions. The group management report is in line with the consoli-

dated financial statements, provides an overall accurate picture of the group’s situation and accurately reflects the 

opportunities and risks of future development. 

Bonn, March 14, 2014

BDO AG

Lubitz Ahrend 

German Public Auditor German Public Auditor
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To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the group, and the 

group management report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the posi-

tion of the group, together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 

development of the group. 

Bonn, March 14, 2014

SolarWorld AG 

Board of Management

Dr.-Ing. E. h. Frank Asbeck 

Chief Executive Officer

Dipl.-Wirtschaftsing. Frank Henn 

Chief Sales Officer

Dipl.-Kfm. tech. Philipp Koecke 

Chief Financial Officer

RAin Colette Rückert-Hennen 

Chief Information,  
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CDP   Carbon Disclosure Project 

CEO   Chief Executive Officer

CFO   Chief Financial Officer 
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MARCH 27, 2014 Publication of Annual Group Report 2013 

www.solarworld.de/financial-reports 

Press Conference on Financial Statements 

Analyst Conference on Financial Statements

MARCH 28, 2014 International Analyst Conference Call

  Light & Building, Frankfurt (Germany) 

www.light-building.messefrankfurt.com

  SolarSolution, Haarlemmermeer (The Netherlands) 

www.solarsolutions.nl/en

  Grand Designs Live, London (United Kingdom) 

www.granddesignslive.com

  4. Fahrzeugshow Elektromobilität, Bad Neustadt a.d. Saale (Germany) 

www.m-e-nes.de/de/4-fahrzeugschau.html

MAY 14, 2014  Publication of Consolidated Interim Report 1st quarter 2014 

www.solarworld.de/financial-reports

MAY 30, 2014 Annual General Meeting, Bonn (Germany)

  Intersolar Europe, Munich (Germany) 

www.intersolar.de

  Intersolar North America, San Francisco (U.S.) 

www.intersolar.us

  Feria Internacional de Tecnologias (IFT) Energy 2014, Antofagasta (Chile) 

www.ift-energy.cl/ingles.php

  PVJapan, Tokio (Japan) 

www.jpea.gr.jp/pvj2014/english/index.html

AUGUST 14, 2014  Publication of Consolidated Interim Report 1st half 2014 

www.solarworld.de/finanzberichte

  Solar Power International 2014, Las Vegas (U.S.) 

www.solarpowerinternational.com

  All Energy Exhibition, Melbourne (Australia) 

www.all-energy.com.au

NOVEMBER 13, 2014  Publication of Consolidated Interim Report 3rd quarter 2014 

www.solarworld.de/financial-reports
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